
2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 1

Sts'ailes   
ANNUAL REPORT

2016 / 2017 Fiscal Year

Land. People. Culture. Prosperity.



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT2 3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Message from the Chief and Council

Capital Projects & Public Works

Message from the Education Director

Education

Finance

Message from the Health Director

Health

Housing

Message from the Ma:yt Director

Ma:yt

Rights & Title

Message from the Snowoyelh Director

Snowoyelh 

 
 
 

Message from the CEO

Sts'ailes Development Corporation

7

10

13

14

34

67

68

88

93

98

110

131

132

 
 
 
 

143

146



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT4 5



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT6 7

MESSAGE FROM THE  
CHIEF & COUNCIL

Ey swayel Sts’ailes!  We are proud to present the 2016/2017 Sts’ailes Annual Report.   We would 
like to raise our hands to the previous Chief & Council and Committees of Council. Your 
leadership and guidance is invaluable to the progress of Sts’ailes

We would also like to thank the Sts’ailes staff for their hard work and accomplishments, as well as 
the community members that participated in Sts’ailes events, programs and services. Your help, 
support and participation motivates us to continue striving for success for all ages. 

This community report shares progress made during the previous fiscal year: April 1, 2016 to 
March 31, 2017 as well as some upcoming activities to look forward to. 

The Chief & Council elections for the 2017-2019 term took place on March 17, 2017. The new 
and re-elected members of Chief & Council are provided in this report with a brief message 
from each Council member. These brief messages were included in a pamphlet that was 
distributed at the Swearing in Ceremony that took place on March 30, 2017 in combination 
with the Stelmexw Stl’awtxw and honoring ceremony for the retirement of dear Elder Siyamex, 
Virginia Peters, as the Health Director for Sts’ailes. The highlight of the entire event was the 22 
youth that danced in celebration for Elder Siyamex, and then later that evening for the Swearing 
in Ceremony. Their enthusiasm and vitality for our culture served as a great reminder of why 
Sts’ailes continues to strive for healthy living for all. 

In February 2017 the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) position was filled. The successful 
candidate is Chaquawet, Willie Charlie. The new CAO position was formed as a result of 
clear direction from Chief & Council to begin branching out the politics and administration of 
Sts’ailes. Having the Chief and the CAO positions filled by two separate individuals will better 
reflect and support our growing organization and community.  Although separation of politics 
and administration is necessary, there are areas that require interconnection, collaboration, 
and clear communication. This is why the Chief & Council and the CAO will continue to 
work together for the unified goal of letsemot Sts’ailes ikwelo, and this will be reflected in our 
structure, policy and practices. 

With that, we hope that you enjoy this community report and we look forward to the coming 
years. 

Yalh yexw Kw’es hoy,

CHIEF RALPH LEON  |  Sah-ahkw 
Sts’ailes
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Chief Ralph Leon  |  Sah-ahkw 
Portfolio: Inter-Government Relations, Negotiations, Aboriginal Rights & Title and Culture 

As a proud husband to Annie Silver and father of 7 beautiful children, I have been on Council since 
2001. My cultural values and education are of high importance and they have kept me working with 
youth recreation and schools. I take pride in what our ancestors taught me. I look forward to the 
next 2 years at the very least, being the Chief of Sts’ailes, and I will take the opportunity to listen to 
what you have to say.

Kelsey Charlie  |  Tixweltel 
Portfolio: Sts’ailes Development Corporation (SDC)

I am grateful and humbled to serve the people for another term.  Since I’ve been on Council I’ve 
seen so many great developments and building of the community and for the community.   
I am always honored to represent and advocate on behalf of Sts’ailes and I am looking forward to 
working with this chief and council for this term.

Sherry Point  |  Chemaylem taunaut 
Portfolio: “Ma:yt” [Human Resources (HR), Admin, Employment Assistance Services (EAS), 
Information Technology (IT)]

I would like to take this opportunity to thank those who supported or believed in me, in the 
running for the Council elections. I’d also like to express what an honor it is to be here for the best 
interests and well-being of our people. As always, my door and ears are always open to you for 
whatever the purpose may be. ~ With Utmost Respect, Sherry

Cheryl Charlie  |  Xoyalia 
Portfolio: Education

Thank you my community for giving me the honor to serve you for another term on Council. I will 
do my very best to support the Education Department to help maintain its successful programs 
and continue to create a great place to learn and grow. I will not let you down.

Chadley Paul  |  Ches Kin Xen 
Portfolio: Housing, Capital & Public Works (CPW), Fire Dept.

With great humility and honor, I am pleased to have been elected to the Sts’ailes Chief & Council.  
I vow to serve the people to the best of my abilities with the utmost integrity.  I stand upon a 
foundation of culture and spirituality which drives me to strive for unity, fairness, transparency, 
and progress for all of Sts’ailes.  As a new member of Council I am eager to begin this journey in 
leadership and I look forward to the future.

CHIEF & COUNCIL

Tim Felix  |  Tousilim 
Portfolio: Lands, Comprehensive Community Planning (CCP) & Constitution Development

I would like to thank the Sts’ailes membership for re-electing me for Council of 2017-2019.  I am 
privileged to be working for our people for four terms, and I look forward to working with our 
political team to build a solid foundation for future generations.  natural resource management and 
a certificate in employment counseling.

James SA Leon  |  Alokw 
Portfolio: Justice, Kwikwexwelhp

My parents are Marvin & Bev Leon; my grandparents on my dad’s side are James & Minnie Leon; 
my grandparents on my mother’s side are Johnny & Gertrude Williams. I have 2 sisters and 3 
brothers, and I am also the proud mother and father of two kids. My ancestral name, Alokw, 
originates from the Forest Tribes from the regions of Chehalis Lake.  As a proud Sts’ailes member I 
look forward to serving this great community we call Sts’ailes. Hoytchka

Daryl Francis  |  Ey:iye 
Portfolio: Health, Emergency Preparedness Plan (EPP), Youth, Recreation, Elders 

My name is Ey:iye and my baptismal name is Daryl. I'm from the Francis, Felix, Joe, and James 
family. I am father of four sons and eight grandchildren and husband to Celina Leon. This is my 
third term serving at our leadership table, of which I'm very grateful and inspired. I am gaining a 
good insight from the more experienced leaders and staff. I hope and pray to have the open mind 
and heart to hear our people that voice the direction for the future and wellbeing of all members.

Boyd Peters  |  Xoyet thet 
Portfolio: Snowoyelh (Te Emimelh, Te Lalem)

Xoyet thet tel skwix. Teli tsel kw'e Sts'ailes. Tsel ta'a lhimeth. I am humbled and honoured to be 
elected on Council for this term.  I am proud of our community and the direction we are going.  
I will continue to work diligently on behalf of our people to create a healthy and sustainable future 
for our upcoming generations.

Sherylynn Crispin  |  Ne'omot 
Portfolio: Finance

Ten years ago I was asked to work for Council. I was motivated by a simple, powerful idea that 
any one of you can have: to carry a role in service to community. This journey brought me here, 
and I anticipate serving Sts’ailes in a whole new way for the next two years. I would also like to 
acknowledge our past leaders – I raise my hands to you. Kwa’shoy

CHIEF & COUNCIL
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Volunteers 
Dale Leon 
Michael Peters 
Mark Charlie 
Mikhail Crispin 
Heather Louis 
Ashley Felix * 
Colton Louie-Felix * 

* On Leave

CAPITAL PROJECTS 
& PUBLIC WORKS

DEPT. MANAGER 

Pierre Joe 

Piyal

Capital & P.W. Staff

Fire Department

Acting/Fire Chief 
Lloyd Charlie

Fire Captain 
Edward Carter

We had a recent change to our Fire Chief going from Tim Felix to Lloyd Charlie who will be Acting 
/Fire Chief until we can fulfill this position once again.  Hands up and thank you to Tim Felix for 
committing his time, and effort into this huge responsibility - all the best to you in your future 
endeavors.  As you can see our Team above is quite small, but they are active – we are always 
looking for committed volunteers who can come out and join the Fire Dept Team.  You can call 
Pierre Joe at 604-796-2116 ext 222 OR Lloyd Charlie 604-796-2881 (leave message), or if you see 
one of the members above.  This year the team will be receiving all new Turn Out Gear from head 
to toe: helmets, coats, pants, boots, balaclava, gloves – a long time coming.  Plus new radios for 
each member to replace the outdated ones we have had for quite some time now.

P.W. Coordinator 
Lloyd Charlie 
    
Custodian 
Kristen Joe

Custodian 
Joshua Charlie

Public Works Worker 
Stacey Antone

Our Volunteer Fire Department is 
comprised of a Fire Chief, a Fire Captain, 
and nine volunteers.

Public Works Worker  
Dale Leon 
 
Summer Student 
Genevieve Paul

Kamloops BC all way round to Penticton BC, which is where 
we found the backhoe we purchased. The second piece of 
equipment that was replaced is our Tractor/Lawnmower – we 
will receive the new one in July 2017 which will be from Prairie 
Coast in Chilliwack BC.  We are very excited for these two 
pieces of equipment to help the Public Works staff carry out 
their daily duties.

Asset Management

We are able to populate a database system with all pertinent 
information on all our assets ie. Band facilities, roads, houses, 
water mains, reservoirs, etc.  We can then track annual 
maintenance tasks, repairs (past work completed), replacements 
(completed or becoming due), life cycle of asset, future planning 
(5 – 10 years).  This will provide a better picture of an overall 
annual schedule and maintenance management plan from 
annual inspection to work/maintenance needed, and work 
already completed, and budgeting.  This system is ongoing with 
information being input into database system annually.

CAPITAL PROJECTS & PUBLIC WORKS

Solid Waste/Recycle Program

Our garbage/recycle program is doing great – we collect 
on Thursdays for residential, and bring this to a facility in 
Abbotsford.  Our Community Building bins are picked up from 
First Class Services Inc. on Mondays and Tuesdays weekly, 
plus they do pick up at the community longhouses which each 
longhouse has its own account and schedule though them.  Our 
Community Clean ups require us to have large bins brought 
in and our staff carries out roadside pickup of larger items: 
mattresses, misc furniture, tents, bikes, etc.  

• We do sort and take some items to Agassiz Depot: 
electronics and misc items.  

• Ok Tire/other Tire companies: used tires with/without rims

• Wood: we create a wood pile and burn (within burning 
season)

It is time consuming, so thank you for your patience during this 
clean up.  We frequently send out reminders to the community 
on our operation, for both residential home owners/rental units 
and our staff – just to make sure who is responsible for different 
issues that arise. 

Planning Session

The Housing & Public Works Dept recently had a planning 
session to create annual work plans for all depts. within these 
two areas: Housing, Public Works, and Custodial.  There 
have been no annual planning sessions for some years now 
– beginning this year and onward we will continue to meet 
annually to see where we are at within these depts., and 
continue to update these plans to see what’s working or not 
working.  As staff from these two depts. is mainly outdoor daily, 
we thought we would lose them to having too much information 
for this session but they did exceptionally well.  They were totally 
involved in the day’s activities that were carried out – great job 
guys.

New Equipment

We purchased a New/Used backhoe in May of 2017; this was 
purchased from Penticton, B.C. from Pacific Rim Equipment.  
I (Pierre) and Lloyd Charlie did a one day trip going from 
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MESSAGE FROM THE  
EDUCATION DIRECTOR

2016-2017 was a year of tremendous growth and change for the Sts’ailes Education Department. 

With the completion of the 5 year school assessment cycle the staff/students/parents and 

communities identified two main focus areas that would be implemented into programming over 

the next 5 year cycle. 

The Growth Plan goals were to enhance the Fine Arts program from Kindergarten to Grade 12, 

implement the Sts’ailes Cultural Curriculum and a third minor goal to revisit the school’s mission 

statement. 

FINE ARTS – staff and students have done an amazing job embracing the Fine Arts curriculum at 

all grade levels. Students are expressing themselves in Art, Drama, Music and Cinemetography/

Photography. The students produced a movie with several more in the works. 

CULTURAL CURRICULUM – ensuring the language is preserved and grown, gaining knowledge 

of Sts’ailes history and cultural teachings, and developing a sense of identity is the goal of the 

newly developed curriculum.

Staff and students were able to access the new resource education classroom as well as a new 

high school classroom. Plans are underway to build a carpentry/mechanics shop for the 2017-

2018 school year with further plans to expand the school. 

The success of your community school relies on your support for both your student and your 

staff. Successful students have a strong and supportive team behind them, working together for 

a common goal. 

WILLIAM DIETRICH  |  Nanuqw’tel 
Education Director
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EDUCATION
EARLY EDUCATION CENTRE COMMUNITY SCHOOL POST SECONDARY

SEEC SUPERVISOR  

Rayanna Anderson

STS’AILES EARLY EDUCATION CENTRE (SEEC)

EDUCATION

Successes

• New bigger kitchens in the portables 
provide for improved food services

• Playground structures on the playground

• Children have grown significantly in their 
speech development, interactive behaviors, 
social skills

• Speech development through the speech 
path program. 

• Halq’emeylem language development in 
the K4 program is impressive. Children are 
speaking and understanding the language 

Staff Pro D

• Two staff completed the first required ECE 
course and will continue their ECE training 
over the next five years

Plan for the 2016-2017 Year

• Continuing offering a variety of educational 
activities to promote social and academic 
growth

• Professional development for staff

• Continued .5 FTE Halq’emelyem Immersion 
program for the K4 program

• Continuation with a speech and language 
program from the Speech pathologist to 
work with the children who have been 
identified needing this important service. 

Facility

• Complete makeover for the portables and 
main building

• Playground structures have been 
overhauled.

• New path/parking/storage sheds

• New roof/appliances

EDUCATION

Immersion Program – K4

Ey swayel Seliselwet tel  Xwelmexw skwix. 
Good day my Indian name is Seliselwet, my 
given name is Bibiana. I work with Sts’ailes 
Preschool 5 days a week, for half days.

The accomplishments for 2016-2017 for 
the staxwelh (children) were impressive as 
they are very much engaged in learning the 
Halq’emeylem Language of Sts’ailes.

I am proud to say that this class year went very 
well. The children have been showing their 
talents in singing songs, phoneum chart, which 
is our alphabet, everyday living phrases and 
much more in Halq’emeylem Language.

Ey te’ temkw’okw’es
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KINDERGARTEN 
Mrs. Haslett & Tracy Point

Kinergarten has completed their first year using the research based program: Read Well.  This 
inclusive program explores the world through themes like Inuit Life, Rescue Workers, Animals, 
Plants, Insects, Music and Sea Creatures.  The program was also supplemented with 16 years of 
teacher proven activities.  

The children have developed solid Language Arts fundamentals.  They are all able to read some 
sight words and sound out many small words.  Their fine motor skills are extraordinary this year.  
The samples below show some of their outstanding work.

Math continued to follow the Number Worlds Program and was supplemented through select 
computer and iPad activities.  

A Smart Board was added to the classroom and proved to be very engaging for the students, it 
also proved to be an important tool to the Read Well program

Tracy Point, Education Assistant, provided valuable classroom support again this year.  Several 
assistants also worked with students to develop speech and language skills.  The children took part 
in a physical education program with Rick Weber.  Students also worked through the program: 
The Early Years, administered by Sarah White, School Counselor. Halq'eméylem was a regular part 
of the classroom experience, students attended Language class with Vange Point twice a week and 
Bibiana Norris directed students in Halq'eméylem each morning while working through a series of 
SOI (Structure of the Intellect) based exercises. New this year was Friday morning Drama Class 
with Jessica Smith.

Recently, this spring, the kids were excited about outdoor education. They planted grass in the 
classroom and lettuce in the new outdoor garden boxes. Other activities were a search for 
spiders, photographing signs of spring (with our grade six buddies) and experiencing a blossom 
snowstorm.

SCS PRINCIPAL  

Bill Dietrich 

Nanuqw’tel

STS’AILES COMMUNITY SCHOOL (SCS)

GRADE ONE 
Mrs. Coppola

Wow, what a GREAT year! The grade 1’s covered a lot of 
material and have engaged in many fun and exciting projects. 
We have made ice cream, carved pumpkins, tie-dyed shirts, 
wrote letters to Santa, made our own chocolates, tried to catch 
a Leprechaun, and planted potatoes. The students have made 
progress in important skills, especially in reading and math. 

Throughout the year we have went on many exciting field trips, 
including the Chilliwack Pumpkin Patch, Kilby Museum and the 
Harrison beach. The students also got to spend a day at the 
Vancouver Zoo learning all about the different animals.  

EDUCATION

We finished off the year with a week of swimming lessons at the 
Agassiz pool. 

The students worked very hard during Dinosaur School and 
Zones of Regulation learning all about identifying, expressing 
and self-regulating their feelings and emotions. The grade 1’s are 
always using their manners and are very keen on helping others 
out.  We also spent some time every Friday with our grade 6 
buddies -They looked forward to this every week. 

The grade 1’s have had such an exciting year and they have 
grown so much! What a fantastic year of learning!  They are all 
excited for grade 2!
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GRADE TWO 
Mrs. Grant & Terry Paul

This school year has been filled with wonderful activities, trips 
and visitors! 

Here are the highlights: 

• In October the students were very proud to have raised the 
most food donations! Halloween is always exciting and fun!!

• Sts'ailes Days on November 9, was awesome as usual! The 
students LOVE the bannock station, however, they enjoy 
beading, wild meat and medicine pouches, too!  Many thanks 
to the presenters and organizers.

• The new playground was an awesome addition to our school!  
Students from all grades love playing on it.  Many many 
thanks to Susan Balfour for her hard work and to all of the 
people involved in getting us such a great playground!

• The Vancouver Aquarium came to our school on December 
1st and it was amazing!  Students learned so much about 
ocean creatures and enjoyed everything at each station.  
Many thanks to all of the presenters from the Vancouver 
Aquarium! Every student loves tubing, especially this year 
when there were so many lanes and so much snow at 
Hemlock.

• A huge congratulations to the students who attended the 
Squiala Soccer Tournament in March!

• The Reading Mastery program is amazing in helping children 
increase their reading, comprehension and pride in their 
abilities.  Students need to remember to continue to 
practice reading to ensure they maintain, or increase their 
reading level.

• Saxon Math helps students build confidence in problem 
solving using strategies practiced.  Students practice 
many different activities, such as, counting money, skip 
counting, working with Venn Diagrams, using many different 
manipulatives and addition, subtraction and beginning 
multiplication and division. 

Many thanks to Ms. Haslett for getting performers to come to 
our school!  She has brought in many great performers from 
African drummers to actors to science presenters and acrobats.  
Thank you to everyone who helps fund raise for these events 
through the bike rodeo and Jump Rope for Heart!

Thank you Ms. Kyle, Mrs. Murphy and Sarah for helping the 
students with strategies for conflict resolution, for helping us 
when we get hurt feelings or angry, for giving us voices when we 
are being hurt in any way and for helping us be better friends 
and family members. 

It has been my honour to have taught this group of Grade Two 
students.  They have learned to be very respectful, kind, and 
helpful.

Keep studying the Earth , counting and reading!  Thank you 
to my wonderful students of 2016-17: Haleigh, Justin, Aquene, 
Colby, Megan, Emma, Corey, Rylan, Joshua, Vivianna, Landon, 
Marvin, Abigail, Elias, Angelo, Jerrell and Mackenzie!  We wish 
the best for Denae and Serena on their adventures at their new 
schools and communities.

EDUCATION

GRADE THREE & FOUR 
Mrs. Bell

Is it the end of the year already? This school year has passed very quickly for the 
Grade 3/4 class. There has been an emphasis on striving to make the biggest 
gains possible in students’ reading skills, and the progress has been fantastic. 
Technology has been integrated into our learning in a variety of ways including 
the use of apps such as Science A-Z for science content reading, interactive 
science websites, math apps like Mathletics and Math Planet, Popplet for Social 
Studies writing projects, and Tynker - a very popular app for learning the basics of 
computer coding. Science experiments and demonstrations are well-loved ways 
to learn about the world around them and students were very engaged in the 
various explorations we did over the year. 

We have an upcoming field trip to the Othello Tunnels in Hope where students 
will learn about the history of the railway and appreciate the tremendous 
challenge of building a track through the forbidding wilderness in this area. 
As well, they will be able to see the awesome forces of water at work as the 
Coquihalla River has carved it’s way through solid granite over the centuries. We 
are looking forward also to the upcoming Elemental Energy science camp put on 
by students from UBC. We will end the year with a fun trip to the waterslides to 
celebrate our accomplishments!

GRADE FOUR & FIVE 
Ms. Smoke

We’ve had a year full of new classroom experiences and opportunities. Our first 
field trip was to the Thiyothel Smokehouse, where the class accompanied a public 
school and showed them what they knew about basic protocol. Our second 
memorable trip was to the Fort Langley Historic Site. The class was able to 
complete the Fur Trade Challenge, where they were required to work together as 
a team, to pan for gold, watch a blacksmith at work and much more. They came 
in second place!  Next is a trip to the Othello Tunnels, as a way to connect what 
they’ve learned about the Gold Rush, the Railway and the development of British 
Columbia. 

Inside the class, there has been a focus on writing, and practicing personal 
responsibility as they prepare to move on to Grade 5 & 6. Our highlight in 
science will be the upcoming Elemental Energy workshop with students from the 
University of BC. As per tradition, we will end the year at the Bridal Falls Water 
Slides for some fun in the sun.
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GRADE FIVE 
Ms. Tong

Here are our beliefs we developed together to remind ourselves 
of our purpose and our goals:

• Teamwork -  We believe in working together, being active, 
and being responsible. 

• Wisdom for Success - We use our wisdom to learn from our 
mistakes to to reach our potential. We meet life’s challenges.  

• Helpfulness - We listen, learn, communicate, and solve 
problems. 

• Confidence - We build confidence to feel stronger, capable, 
and proud.

• Safety - We take care of our bodies, our beliefs, and our 
feelings. We are trust-builders.

Our teamwork helped us to build and to reinforce knowledge 
and skills, to develop new insights, and to develop better 
communication skills. 

We encouraged each other to be safe with our ideas and our 
feelings, so that we could share our success and our fears in a 
supportive environment. 

Grade 5 is a special year of growth to prepare for the transition 
into the upper grades. This year, we have developed our 
personal and social responsibility to become cooperative 
team players, communicative citizens, and active thinkers and 
learners.

We improved our confidence in ourselves.
We helped each other by encouraging and sharing our ideas.
We developed and applied our wisdom to feel more successful 
each and every day.
 
GRADE SIX & SEVEN 
Ms. Hughes

As the Grade 6/7 students of Sts'ailes Community School, 
we have worked collectively together throughout the year to 
achieve both our personal and academic goals. We have made 
connections this year through teambuilding activities which we 
will carry with us out of elementary school and in to the next 
stage of our lives. 

As friends and classmates, we have learned to work in a 
collaborative and respectful setting. We became leaders and 
role models for our school and together we strived to set 
positive examples for our younger friends. Together, the Grade 
6/7 class has learned, practiced, and strengthened our skills and 
abilities. We have created and run our own class foundation 
which raised money for families at Christmas. During open 
class discussions, we have learned how to listen to our peers 
and respond in meaningful and respectful ways. Encouraging 
every student to add their own personality to each assignment 
helped us better understand each other as a collective - but 
unique group of young adults. We took part in, and successfully 
completed, the D.A.R.E. program which taught us to be more 
confident and knowledgeable toward difficult life situations. 
We loved identifying questions and finding answers through 
scientific inquiry.

EDUCATION

 

Math  
Ms. Joseph’s Classroom 
2016-2017 

 

 

Math 7-12 

Looking at math through a new lens. Each grade may have different goals/curriculum; 

however, each grade has consistently shown growth and literacy. Math is used in everyday 

life and is one of the only subjects that is the same in every country. Math can be used in 

any occupation. Students are curious, active learners with individual interests, abilities and 

 

 

GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE  
Ms. Joseph - Math

Looking at math through a new lens. Each grade may have 
different goals/curriculum; however, each grade has consistently 
shown growth and literacy. Math is used in everyday life and 
is one of the only subjects that is the same in every country. 
Math can be used in any occupation. Students are curious, 
active learners with individual interests, abilities and needs. They 
come to classrooms with varying knowledge, life experiences 
and backgrounds. Using this information I have used a variety of 
problem solving activities to engage all learners in the classroom. 
Some key activities include; 

What doesn’t belong (Math visuals) 

• Numeracy helps us to see patterns, communicate ideas,  
and solve problems

• Logic and patterns to solve games and puzzles

Magic numbers (Playing Cards)

• Operations with integers (addition, subtraction, 
multiplication, division, and order of operations)

• Develop and apply mental math strategies and estimate 
amounts and outcome

• Multiplication and division facts to 100 (extending 
computational fluency) 

• Classification of numbers as prime and composite 

The goal is to build confidence, empowerment, and relation 
through the use of manipulatives and a variety of pedagogical 
approaches. Having a new math problem everyday will create 
an environment that will respect the diversity of the students’ 
experiences and ways of thinking.

Manipulatives

Our favorite tools: Geoboards- The 7.5 inch square is made of 
plastic. The square is a grid made up of 12 by 12 pegs. Students 
stretch rubber bands from peg to peg to form geometric 

shapes. Geoboards can be used to study symmetry, congruency, 
area, and perimeter. Students of all ages have been respectful 
and followed instruction by avoided flinging elastics at each 
other!

Pattern Blocks - Consists of blocks in six geometric, color-
coded shapes, referred to as: green triangles, orange squares, 
blue parallelograms, tan rhombuses, red trapezoids, and yellow 
hexagons. 

These features of the Pattern Blocks encourage investigation 
of relationships among the shapes. Students have been able 
to develop hands-on familiarity and intuition about comparing 
fractions, finding equivalent fractions, changing improper 
fractions to mixed numbers, and modeling addition, subtraction, 
division, and multiplication of fractions (Used to help with 
testing).

Minitab - Is a statistical software that aids in basic statistics. 
Students are able to create graphs and formulate an analysis of 
data from a variety of sources. Students have used minitab to 
analyze variance, standard deviation, and central tendency. 

Year Long

A key component in developing mathematical literacy is making 
connections to students’ backgrounds and experiences. I have 
used our restitution program to find the individual needs of each 
student. Some students may need Power, Belonging, Freedom, 
and Fun. Students now feel comfortable taking intellectual risks, 
asking questions, and develop personal strategies while problem 
solving. I am very proud of all the progress made this year. 
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GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE  
Ms. Joseph & Vange Point - Halq’emeylem

Goals

• Learn the phonetic alphabet (52 Letters) 
• Learn basic conversational phrases
• Expand vocabulary
• Learn basic grammar
• Language appreciation 

Background

Halq’eméylem is the language of the Sts’ailes people. There 
are twenty-four First Nation communities located between 
Yale to Langley. There are four dialects in Halq’eméylem which 
are Pelólhxw-Pilalt, Teit, Sts’ailes- Chehalis, and Ts’elxweyeqw- 
Chilliwack. Halq’eméylem is nearing extinction. Only a few 
people in St’ailes are fluent in Halq’eméylem. It is important 
that Sts’ailes empowers students and contributes to the growth 
and sustainability of the Halq’eméylem language. Our aim is 
to aid in revitalization of the language and in preserving the 

culture of the Sts’ailes people. The study of Halq’eméylem 
is fundamental to personal growth and cultural enrichment. 
Learning the Halq’eméylem language and about Sts’ailes culture 
will enable students to notice the similarities and differences 
between Halq’eméylem and other cultures, and to gain 
respect for all cultures. Students will learn to critically think 
about Halq’eméylem and how the language contributes to the 
development of knowledge, skills, and attitudes that will allow 
students to discover their own identity.

Participation

Classrooms have competed in number literacy by counting 
from 1-100 in smaller numerical groups. Each class will count 
in Halq’eméylem to obtain the best time. Grades 7-12 have 
enjoyed this process and have engaged with each other across 
grade levels. Students have found a great sense of community 
and fair competition. Students from grades 7-12 have also had 
the privilege of competing in the annual Halq’eméylem language 
contest. 

This year our Division C group (Grades 9-12) won first place. 

EDUCATION

Language Appreciation

All too often students ask “why do I have to learn this?” My 
response is based on the belief that once students’ have critical 
thinking tools they can answer that question on their own. 
Critical thinking tools come from the six Historical Thinking 
Concepts;

• Historical Perspective - How was the language viewed in the 
past?

• Cause and Consequence - Residential Schools and their tie 
to language

• Evidence and Interpretation - Government involvement in 
First Nations Languages

• Historical Significance - How does language shape our 
worldview

• Ethical Judgement - Oral vs. Written

• Change and Continuity - How has our language changed or 
stayed the same over time? People that have help develop 
and maintain the Halq’eméylem language.

Accomplishments

We know 52 letters in the alphabet, we have gained knowledge 
in basic grammar, we can count to 100,  we can introduce 
ourselves to others, and we have significantly added to our 
vocabulary. This year has been an amazing journey, students 
from grade 7-12 have all worked very hard to lay the foundation 
to bring this beautiful language to life. 

GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE 
Mr. Walsh - English

As we approach the end of another school year, we reflect back 
on what we have accomplished in class.  This year, Grades 7-12 
have spent the majority of their time in English class learning 
about the world and themselves through story.  There is a piece 
of us in just about every story-you simple have to find it.

In addition to this, Grades 7-9 have also taken part in regular 
Vocabulary and Spelling exercises throughout the year. Grades 

10-12 have been busy working on writing mechanics, media 
literacy, and Provincial Exam preparation. Believe it or not, in the 
midst of all this, we managed to have a little fun along the way.

GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE  
Mr. Palmer - Cyber Film Class

We have been fortunate enough this year to have been provided 
the opportunity to present a Film Class as an elective to our 
high school students.  This has been so much fun, as well as 
providing a wonderful team-based atmosphere for the students.

We have, together, begun to learn the basics of filmmaking. 
Our productions, shot mostly on IPads, have tried to combine 
our local natural beauty, while also touching on some of the 
traditional story-telling features of the Sts’ailes Community.  We 
have produced three short films this year: “The Mosquito Lady”, 
“The Medicine Stand”, and the almost completed “The Foot 
Runner; The Story of Sts’ailes”.
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GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE 
Mr. McMaster - Science

This past school year has gone by so quickly, and the students 
have learned about so many things in Science class. In Grades 
7, 9 and 10, students learned about atoms and molecules in 
chemistry, and how chemistry is related to electricity. The 
Grade 7 class studied magnetism and electricity, seeing how 
people have learned to harness these forces and using them in 
all kinds of applications. They, and the Grade 9 students, built 
parallel and series circuits in class, measuring voltage, amperage 
and calculating resistance of different loads, like light bulbs and 
resistors. 

The Grade 7 and 10 students expanded their knowledge about 
the Earth, its composition and its climate. They deepened their 
understanding of plate tectonics, atmospheric energy budgets 
and climate change. They also assessed the effects of climate 
change on the world around us. 

Near the end of the year, the Grade 10 students built robots 
and left the classroom to assess the biodiversity of sites near and 
around the school. In Grade 8, students explored the different 
wavelengths of the electromagnetic spectrum, and how they 
related to light, heat, and radioactivity. They dissected sheep’s 
eyes, examining their physiology and connecting theory with 
hands-on learning. The Grade 9 and 10 classes also analysed the 
formation and expansion of the Universe, discovering how stars, 
galaxies and other celestial bodies behave in space.  

In Biology 11, students discovered the inner workings of 
cells, viruses and bacteria. They examined the patterns and 
mechanisms of evolution and the diversity of the animal 

Year End Review 
 Secondary Science (Gr. 7-12) 

 
This past school year has gone by so quickly, and the students have learned about so 

many things in Science class. In Grades 7, 9 and 10, students learned about atoms and 
molecules in chemistry, and how chemistry is related to electricity. The Grade 7 class studied 
magnetism and electricity, seeing how people have learned to harness these forces and using 
them in all kinds of applications. They, and the Grade 9 students, built parallel and series 
circuits in class, measuring voltage, amperage and calculating resistance of different loads, like 
light bulbs and resistors. The Grade 7 and 10 students expanded their knowledge about the 
Earth, its composition and its climate, among other things.  

 
Near the end of the year, 

the Grade 10 students built 
robots and left the classroom to 
assess the biodiversity of sites 
near and around the school. In 
Grade 8, students explored the 
different wavelengths of the 
electromagnetic spectrum, and 
how they related to light, heat, 
and radioactivity. They dissected 
sheep’s eyes, examining their 
physiology and connecting 
theory with hands-on learning.  

 
In Biology 11, students 

discovered the inner workings of 
cells, viruses and bacteria. They examined the patterns and mechanisms of evolution and the 
diversity of the animal kingdom, from sponges up to complex vertebrates. To finish off the year, 
students performed dissections of worms, clams, starfish, crayfish and fish. Finally, they visited 
the Vancouver Aquarium to see the multitude of living marine organisms that are housed there.  

All in all, the 2016-17 school year was enriching for students and a lot of fun. I wish all 
my students a great summer break, and encourage them to be curious about the world around 
them.  

 
Mr. McMaster 
 
 
 
 

kingdom, from sponges up to complex vertebrates. To finish 
off the year, students performed dissections of worms, clams, 
starfish, crayfish and fish. Finally, they visited the Vancouver 
Aquarium to see the multitude of living marine organisms 
that are housed there. All in all, the 2016-17 school year was 
enriching for students and a lot of fun. I wish all my students a 
great summer break, and remind them to be curious about the 
world around them. 

GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE 
Ms. Dutton - Social Studies

All high school students had an interesting year in social studies! 

What did we do all year?

• Grade 7:  Ancient Worlds! From the pyramids in Egypt, to 
the ancient city-states of Greece!

• Grade 8: Medieval times throughout the world! From Europe 
to Japan to Africa! 

• Grade 9: Revolutions!! From political to industrial, we 
covered it all!  We know that there are all kinds of revolutions 
in our history!

• Grade 10: We looked at early Canada! From colonies to 
confederation! We even tried pemmican! 

• Grade 11: Pre and post war Canada! How did the world wars 
create a new and independent Canada? 

EDUCATION

THE LALEM PROGRAM 
Mrs. Anglehart & Kevin Charlie

Students in the Lalem Program work to build basic academic 
and life skills in order to better prepare themselves for their 
future. This is the Lalem Program’s 4th year running and it has 
been a year of firsts! 

• We have 5 students graduating in June --- Lalem’s first Gr. 12 
grads ever! 

• Our Gr. 10-12 students participated in Work Experience for 
the first time this year and had placements at the following: 

 ü Sts’ailes Community School (Gr.1 Classroom)
 ü Sts’ailes Community School (P.E. Department)
 ü Sts’ailes Community School (Maintenance Department)
 ü Deroche General Store, Deroche
 ü Pioneer Motors, Agassiz
 ü Red Apple, Agassiz
 ü Dollorama, Mission 

• We also had our highest number of Lalem students 
participate in the Skills Training Program this year. The 
following is a list of courses taken and certificates received: 

 ü Cashier Training (5 students)
 ü Learner’s License (3 students)
 ü Defensive Driving (3 students)
 ü ICBC Driving Lessons (3 students)
 ü Power Pallet Operator (5 students)
 ü Traffic Controller (5 students)
 ü St. John’s First-Aid (1 student) 

• In March we attended a Career Fair at Chawathil Band 
in Hope, BC, where students were able to choose from 
a variety of career presentations to attend. Some of the 
popular booths included Kosmatae Academy, Work B.C., 
R.C.M.P., and Valley Helicopters.

 

EDUCATION
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BOX PROGRAM 
Cheryl Charlie, Mrs. Frick & Mr. Palmer

Box Program students successfully completed a positive year 
filled with many adventures and academic achievements.

The Kindergarten Buddy Reading Program continues to be a 
huge success with Box students reading to their little buddies 
three days a week. What our students do for 15 minutes in the 
morning has a great benefit for these students.  It is also such a 
nice way for them to start of their day.

The SCS Skills Training Program in partnership with SASET has 
certified 87 students with various certificates like WHMIS (30), 
Foodsafe (33), Traffic Control (25), Fork Lift Operator (22), 
Babysitter’s (15), Power Pallet Operator (14), Cashier Training 
(12), Defensive Driving (21), Child Care First Aid & CPR (20), 
Avalanche Skills Training (5), and Mountain Skills Safety Training 
(4) and (42) students applied for a Social Insurance Number.

Students participated in a series of Cultural Intensive Training 
and an All Aboriginal Healing & Native Games Program as 
well as Career Week and a Work Experience. A trip to the 
UFV Trades & Technology,   Corrections Services Canada 
Kwikwexwelhp Healing Village, and UBC NITEP tours gave 
students valuable information. Students chose a variety of 
placements in the trades, hospitality, service, health and 

education industries for their work placements. Several students 
were offered summer jobs or part-time employment upon 
completion of their work experience.

Nine students joined the school First Nations Snowboard 
Team and were trained under instructor Jan Charlie. Three 
students; Kade Charlie, Kenny Chapman, and Thomas Louie 
attended a province-wide snowboard camp at Whistler and 
received training in the Burton Riglet Snowboarding Program.  
Kade Charlie, Kenny Chapman, Thomas Louie, Leddy Mowry-
McMartin and Turia Smith-Mclean went to Big White in Kelowna 
to train and ride with FNST High Performance coaches and 
other FNST riders. 

Our partnership with ISPARC has brought in several new 
programs to enhance our PE program. Students from grade 4 to 
12 attended athlete camps in lacrosse, basketball, volleyball, and 
canoeing. 

Throughout the year students volunteer and support many 
school and community initiatives; Bike Rodeo, Sports Day, 
Elders Christmas Dinner, Gift Wrapping, and Notice Delivery.

Congratulations to all Box Program graduates who will write 
Provincial Exams, present their Graduation Portfolios and 
celebrate their graduation in June. 
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Canyoneering Trip (September)

6 Students hiked up to the waterfalls of the lower reaches of Mt 
Bardean by Chehalis Lake and explored the beautiful cascading 
waterfalls 

Caving Trip (October)

5 Students went caving in Chilliwack and experienced the 
diverse and sensitive underground eco-system of the Karst 
Limestone Caves, traditionally known as Stolo Caves, on Mt. 
Cheam in the Chipmunk Creek area. 

Snowshoe Trip (January)

6 Students participated in a 3 day, 2 night mountaineering trip 
in the mountains in the Marriot Basin, near Pemberton, with 
lessons on avalanche safety and backcountry survival skills.

Rock Climbing (January)

6 students completed a rock climbing course in Squamish, 
learning the basics of safety and technique such as rappelling 
and belaying your partner. 

Alpine Ski and Snowboard Skills (March) 

6 students took part in a 2 day Mountain Skills Camp in Sun 
Peaks Resort in Kamloops. Avalanche Evaluation and Ski and 
Snowboard skills while in the backcountry were skills taught over 
the course of the camp. 

Cyber Film School 

Students completed their first major film project, Mosquito 
Lady. Had numerous showings within the school and the 
community. Over 30 students, 15 staff members, and 5 
community members, filmed, acted, directed, and shaped the 
story into a film, and helped in so many other ways in making 
this production a huge success.

EDUCATION
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SCHOOL COUNSELING  
Sarah White

For the last two years I have been specializing in Expressive Arts Therapy, specifically sand play. In this approach 
children use play miniatures and a sand tray to build worlds and tell stories in the sand. They love it!

There were many boy’s and girl’s groups throughout the year. This was such a valuable time to build a sense of 
belonging, strengthen connections, appreciate differences and learn important social skills.    

We also had a great year of participating in and hosting various sports events. From hosting our annual soccer 
tournament and our first basketball tournament to going and participating in Squiala Elementary’s elementary soccer 
tournament and Seabird’s Kindergarten to grade seven cross country races our kids excelled and had a ton of fun 
trying their best and meeting new friends.

Felicia Leon decorating her cupcake at the cupcake decorating party.

EDUCATION

Our virtue program continues to promote and teach the virtues with our monthly virtue lessons and our celebrations 
for practicing the virtues and receiving virtue vouchers.

March’s virtue celebration that included a pizza lunch and a walk on the Vedder Trail.            

Squiala’s Soccer Tournament Seabird’s Cross Country Event

Last but definitely not least is Dinosaur School. Dinosaur School runs throughout the whole school year with 
Kindergarten to grade two and has been a part of Sts’ailes Community School for over ten years. The children love 
the puppets (Dina & Wally) who help them learn the skills that assist them in doing well in school. They develop a 
strong vocabulary to recognize and express their feelings as well as how to realize that other people have feelings 
too! They gain an understanding for what it takes to calm down and manage uncomfortable feelings. Children also 
help Wally solve problems and they develop a “tool box” for solving their own problems.  

EDUCATION
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PHYSICAL & HEALTH EDUCATION 
Rick Webber

We have had a great year developing and applying our new 
P.H.E. curriculum.  Grades K - 3 have enjoyed learning 
movement awareness games/activities, fitness activities, games 
skills (throwing, catching, striking objects, jumping, landing, 
crawling, rolling, balancing, skipping, dancing, and relay races.  
They also had introduction to many sports such as soccer, 
volleyball, basketball, and baseball.

Grades 4-12 have also had an amazing year learning rules, skills, 
and game play in sports such as soccer, volleyball, badminton, 
basketball, lacrosse, softball and flag football.  We spent a 
significant portion of time developing and improving fitness 
(cardiovascular endurance, muscular endurance, muscular 
strength, flexibility, and body composition).

Athletics (Fitness and Conditioning)

In our first year of Athletics, as an accredited elective, we have 
been able to help our students achieve new personal bests in 
many areas of fitness.  Our students have enjoyed individualized 
workout plans that they helped develop and the improvements 
that were achieved from them.  Students learned proper form 
and safety in the weightroom, proper weight room etiquette, 
and proper spotting techniques.  We introduced the topics of 
proper nutrition, energy systems, and motivation.  The students 
have achieved so much this year and returning students are 
looking forward to building on their improvements moving 
forward into next year.  For graduating students they will have a 
greater knowledge of fitness and health as a lifestyle.

GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE   
Ms. Choi & Ms. Smith - Visual & Fine Arts

This year we tapped into our creative side and added a few 
new outlets to our fine arts program here at SCS. One of the 
new additions in the elementary school was a 90 minute block 
once a month dedicated to various aspects of fine arts. In small 
groups students would rotate through a series of projects setup 
by various teachers to provide a well-rounded appreciation of 
the arts! 

Another exciting addition to our arts program this year was a 
drama class. It was offered as an elective to our high school 
students, and incorporated into the fine arts program for our 
elementary students. 

Most of the students were fairly unfamiliar with many of 
the concepts in drama and therefore were exposed to new 
ideas, techniques and skills to better equip them not only for 
performing arts, but for various social situations in their daily 
lives.

It is our hope that by exposing students to the skills and 
concepts learned in drama at an early age, it will aid in their 
ability to: communicate ideas, build confidence and self esteem, 
respectfully collaborate, and to think critically and creatively!

It has been a fun and productive year and in the future we 
intend to continue building on the foundation of skills we have 
laid thus far, while honing in on our student’s creativity and 
giving them an outlet to shine!

EDUCATION
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GRADE SEVEN TO TWELVE  
Ms. Joseph - Leadership

Goals

The leadership program is based on students exploring real-world challenges. Students develop action plans 
to implement locally and globally. Students from grade 7-12 work together to make a positive impact through 
volunteering, fundraising, and raising awareness. 

Our Beliefs

We are capable of doing more together than we are alone. Every student/person has unique gifts and is able to 
contribute in their own way.  Moving from Me to We is believing that we are all one and the sum is greater than the 
parts. Seeing the world as cyclical we can understand “If everything has spirit and knowledge, then all are like me. If 
all are like me, then all are my relations.” (Little Bear,2000). 

Volunteering

We started the year with donating our time to learning basic leadership skills. Students discussed issues such as 
blame, vulnerability, courage, and compassion. Students’ took on their first campaign on Halloween, We Scare 
Hunger. Leadership was able to collect food donations that were then distributed to the elders committee, along 
with the food donations collected at Christmas. Leadership had the pleasure of serving the elders at the Christmas 
Elders Luncheon. Throughout the year students’ hosted many fundraisers; such as bake sales, popcorn days, and 
concessions. 

We are pleased to announce that $1000 has gone to clean drinking water in Africa. 

EDUCATION
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RESOURCE ROOM 
Mrs. Kohut

All students know that if they are hungry, my classroom is the 
“Mush Stop” before classes begin.  During recess or lunch on 
rainy days, students come to visit, play games or just hang out.  
Grade 4 and Grade 5-6 Girl’s Groups meet Tuesday and/or 
Thursdays where we eat lunch together.  We have discussions 
about friendships, wellness, problem solve or work on crafts.  
We also raise funds for field trips and the famous “sleep over” in 
June (thanks to Sarah White).  

Gr 4 and 5 RM groups each read two different novels to 
participate in the Reading Link Challenge.  We travelled to 
Hope, BC and our school came in third place. Along with 
teaching RM I also have three students on individualized reading 
programs.  Math class includes four different grade levels with 
small group or individualized instruction.  This group uses the 
Jump Math program and one student on Saxon Math.  As well, 
I work 1:1 or with small groups building literacy and numeracy 
skills.  I work closely with the Speech Pathologist, Deanne Epp, 
who assesses students and plans their program.  Six language 
assistants provide services to these children who are reassessed 
at the end of the year.  It has been an amazing year once again, 
for the past 28 years as a matter of fact.  I hope you have a 
great summer!

SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGIST 
Mrs. Murphy 

This year I had the opportunity to work with students, staff 
and parents by helping run parent club, administering psycho-
educational assessments, facilitating IEPs, coaching cheer, and 
teaching intervention groups.  

Parent Club

For parent club, we discussed school-wide programs such as 
Restitution and Zones of Regulation. Furthermore, four parents 
attended the FNSA conference this year! Leaders from mental 
health joined us to discuss mental health and how to support 
each other, our children, and ourselves.  This year we also 
started a book club: Discipline Without Damage: How to Get 
Your Kids to Behave Without Messing Them Up.

EDUCATION

Psycho-educational Assessments

Students who are referred for psycho-educational assessments 
are those who are recognized as having academic, behavioural/
social-emotional, and/or cognitive concerns. The goal of the 
psycho-educational assessment is to identify areas of strength 
and weakness to better help the student reach their full 
potential at school. The process involves an interview(s), one-
to-one testing, observations and rating scales. A final report 
outlines the results and recommendations for the student 
moving forward.

Individual Education Plans

Students who have academic and social-emotional/behaviour 
needs (identified through a formal process) receive an IEP. It has 
been a pleasure to work with families, students and staff to set 
goals and measure students’ process. I am happy to report that 
there has been 100% student attendance and over 80% parent 
attendance this year! 

Cheerleading

I have had the pleasure of coaching cheer this year with Mrs. 
Smith! We performed at the Christmas Concert and the Spring 
Gala. 

Intervention Groups

I have run intervention groups – boys and girls group as well as 
whole groups. Miss. Kyle and I taught the Zones of Regulation 
to Grade 1 and 2 students. This program helps students learn 
social-emotional skills by building emotion vocabulary and 
strategies in order to express their feelings and meet their 
needs. We believe it is important for students to understand, 
manage and express their emotions positively.

Attendance Matters Campaign

Miss. Kyle and I also started an attendance campaign with the 
Grade 6 class to promote the importance of school attendance. 
Grade 6 students were paired with younger students in order 
to connect and recognize them when they attended school. 
They also went to other grades and wrote virtue vouchers for 
elementary students who had attended school.

EDUCATION

Grade 6 students with virtue vouchers to spread the word that attendance matters
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FINANCE

DEPT. MANAGER  

Paul Andrew 

Squa:thom

To the Members of Sts'ailes:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. This responsibility includes selecting 
appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement 
of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial 
statements, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related 
internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are 
safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements.

Sts'ailes Council is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial 
reporting responsibilities. Council fulfils this responsibility by reviewing the financial information 
prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management and external auditors. 
Council is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the First Nation's external 
auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the Members to audit the consolidated financial statements and report 
directly to them; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet 
periodically and separately with, both the Council and management to discuss their audit findings.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sts'ailes, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the consolidated 
statements of operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net debt and cash flows for the 
period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

FINANCE

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Sts'ailes:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sts'ailes, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net debt
and cash flows for the period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sts'ailes as at
March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chilliwack, British Columbia

June 28, 2016 Chartered Professional Accountants

1 - 45780 Yale Road, Chilliwack, British Columbia, V2P 2N4, Phone: (604) 792-1915, 1 (800)444-4070

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Sts'ailes as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, changes in net 
debt and its cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards.

Chilliwack, British Columbia 
 
June 28, 2016
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Sts'ailes
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2016

2016 2015

Financial assets
Restricted cash (Note 4) 81,917 182,581
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 1,806,389 1,431,421
Inventory for resale 118,349 140,925
Investment in Nation business entities (Note 6) 59,363 254,862
Long-term investments (Note 7) 261,000 261,000
Funds held in trust (Note 8) 325,265 38,501

Total of financial assets 2,652,283 2,309,290

Liabilities
Bank indebtedness (Note 9) 804,041 1,148,281
Accounts payable and accruals (Note 10) 1,168,102 1,100,335
Deferred revenue 34,278 15,476
Long-term debt (Note 11) 3,691,858 3,351,803
Term loans due on demand (Note 12) 3,771,091 3,600,894
Reforestation obligation 463,634 364,710

Total of financial liabilities 9,933,004 9,581,499

Net debt (7,280,721) (7,272,209)

Contingencies (Note 13)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 12,459,988 12,628,609
Prepaid expenses 621,710 219,499

Total non-financial assets 13,081,698 12,848,108

Accumulated surplus (Note 14) 5,800,977 5,575,899

Approved on behalf of the Council

Chief Councillor

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sts'ailes
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Schedules 2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Economic Activity 4,021,000 6,393,641 4,792,097
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada 4,715,569 5,219,451 5,557,903
Province of BC 3,102,107 2,654,356 2,839,580
Sts'ailes Contracts 2,780,648 1,612,446 1,478,150
First Nation Health Authority 1,060,883 1,498,634 1,411,222
Other revenue - 73,089 249,173
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 6,293 6,293 110,958
Rental income 481,324 410,800 361,430
Ottawa trust distributions - 285,074 5,709
Vancity grant - 50,000 -
Interest income - 8,594 15,387
Earnings (loss) from investment in Nation partnerships - (189,408) 11,482
Repayment of funding - (133,324) -

16,167,824 17,889,646 16,833,091

Program expenses
Governance 3 518,858 606,237 649,428
Sts'ailes Administration 4 2,776,880 1,703,179 1,765,219
Employment and Social Development 5 366,656 1,228,702 1,300,567
Community Development 6 385,824 718,322 665,727
Housing 7 827,245 273,030 503,472
Health 8 953,176 1,353,519 1,615,326
Snowoyelh 9 1,537,422 861,646 841,017
Education 10 4,579,372 5,291,914 5,039,209
Economic Development - Sts'ailes Operations 11 - 784,497 770,886
Economic Development - Controlled Entities 12 4,221,448 4,843,522 3,721,092

Total expenditures 16,166,881 17,664,568 16,871,943

Operating surplus (deficit) 943 225,078 (38,852)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year ended 5,575,899 5,575,899 5,614,751

Accumulated surplus, end of year ended 5,576,842 5,800,977 5,575,899

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sts'ailes
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt

For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Operating surplus (deficit) 943 225,078 (38,852)

Purchases of tangible capital assets - (1,059,782) (1,317,580)
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 1,185,993 1,120,566
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 119,626 -
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - (77,216) -

- 168,621 (197,014)

Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (621,710) (206,326)
Use of prepaid expenses - 219,499 81,674

- (402,211) (124,652)

Increase in net debt 943 (8,512) (360,518)

Net debt, beginning of year (7,272,209) (7,272,209) (6,911,691)

Net debt, end of year (7,271,266) (7,280,721) (7,272,209)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sts'ailes
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities

Operating surplus (deficit) 225,078 (38,852)
Non-cash items

Amortization 1,185,993 1,120,566
Change in funds held in trust (286,764) (6,544)
Gain on disposal of capital assets (77,217) -
Loss (earnings) from investment in Nation partnerships and economic activity 195,497 321,136

1,242,587 1,396,306
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (374,971) (195)
Inventory 22,577 4,583
Prepaid expenses (402,211) (124,652)
Restricted cash 100,664 (47,149)
Accounts payable and accruals 67,772 (405,383)
Deferred revenue 18,802 1,600
Reforestation obligation 98,924 (67,400)

774,144 757,710

Financing activities
Advances of long-term debt 477,060 -
Repayment of long-term debt (137,005) (101,983)
Advances of operating line of credit - 1,148,281
Repayment of operating line of credit (344,240) -
Advances of term loans due on demand 531,802 -
Repayment of term loans due on demand (361,605) (324,054)

166,012 722,244

Capital activities
Purchases of tangible capital assets (1,059,782) (1,317,580)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 119,626 -

(940,156) (1,317,580)

Investing activities
Investment in Nation business entities - (260,000)

Decrease in cash resources - (97,626)

Cash resources, beginning of year - 97,626

Cash resources, end of year - -

Supplementary cash flow information
Interest paid 202,514 266,798

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

1. Operations

Sts'ailes (the "First Nation") is located in the province of British Columbia, and provides various services to its members.
Sts'ailes includes the Band's members, government and all related entities that are accountable to the First Nation and are
either owned or controlled by the First Nation.

2. Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization
of assets and the payment of liabilities in the ordinary course of operations. Due to the significant overall amount of net
debt of Sts'ailes there is some doubt regarding this assumption. Sts'ailes has developed a Management Action Plan to
address its causes and prevent its recurrence. Should the First Nation be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be
unable to realize the carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as they become due.

The continuation of the First Nation is dependent upon the continuing availability of Federal and Provincial funding,
continued own source revenue and upon adherence to budgeted expenses. These consolidated financial statements do not
reflect the adjustments or reclassification of assets and liabilities which would be necessary if the First Nation were unable
to continue its operations.

3. Significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements are the representations of management, prepared in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards and including the following significant accounting policies:

Reporting entity consolidated

The financial statements consolidate the financial activities of all entities and departments comprising Sts'ailes reporting
entity, except for First Nation business entities. Trusts administered on behalf of third parties by Sts'ailes are excluded from
the First Nation reporting entity.

First Nation has consolidated the assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of the following entities and departments:

• Sts'ailes Development Limited Partnership

• Sts'ailes Development Corporation

• Chehalis Indian Band Economic Development Trust

• Sts'ailes Social Housing - Pre-1997 Program

• Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Ltd.

All inter-entity balances have been eliminated on consolidation; however, transactions between departments have not been
eliminated in order to present the results of operations for each specific department.

Sts'ailes business entities, owned or controlled by the First Nation's Council but not dependent on the First Nation for their
continuing operations, are included in the financial statements using the modified equity method. Under the modified equity
method, the equity method of accounting is modified only to the extent that the business entity accounting principles are not
adjusted to conform to those of the First Nation. Thus, the First Nation's investment in these entities is recorded at
acquisition cost and is increased for the proportionate share of post acquisition earnings and decreased by post acquisition
losses and distributions received. Entities accounted for by the modified equity basis include:

• Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership

• Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development Limited Partnership

Basis of presentation

Sources of revenue and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting
recognizes revenue as it becomes available and measurable; expenses are recognized as they are incurred and
measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay.
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Asset classification

Assets are classified as either financial or non-financial. Financial assets are assets that could be used to discharge
existing liabilities or finance future operations. Non-financial assets are acquired, constructed or developed assets that do
not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities but are employed to deliver government services, may be
consumed in normal operations and are not for resale in the normal course of operations. Non-financial assets include
tangible capital assets, prepaid expenses, and inventories of supplies.

Net debt

The First Nation’s financial statements are presented so as to highlight net debt as the measurement of financial position.
The net debt of the First Nation is determined by its financial assets less its liabilities. Net debt combined with non-financial
assets comprise a second indicator of financial position, accumulated surplus.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost based on historical cost accounting records. Contributed tangible assets
are recorded at their fair value at the date of contribution.

Amortization

Tangible capital assets are amortized annually using the following methods at rates intended to amortize the cost of the
assets over their estimated useful lives:

Method Rate

Buildings declining balance 10%
Housing declining balance 10%
Infrastructure declining balance 10%
Equipment declining balance 20%
Automotive Equipment declining balance 30%

Funds held in Ottawa Trust Fund

Funds held in trust on behalf of the First Nation's members by the Government of Canada in the Ottawa Trust Fund are
reported on the statement of financial position with an offsetting amount in accumulated surplus. Trust moneys consist of:

• Capital trust moneys derived from non-renewable resource transactions on the sale of land or other First Nation
tangible capital assets; and

• Revenue trust moneys generated primarily through land leasing transactions or interest earned on deposits held in
trust.

Revenue recognition

Funding

Revenue is recognized as it becomes receivable under the terms of applicable funding agreements. Funding received under
funding arrangements that relate to a subsequent fiscal period are reflected as deferred revenue on the statement of
financial position in the year of receipt.

Government Transfers

The First Nation recognizes a government transfer as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria, if
any, have been met. A government transfer with stipulations giving rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability
is recognized as a liability. In such circumstances, the First Nation recognizes revenue as the liability is settled. Transfers of
non-depreciable assets are recognized in revenue when received or receivable.
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Housing Rental Income

Rental revenue is recorded in the year it is earned. At the end of each year, management evaluates whether rent revenue
is collectible and records a bad debt expense and allowance for doubtful accounts for those amounts designated as unlikely
to be collected.

Funds held in Ottawa Trust Fund

Due to measurement uncertainty, revenue related to the receipt of funds held in the Ottawa Trust Fund is recognized when
it is received.

Own source revenue

Own source revenue derived from such sources as resource based revenues, interest income and other revenue are
recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured.

Investments

Sts'ailes uses the modified equity method to account for its investment in Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership
and Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development Limited Partnership whereby the First Nation records its proportionate share of
annual earnings as revenue.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Accounts receivable, and amounts due from related First Nation entities and departments, are stated after evaluation as to
their collectibility and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts is provided where considered necessary. Provisions
are made for slow moving and obsolete inventory. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of tangible capital
assets. Reforestation obligation is based upon various judgements and assumptions and is accrued and charged to
earnings on the basis of the volume of timber cut.

Inventory

Management has estimated the value of the inventory based upon their assessment of the realizable amount less selling
costs.

Long-lived assets and discontinued operations

Long-lived assets consist of tangible capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as
described in the applicable accounting policies.

When Sts'ailes determines that a long-lived asset no longer has any long-term service potential to the organization, the
excess of its net carrying amount over any residual value is recognized as an expense in the statement of operations. Write-
downs are not reversed.

Segments

Sts'ailes conducts its business through ten reportable segments: Governance, Sts'ailes Administration, Employment and
Social Development, Community Development, Housing, Health, Snowoyelh, Education, Economic Development - Sts'ailes
Operations, and Economic Development - Controlled Entities. These operating segments are established by senior
management to facilitate the achievement of Sts'ailes long-term objectives to aid in resource allocation decisions, and to
assess operational performance.

For each reported segment, revenue and expenses represent both amounts that are directly attributable to the segment and
amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Retirement benefits

Sts'ailes has a defined contribution pension plan covering substantially all full-time employees who have completed one
year of service. There are no prior service costs. Contributions are discretionary, and are base on the percentage of
participants' contributions, up to a maximum. Sts'ailes contributions totalled $249,658.

Liability for contaminated site

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the amount required to remediate the
contaminated site when contamination exceeding an environmental standard exists, the First Nation is either directly
responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable
estimate of the amount is determinable. The best estimate of the liability includes all costs directly attributable to
remediation activities and is reduced by expected net recoveries based on information available at March 31, 2016.

At each financial reporting date, the First Nation reviews the carrying amount of the liability. Any revisions required to the
amount previously recognized is accounted for in the period revisions are made. The First Nation continues to recognize the
liability until it is settled or otherwise extinguished. Disbursements made to settle the liability are deducted from the reported
liability when they are made.

4. Restricted cash

2016 2015

Replacement Reserve Fund 10,126 10,146
Subsidy Surplus Fund 953 10,903
Secured Revenues Trust Account 44,677 135,371
Term Deposit - Bank of Montreal 26,161 26,161

Notes to restricted assets

Replacement Reserve

Under agreements with Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) the Nation established a replacement
reserve, funded by an annual allocation of $2,846 (2015 - $2,846), to ensure replacement of buildings financed by
CMHC. At March 31, 2016, $10,126 (2015 - $10,146) has been set aside to fund this reserve. The unfunded portion
at March 31, 2016 was $5,732 (2015 - $2,866).

In accordance with terms of the agreement, CHMC reserve moneys must be held or invested only in accounts or
instruments guaranteed by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, or as otherwise approved by CHMC. Reserve
withdrawals are credited first to interest and then to principal.

Subsidy Surplus Fund

Under agreements with Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) the Nation established a subsidy surplus
fund, funded by unused federal assistance up to a maximum of $500 per unit of social housing, to be used solely for
the purposes of lowering the cost of housing for low-income households. At March 31, 2016, $953 (2015 - $10,903)
has been set aside in this fund.

Secured Revenues Trust Account

The secured revenues trust account arises from a financing agreement with the First Nations Finance Authority
(FNFA). Other revenues of Sts'ailes are deposited into this account to secure funds FNFA has lent to Sts'ailes. The
account is managed by a third party which is required to pay amounts to FNFA under the terms of the borrowing
agreement before paying any remaining amount from the account to Sts'ailes.

Terms Deposit - Bank of Montreal

This term deposit is pledged as security in favour of the BC Assets and Land Commission.
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

5. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following:
2016 2015

Sts'ailes Band receivables 921,543 1,175,710
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (82,068) (295,939)

839,475 879,771

Sts'ailes controlled entities 818,796 399,207

Due from Sts'ailes members (net of allowances) 148,118 152,443
1,806,389 1,431,421

6. Investment in Nation business entities

Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership, 50% interest, unsecured, non-interest bearing, no stated terms of
repayment. No amounts are due within the year.

Seabird-Sts'ailes-Cheam ILM Joint Venture, 33% interest, unsecured, non-interest bearing, no stated terms of repayment.
No amounts are due within the year. Balance of venturers' capital represents 33% proportion of net assets in the joint
venture.

Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development Limited Partership, 99% interest, unsecured, non-interest bearing, no stated terms of
repayment. No amounts are due within the year.

2016 2015

Partnership interest - Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership 332,234 240,434
Amount due to Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership - consolidated entity 143,821 184,118

188,413 56,316
Venturers Capital - Seabird-Sts'ailes-Cheam ILM Joint Venture 13,278 198,546
Partnership interest - Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development Limited Partnership (281,207) -
Amount due from Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development Limited Partnership - consolidated
entity

138,879 -

(142,328) -
59,363 254,862

Financial information for Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership is a follows:
2016 2015

Current assets 319,539 100,899
Capital assets 557,493 293,128
Advances to related parties 210,013 245,291

1,087,045 639,318

Current liabilities 357,602 98,511
Advances from related parties 66,192 61,173

423,794 159,684
Partners' capital 663,251 479,634

1,087,045 639,318
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2015

Revenue 510,848 310,088
Expenses 327,232 287,125
Net Income 183,616 22,963

Financial information for Seabird-Sts'ailes-Cheam ILM Joint Venture is as follows:
2016 2015

Current assets 39,833 1,139,593

Current liabilities - 543,954

Venturers' equity 39,833 595,639
39,833 1,139,593

2016 2015

Revenue - 1,064,896
Direct costs - 1,616,159
Gross margin - (551,263)
General expenses 395 21,051
Net income (loss) (395) (572,314)

Financial information for Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development Limited Partnership is as follows:
2016 2015

Current assets 48,960 51,680
Long-term investment 1,182,665 1,332,418
Advances to related parties - 100

1,231,625 1,384,198

Long-term debt 1,443,520 1,401,995
Advances from related parties 69,339 -

1,512,859 1,401,995
Partners' Capital (281,234) (17,797)

1,231,625 1,384,198

2016 2015

Income (loss) from investment in partneship (149,753) 12,418
Expenses 113,684 30,315
Net loss (263,437) (17,897)
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

7. Long term investments

2016 2015

Uplands Resources Inc.
285,714 common shares, approximately 1.69% ownership 100,000 100,000
Allowance for impairment (99,000) (99,000)

1,000 1,000

Bremner Trio Hydro Corp
Sts'ailes investment with the Bremner Trio Hydro Corp for the purposes of obtaining a
partnership interest in a Limited Partnership to be formed subsequent to March 31, 2016.

260,000 260,000

261,000 261,000

8. Funds held in trust

Capital and revenue trust monies are transferred to the First Nation on the authorization of the Minister of Indigenous and
Northern Affairs Canada, with the consent of the First Nation's Council.

2016 2015

Capital Trust
Balance, beginning of year 6,741 3,550
Timber royalties 282,553 3,191

Balance, end of year 289,294 6,741

Revenue Trust
Balance, beginning of year 31,760 28,407
Interest 1,690 835
Provincial grants 2,521 2,518

Balance, end of year 35,971 31,760

325,265 38,501

9. Bank indebtedness

Under a line of credit arrangement with the Bank of Montreal, Sts'ailes may borrow up to $1,600,000. The line of credit
bears interest at bank's prime rate plus 0.50%. The prime rate at March 31, 2016 was 2.70%. This arrangement does not
have a termination date and can be withdrawn at the bank's option. The credit line is secured by a general security
agreement covering all property of Sts'ailes.

10. Accounts payable and accruals

Included in accounts payable and accruals are government remittances payable of $33,621 (2015 - $31,941), and $56,639
in accrued funding recoveries payable to Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada.
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

11. Long-term debt

2016 2015

Bank of Montreal mortgage, payments of $979 per month including interest at 5.4%, due
May 2017, secured by Ministerial guarantees of the Minister of Indigenous and Northern
Affairs Canada. 13,314 24,081

All Nation's Trust Company mortgage, payments of $1,843 per month including interest at
1.2%, commencing in June 2016, secured by the constructed homes 477,060 -

First Nations Finance Authority promissory note, bearing interest at 3.79%, with blended
monthly payments of $21,445, due June 2024. 3,384,808 3,509,329

Interim Financing Debt Reserve Fund Investment, the Authority holds a deposit of 5% of
the loans advanced in the Debt Reserve Fund. Interest is paid daily at an annual rate of
1.2%. (183,323) (181,607)

3,691,859 3,351,803

Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next five years, assuming long-term debt subject to refinancing is
renewed, are estimated as follows:

2017 148,634
2018 149,465
2019 127,803
2020 137,935
2021 138,143
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

12. Term loans due on demand

2016 2015

Bank of Montreal, administration building loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%,
payable in monthly instalments of $2,511 principal plus interest 45,177 75,303

Bank of Montreal, trailer loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in blended
monthly instalments of $1,399 159,807 170,477

Bank of Montreal, elders' centre loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in
monthly instalments of $208 principal plus interest 5,625 8,125

Bank of Montreal, apartment complex loan - 480

Bank of Montreal, store loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in monthly
instalments of $4,993 principal plus interest 631 60,543

Bank of Montreal, Telmexw Awtexw loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in
monthly instalments of $3,562 406,286 427,921

Bank of Montreal, Stonewater loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in
blended monthly instalments of $12,814 995,557 1,106,281

Bank of Montreal, Snowoyelh loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in
blended monthly instalments of $1,681 150,615 164,350

Bank of Montreal, Lhawathet Lalem mortgage bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%,
payable in blended monthly instalments of $14,535 1,475,591 1,587,414

Bank of Montreal, band housing loan bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, payable in
blended monthly instalments of $3,290 531,802 -

3,771,091 3,600,894

Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next five years are estimated as follows:

2017 493,223
2018 495,971
2019 494,983
2020 374,862
2021 347,381
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

13. Term loans due on demand (Continued from previous page)

Bank of Montreal demand loans are secured by the following guarantees:

• Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada guarantee in the amount of $250,000

• Guarantee in the amount of $1,675,000 signed by Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Ltd. (a related entity)

• Guarantee in the amount of $1,675,000 signed by Fenn Lodge Enterprises Ltd.

• All-Indebtedness Mortgage & Assignments of Rents over 15500 Morris Valley Rd, Harrison, BC

• Guarantee in the amount of $1,900,000 signed by Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Ltd. (a related entity)

• Guarantee in the amount of $1,900,000 signed by Sts'ailes Development Corporation (a related entity)

• Guarantee in the amount of $1,900,000 signed by Fenn Lodge Ltd.

• Guarantee in the amount of $1,900,000 signed by Sts'ailes Developmental Limited Partnership (a related entity)

• Guarantee signed by Sts'ailes Natural Resources Inc. and Interpac Resources Ltd.

13. Contingent liabilities

a) A criminal action has been brought against the former Chief of Sts'ailes and a former Fisheries Manager by the
Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada for alleged counselling and or abetting unauthorized fishing. The First Nation
is only involved by way of supporting the legal costs related to this action. The effects of any contingent costs relating to
this action are not determinable at the date of this report.

b) The First Nation has been named as defendant in a lawsuit on behalf of First Class Waste Disposal Ltd., seeking to
recover damage allegedly sustained by them by the cessation of a contract for services in the amount of $25,000. This
lawsuit remains at an early stage, and as litigation is subject to many uncertainties, it is not possible to predict the ultimate
outcome of this lawsuit or to estimate the loss, if any, which may result. Any amount awarded as a result of this action will
be recorded when reasonably estimable.

c) As of March 31, 2016, the Band was contingently liable in respect of four guaranteed individual Band Member mortgages
with a total outstanding principal balance of $628,043 (2015 - $251,881).

d) Sts'ailes is the guarantor for $3,000,000 in residential loans granted to Sts'ailes members under the Housing and Loan
Program by the Bank of Montreal.

e) Sts'ailes has provided a limited guarantee on a commerical loan to one of it's business entities, Sts'ailes Eco Energy
Development Limited Partnership. The guarantee is limited to the royalties received by Sts'ailes under the terms of the
Impact Benefit Agreement with Sakwi Creek Power Corp. and BC Hydro. The amount of the royalties is undetermined as of
the date of the financial statements. The outstanding balance of the commercial loan at March 31, 2016 is $1,401,030.
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

14. Accumulated surplus

Accumulated surplus consists of the following:
2016 2015

Equity in Tangible Capital Assets 7,009,125 7,657,682
Internally Restricted Equity (Note 15) 256,745 256,745
Operating deficit (1,807,487) (2,391,512)
Equity in Ottawa Trust Funds 325,265 38,501
CMHC Replacement Reserve 15,858 13,012
CMHC Subsidy Surplus Reserve Fund 1,471 1,471

5,800,977 5,575,899

15. Internally Restricted Equity

The Band maintains reserve funds for certain tangible capital assets. These balances at March 31, 2016 are as follows:

2016 2015

Sts'ailes Housing 63,929 63,929
Church 171 171
Roads 1,916 1,916
Memorial Bench 1,783 1,783
Daycare Building 56,000 56,000
Fitup Facilities 10,459 10,459
Health Program 24,405 24,405
Legacy Fund 98,082 98,082

256,745 256,745
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Sts'ailes
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2016

16. Segments

The First Nation conducts its business through ten reportable segments: Governance, Sts'ailes Administration, Employment
and Social Development, Community Development, Housing, Health, Snowoyelh, Education, Economic Development -
Sts'ailes Operations, and Economic Development - Controlled Entities. These segments are differentiated by major
activities; accountability and control relationships.

Governance - Includes activities related to the general governance, and leadership of the community and its members.

Sts'ailes Administration - Includes general operation, support, and financial management of the First Nation.

Employment and Social Development - Includes services offered to community members unable to provide for themselves
or their dependents. Services include, but are not limited to, income assistance, child and family support, assisted living,
and early childhood development.

Community Development - Includes services related to construction contracts, general community maintenance, and public
works.

Housing - Includes activities related to the provision of housing to the members of the First Nation.

Health - Includes activities related to the provision of health services for the community and its members.

Snowoyelh - Includes activities related to family healing and growth, ensuring the safety and well being of children, and
providing healing and treatment for addiction.

Education - Includes activities related to education at all levels, including elementary, secondary and post-secondary.
Additional services include transportation, accommodation, and guidance and counselling.

Economic Development - Sts'ailes Operations - Includes activities related to the growth of revenue producing projects
within the First Nation.

Economic Development - Controlled Entities - Includes activities related to the growth of revenue producing projects of
entities owned by the First Nation.

17. Economic dependence

Sts'ailes receives a significant portion of its revenue from Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada (INAC) as a result of
funding agreements entered into with the Government of Canada. These funding agreements are administered by INAC
under the terms and conditions of the Indian Act. The ability of the First Nation to continue operations is dependent upon
the Government of Canada's continued financial commitments as guaranteed by these funding agreements.

18. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year's presentation.

16
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Sts'ailes
Schedule 1 - Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Schedule 1
Buildings Housing Equipment Infrastructure Computers Subtotal

Cost
Balance, beginning of year 12,012,442 3,096,315 1,998,152 7,285,898 74,460 24,467,267
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 157,750 578,417 323,617 - - 1,059,784
Disposal of tangible capital assets - (117,533) - - - (117,533)

Balance, end of year 12,170,192 3,557,199 2,321,769 7,285,898 74,460 25,409,518

Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year 7,420,266 1,507,015 1,768,993 3,419,282 55,445 14,171,001
Annual amortization 450,640 212,531 132,358 386,662 3,803 1,185,994
Accumulated amortization on disposals - (75,122) - - - (75,122)

Balance, end of year 7,870,906 1,644,424 1,901,351 3,805,944 59,248 15,281,873

Net book value of tangible capital assets 4,299,286 1,912,775 420,418 3,479,954 15,212 10,127,645

Net book value of tangible capital assets 2015 4,592,176 1,589,300 229,159 3,866,616 19,015 10,296,266

17
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Sts'ailes
Schedule 1 - Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets

For the year ended March 31, 2016

Subtotal Land 2016 2015

Cost
Balance, beginning of year 24,467,267 2,332,343 26,799,610 25,482,030
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 1,059,784 - 1,059,784 1,317,580
Disposal of tangible capital assets (117,533) - (117,533) -

Balance, end of year 25,409,518 2,332,343 27,741,861 26,799,610

Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year 14,171,001 - 14,171,001 13,050,435
Annual amortization 1,185,994 - 1,185,994 1,120,566
Accumulated amortization on disposals (75,122) - (75,122) -

Balance, end of year 15,281,873 - 15,281,873 14,171,001

Net book value of tangible capital assets 10,127,645 2,332,343 12,459,988 12,628,609

Net book value of tangible capital assets 2015 10,296,266 2,332,343 12,628,609
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Sts'ailes
Schedule 2 - Schedule of Consolidated Expenses by Object

For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Consolidated expenses by object
Administration - 436,167 529,536
Advertising - 6,647 5,714
Amortization - 1,185,993 1,120,566
Automotive - 154,739 163,160
Bad debts - 27,000 50,508
Band support - - 5,100
Bank charges and interest - 346,412 428,141
Basic needs - 703,939 737,834
Child necessities - 2,696 -
Community donations - 1,803 1,203
Community events - 25,211 18,939
Contracted services - 571,191 736,170
Cost of Sales - 3,510,965 2,378,855
Elders fees - 1,066 -
Food and beverage - 837 2,035
Health - 1,619 2,783
Honoraria - 173,430 104,070
Insurance - 91,846 80,919
Office supplies - 55,391 29,913
Parent necessities - 2,202 -
Professional fees - 175,453 245,036
Program expense - 18,836 76,394
Property tax - 8,425 7,251
Renovation materials - 7,120 2,846
Rent - 7,103 -
Repairs and maintenance - 265,426 478,800
Replacement reserve - 276 -
Salaries and benefits - 7,765,450 7,611,094
Special projects - 5,115 -
Student expenses - 385,827 247,710
Supplies - 1,019,531 1,150,381
Telephone - 13,837 12,635
Training - 53,200 73,365
Transportation - 20,170 20,914
Travel - 119,919 129,687
Tuition - 567,366 581,369
Utilities - 316,936 240,153
Vehicle - 3,279 4,576
Intersegmental Allocation of Administration - (387,855) (405,715)

- 17,664,568 16,871,942
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Sts'ailes
Governance

Schedule 3 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Economic Activity - 416,928 862,021
Sts'ailes Contracts - 225,546 175,260
Grants and Donations - 3,250 59,782
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - 8,048 7,624
Province of BC - - 262,455
Ottawa trust distributions - 285,074 5,709
Vancity - 50,000 -
Interest income - 5,841 4,985
Loss from investment in Nation partnerships - (281,207) -

- 713,480 1,377,836

Expenses
Bad debts - - 15,508
Bank charges and interest - 241,323 352,742
Community events - 1,240 -
Contracted services - 51,174 -
Honoraria - 162,828 99,897
Insurance - 840 840
Office supplies - 1,763 1,130
Professional fees - 32,232 19,130
Salaries and benefits - 70,049 127,214
Special projects - 5,115 -
Supplies - 15,667 27,848
Travel - 631 2,999
Utilities - 1,740 2,120

- 584,602 649,428

Operating surplus before transfers - 128,878 728,408

Transfers between segments - 191,592 (90,977)

Operating surplus - 320,470 637,431

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year - 1,791,378 1,153,947

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 2,111,848 1,791,378
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Sts'ailes
Sts'ailes Administration

Schedule 4 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - 632,226 593,009
Sts'ailes Contracts - 11,575 75,674
Other revenue

Financial management board - 10,000 30,000
Taxation - 7,443 6,876
Donations - 2,700 3,947

Interest income - 2,544 10,259

- 666,488 719,765

Expenses
Amortization - 1,139,695 1,086,109
Automotive - 4,440 5,915
Band support - - 5,100
Bank charges and interest - 33,522 23,709
Contracted services - 16,080 15,132
Honoraria - 1,300 900
Office supplies - 15,429 12,812
Professional fees - 32,985 51,477
Repairs and maintenance - 5,089 15,702
Salaries and benefits - 752,908 793,407
Supplies - 48,672 137,777
Travel - 10,992 13,056
Utilities - 29,922 9,838
Intersegmental Allocation of Administration - (387,855) (405,715)

- 1,703,179 1,765,219

Operating deficit before transfers - (1,036,691) (1,045,454)

Transfers between segments - 386,733 473,574

Operating deficit - (649,958) (571,880)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year - 6,976,459 7,548,339

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 6,326,501 6,976,459
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Sts'ailes
Employment and Social Development

Schedule 5 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - 905,561 978,465
Sts'ailes Contracts - 397,086 434,200
Repayment of funding - (133,324) -

- 1,169,323 1,412,665

Expenses
Administration - 38,767 37,468
Advertising - 142 -
Automotive - 825 1,148
Basic needs - 703,939 737,834
Office supplies - 3,801 1,143
Professional fees - - 39,493
Rent - 4,950 -
Repairs and maintenance - 5,460 6,000
Salaries and benefits - 430,814 425,749
Supplies - 15,424 34,404
Training - 5,524 5,888
Travel - 12,319 6,574
Utilities - 6,737 4,866

- 1,228,702 1,300,567

Operating surplus (deficit) before transfers - (59,379) 112,098

Transfers between segments - - 21,205

Operating surplus (deficit) - (59,379) 133,303

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year - 138,394 5,091

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 79,015 138,394
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Sts'ailes
Community Development

Schedule 6 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Deficit
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - 655,487 715,118
Sts'ailes Contracts - 47,763 110,533
Rental income - 15,770 -

- 719,020 825,651

Expenses
Administration - 5,719 32,419
Automotive - 9,732 10,740
Bank charges and interest - 13,583 60
Contracted services - 330,764 100,561
Honoraria - 2,100 1,480
Insurance - 14,388 13,891
Office supplies - 24 4,353
Professional fees - 10,754 4,984
Repairs and maintenance - 73,132 162,181
Salaries and benefits - 157,911 217,979
Supplies - 15,323 19,455
Training - 14,515 13,428
Travel - 11,781 8,371
Utilities - 58,596 75,825

- 718,322 665,727

Operating surplus before transfers - 698 159,924

Transfers between segments - (193,052) (512,907)

Operating deficit - (192,354) (352,983)

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year - (1,116,987) (764,004)

Accumulated deficit, end of year - (1,309,341) (1,116,987)
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Sts'ailes
Housing

Schedule 7 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus (Deficit)
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Band Home Sales - 177,589 50,001
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation - 6,293 110,958
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - - 192,342
Rental income - 345,336 307,391

- 529,218 660,692

Expenses
Administration - 11,216 5,900
Automotive - - 413
Bad debts - 27,000 35,000
Bank charges and interest - 24,937 7,950
Community events - 95 -
Contracted services - 6,161 296,417
Insurance - 35,013 22,261
Office supplies - 62 70
Professional fees - 3,195 3,000
Renovation materials - 7,120 2,846
Repairs and maintenance - 53,727 62,725
Replacement reserve - 276 -
Salaries and benefits - 87,074 55,567
Supplies - 10,728 5,664
Travel - 2,676 2,476
Utilities - 3,750 3,183

- 273,030 503,472

Operating surplus before transfers - 256,188 157,220

Transfers between segments - (195,846) (53,260)

Surplus - 60,342 103,960

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year - (37,586) (141,546)

Accumulated surplus (deficit), end of year - 22,756 (37,586)
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Sts'ailes
Health

Schedule 8 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
First Nation Health Authority - 1,388,366 1,306,703
Sts'ailes Contracts - 46,271 43,027
Other revenue - 11,481 17,069
Economic Activity - 1,000 -

- 1,447,118 1,366,799

Expenses
Administration - 79,563 79,563
Advertising - 255 2,037
Automotive - 9,813 16,029
Bank charges and interest - 129 140
Community donations - 1,803 1,158
Community events - 3,788 -
Contracted services - 39,315 34,979
Elders fees - 1,066 -
Health - 1,619 2,783
Honoraria - 3,402 -
Insurance - 3,052 -
Office supplies - 24,910 812
Professional fees - 28,685 32,657
Program expense - 14,871 29,372
Repairs and maintenance - 10,939 6,246
Salaries and benefits - 983,999 1,181,863
Student expenses - 3,942 8,732
Supplies - 86,256 129,522
Training - 9,648 27,167
Transportation - 17,170 19,914
Travel - 16,841 16,216
Utilities - 34,088 26,136

- 1,375,154 1,615,326

Operating surplus (deficit) before transfers - 71,964 (248,527)

Transfers between segments - (23,057) (21,857)

Operating surplus(deficit) - 48,907 (270,384)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year - 411,680 682,064

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 460,587 411,680
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Sts'ailes
Snowoyelh

Schedule 9 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Province of BC - 924,465 885,293
Other revenue - - 26,700

- 924,465 911,993

Expenses
Administration - 80,528 75,724
Automotive - 11,437 10,953
Bank charges and interest - 66 63
Child necessities - 2,696 -
Honoraria - - 300
Office supplies - 32 133
Parent necessities - 2,202 -
Professional fees - 18,447 8,970
Program expense - 3,965 47,022
Repairs and maintenance - 1,637 8,427
Salaries and benefits - 654,128 618,704
Student expenses - 13,397 1,875
Supplies - 42,008 28,146
Training - 5,782 3,256
Travel - 2,000 12,047
Utilities - 23,321 25,397

- 861,646 841,017

Operating surplus before transfers - 62,819 70,976

Transfers between segments - (18,257) (18,257)

Operating surplus - 44,562 52,719

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year - 95,945 43,226

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 140,507 95,945
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Sts'ailes
Education

Schedule 10 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - 2,893,594 2,956,498
Province of BC - 1,729,892 1,688,982
Sts'ailes Contracts - 496,924 473,284
First Nation Health Authority - 110,268 104,519
Other revenue - 38,214 104,799

- 5,268,892 5,328,082

Expenses
Administration - 135,127 165,640
Advertising - 2,012 1,689
Automotive - 78,402 78,681
Bank charges and interest - 1,148 84
Community events - 3,947 -
Contracted services - 6,492 146,320
Insurance - 17,055 17,723
Office supplies - 1,248 1,540
Professional fees - - 280
Repairs and maintenance - 71,017 185,596
Salaries and benefits - 3,285,637 2,872,361
Student expenses - 368,488 237,103
Supplies - 616,651 659,922
Training - 17,731 23,627
Transportation - 3,000 1,000
Travel - 27,228 37,019
Tuition - 567,366 581,369
Utilities - 89,365 29,255

- 5,291,914 5,039,209

Operating surplus (deficit) before transfers - (23,022) 288,873

Transfers between segments - (329,800) (51,053)

Operating surplus (deficit) - (352,822) 237,820

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year - 526,087 288,267

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 173,265 526,087
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Sts'ailes
Economic Development - Sts'ailes Operations

Schedule 11 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Department of Fisheries and Oceans - 371,432 376,944
Sts'ailes Contracts - 209,692 116,171
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada - 124,535 114,847
Province of BC - - 2,850
Earnings from investment in Nation partnerships - 91,799 11,482

- 797,458 622,294

Expenses
Administration - 35,246 32,821
Automotive - 40,090 39,281
Bank charges and interest - 63 72
Contracted services - 101,867 140,061
Honoraria - 3,800 1,494
Insurance - - 73
Office supplies - 50 1,107
Professional fees - 11,753 5,405
Rent - 1,760 -
Salaries and benefits - 523,120 487,223
Supplies - 49,157 51,346
Travel - 13,915 9,688
Utilities - 3,543 2,315
Vehicle - 133 -

- 784,497 770,886

Operating surplus (deficit) before transfers - 12,961 (148,592)

Transfers between segments - 131,020 253,535

Operating surplus - 143,981 104,943

Accumulated surplus (deficit), beginning of year - 8,540 (96,403)

Accumulated surplus, end of year - 152,521 8,540
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Sts'ailes
Economic Development - Controlled Entities

Schedule 12 - Schedule of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Deficit
For the year ended March 31, 2016

2016 2016 2015
Budget

Revenue
Economic Activity - 5,604,282 3,553,132
Rental income - 49,694 54,039
Interest income - 209 143

- 5,654,185 3,607,314

Expenses
Administration - 50,000 100,001
Advertising - 4,238 1,989
Amortization - 46,298 34,456
Bank charges and interest - 31,641 43,320
Community donations - - 45
Community events - 16,142 18,939
Contracted services - 19,338 2,699
Cost of Sales - 3,510,965 2,378,855
Food and beverage - 837 2,035
Insurance - 21,498 26,132
Office supplies - 8,070 6,814
Professional fees - 37,403 79,641
Property tax - 8,425 7,251
Rent - 393 -
Repairs and maintenance - 44,426 31,923
Salaries and benefits - 819,810 831,026
Supplies - 119,645 56,295
Telephone - 13,837 12,635
Travel - 21,535 21,241
Utilities - 65,875 61,219
Vehicle - 3,146 4,576

- 4,843,522 3,721,092

Operating surplus (deficit) - 810,663 (113,778)

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year - (3,218,007) (3,104,229)

Accumulated deficit, end of year - (2,407,344) (3,218,007)
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The Chehalis River with Kwe-kwech-um mountain in the distance. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
HEALTH DIRECTOR

As your new Health Director, it is an honor to present this Annual Health Report for 2016/17.  The 

information here reflects the programs and services that were under the direction of our former Health 

Director and respected elder, Siyamex ~ Virginia Peters, who recently retired.  As you will see in this report, 

Ginny, along with the Health team had a busy and successful year!

Sts’ailes Health is here to serve the people by delivering culturally appropriate and professional services 

under a holistic approach.  Health administers programs in several areas:  Professional medical Services, 

Recreation, Youth, Elders, and Culture.  We strive to be letse’mot by working together as a dynamic team 

within Health and in collaboration with other departments and outside agencies.  We have much to be 

proud of as a progressive First Nation.  Way to go Sts’ailes!

While continuing to provide effective Health services, we must keep abreast with the ever-changing world 

of science, technology, and health standards.  Under the direction of Sts’ailes Chief and Council, and in 

accordance with the Comprehensive Community Plan, we must follow the vision of Sts’ailes.  And with the 

support from First Nations Health Authority and other funding agencies, we must work within the funding 

capacity of our Flexible Health Transfer agreement.  

In addition to keeping up with the times and following the direction of our Vision, it is imperative that 

Health does its utmost in the area of PREVENTION.  This includes the delivery of services that impede 

the onslaught of medical and mental health issues, and promote WELLNESS, such as Recreation, Culture, 

Nutrition, and Healthy Living.  In fact, Council has recently given further direction to focus on prevention, 

with special attention to Youth and Recreation.  Stay tuned for further developments and an increase in 

programs and services that support prevention.

With Ginny’s retirement, a new CAO, and structural changes, Health is in transition.  Nonetheless, we 

are committed to follow the brilliant vision of Sts’ailes and to provide the most effective and culturally 

appropriate services for the Health and Wellness of the community.

I am truly honored to serve the people and to carry the responsibility as Health Director and I am ever so 

blessed to be a part of this dynamic team.  As we say in Health, “Teamwork makes the dream work!”

I hope you enjoy this report!

With Love and Respect, 

 

JANICE GEORGE  |  Nauness 
Health Director
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SPECIAL TRIBUTE TO SIYAMEX: VIRGINIA PETERS

HEALTH
HEALTH & FAMILY SERVICES RECREATION TELMEXW AWTEXW

HEALTH

Below is a condensed version from Boyd Peter’s words delivered March 30, 2017 at a celebration to honor Virginia 
Peters for her 40+ years of dedicated service to Sts’ailes.

Virginia received her education at Chehalis Indian Day School, St. Mary’s Residential School and Agassiz Senior 
Secondary School.  Most of her teachings were learned on-the-job.  

She is a wonderful role model and example of an Aboriginal Woman living in modern times. She knows the meaning 
of living in two worlds. She lives very much within the boundaries of Traditions and Spirituality passed down through 
the Circles of Time and taught to her by her beloved Mother, Elders and Leaders. 

While small in stature, her accomplishments are larger than life. Her humility and grace are a constant “marker” for 
how she presents herself to those who know her, those who work with her and those who love her.

Virginia’s “Work of Life” began as a dedicated volunteer assisting Sts’ailes Chief and Council in the late 1960’s and 
early 1970’s. She began Community Services in 1960 by being involved with:  Religion (Church) Committee, Spiritual 
Longhouse, Youth Group Leader, Youth Dance Group Leader, Sts’ailes School Committee/Board, Band Councillor 
(4 terms), Band Chief (1 term), and Social Development Portfolio (Sto:lo Tribal Council).  She also served on the 
volunteer fire department. We all know how good ladies are at putting out fires. 

(1975) While the men were out logging, it was the women who were the heart of the Sts'ailes Fire Department.

HEALTH
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She became the first Sts’ailes employee. Band Council hired her as a Secretary/Bookkeeper. She 
worked out of Bill William’s house. Once the Band grew and developed, Ginny took positions as the 
Accountant and Band Liaison Officer. Sts’ailes has grown progressively over the decades and now 
employs over 300 people annually.  So she is truly a pioneer and made a lot of tracks to fill.  

Sts’ailes Band Council, by resolution provided a mandate to the Chehalis Health Committee 
to guide the design, delivery and evaluation of health and social service programs. The Health 
Committee was the first committee of council. The governance structure now incorporates 
committees for all ten band council portfolios. Around this time the organization also moved into 
the management team structure.  

Ginny was hired as the Health Transfer Program Coordinator. She developed a Community Health 
Program Plan and was involved with the negotiations with Health Canada for the transfer of health 
services to Sts’ailes 

In 1999, Sts’ailes held a Cultural Celebration and signed the first Five Year Health Transfer 
Agreement. Highlights of early program development included Elder’s Centre, Child and Family 
Services, Head Start, Child Day Care and the development of a fully functioning Home Care 
Program. The ceremony was held at the elders building, Te Lede Lalem.

Virginia is a strong believer that culture and spirituality are our strength. The Sts’ailes culture 
committee was first formed under the Health Department to carry out ceremonies on behalf of  
the Band. The Culture Committee is now comprised of all departments. 

The Sts’ailes Community Health Program was given the Halq’eméylem name “Eyem Mestiyexw 
Kwo:l Te Shxweli Temexw” which translated means Strong People from Birth to Spirit Life”

Sts’ailes signed their first Ten Year Flexible Transfer Agreement with Health Canada which would 
guide delivery of health services to Sts’ailes residents in the year’s 2009-2019. Sts’ailes was the first 
Non-Treaty First Nation to sign a Ten Year Agreement and the second First Nation to sign a Ten 
Year Flexible Agreement. 

Sto:lo won the bid at the 34th Annual BC Elders Gathering at Salmon Arm to host the Gathering 
for 2011.  Qwa Honn (Johnny) and Virginia were selected at the time to be the King and Queen for 
the 35th Annual Elders gathering. It was held at Abbotsford Tradex on July 2011.  The Theme was 
"Qepothet ye Mestiyexw - Bringing People Together". "Honoring our ancestors through our elders & 
recognizing our future through our youth". It was uncommon to have single elders be the King and 
Queen. They were proud and strong ambassador’s for the Elders gathering.  

Virginia will continue on as a FNHDA Interim Elder Advisor! An Honoring Ceremony was held on September 28, 
2016, during the Gala Dinner at the Annual General Meeting to welcome Virginia into this new role.

HEALTH

Thank you Siyamex for your guidance, your wisdom 

and your humility. You have earned your retirement; 

the next step in this wonderful journey. Slow down, 

enjoy yourself and more time with family.  Enjoy 

hobbies, travel and maybe time for Casino too, 

Native Sports, Cultural & Spiritual gatherings and 

dance the rest of your life.

You are a Living Saint and a Queen. You have 

shown us how to walk this journey, how to connect, 

identify and blend the best of both worlds. And you 

have shown us what is possible when Hearts, Minds 

and Spirits work together - the true meaning of 

Letse’mot.  

HEALTH

Virginia (Ginny) was one of the founding FNHDA Board members. She has committed the past 6 years to the creation and 
development of the Association. The Board relies on her, based on her many years of experience in the field and different roles she 
has held, and as a Health Director.  She retired in March from her role as Secretary-Treasurer for the FNHDA Board of Directors.   
She will also do contract work for CSC as an Elder. So she is not going to slow down completely,  
as if that were possible.  At least she won’t have to work the long hours and take her work home with her. 
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COUNCIL

HEALTH DIRECTOR Janice George

EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT 
Leilani Francis

Kandice Charlie
David Peters
Sarah Kinshella
Aggie Charlie

HEALTH COMMITTEECOUNCIL PORTFOLIO
Daryl Francis

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT
Sonya Williams

SPECIAL PROJECTS

COMMUNITY HEALTH MANAGER & SENIOR CHN
Marg Hamilton

Home & Community Care Nurse / CHN
Jasmine Frye

Community Health Nurse
Sam Noizadan

Home Support Attendants
Jessie Joe (FT)
Loretta Felix (FT)

Community Health Rep. & Elder Support
Claudette Leon

Visiting Professionals

Massage Therapist
Sarah Kinshella

Nurse Practitioner
Sarah Kinshella

Physician
Sarah Kinshella

COMMUNITY WELLNESS MANAGER

Community Wellness Coordinator
Margaret Charlie

Alcohol & Drug Counsellor
Brenda Pierre

Contracted Psychologist

Telmexw Awtexw

Administrative Assistant
Sarah Kinshella

Counselling Team
Daryl Francis
SueAnn Phillips
David Peters

Cultural Worker
Cyril Paul

Optometrist
Dr. Ahmend

Psychiatrist
Dr. Benning

Foot Clinic/Foot Massage

Dorothy Peters (PT)
Denise Point (PT)

Health & Family Services organizational chart
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DEPT. MANAGER  

Marg Hamilton 

Skemiliya

Marg Hamilton, the Community Health Manager & Senior Community Health Nurse, has 
dedicated her career to working for Sts’ailes for many years.  She manages the Community Health 
services that are delivered to our people as outlined in this section.

COMMUNITY HEALTH

Visiting Professionals

Professional Massuse 
Sarah Doyle, Dipl, ST
Every Monday    
(8 Clients / week)

Adult Hearing 
Crystal Hearing & Vision
3 – 4 times per year 
(14 Clients)

Psychiatrist 
Dr. Benning
Every other Friday 
(7 Clients / week)

Nurse Practitioner 
Lianjing Cui
Every Thursday    
(7 Clients / week)

Podiatrist 
Becky Wiebe
19 clinics held   
(8 Clients)

Dental Therapist 
Brenda Isaac
Annual Schedule

Family Physician 
Dr. Beaulieu
Every Wednesday  
(20 Clients / week)

Mammography  
(for women 40 – 79) 
Annual
(40 Clients)

Optometrist 
Dr. Ahmed
5 – 6 times per year 
(30 Clients)

Children and Youth

Parents and Babies (Maternal Child Health)

This program provides opportunities for expecting/new moms and dads to learn about healthy 
food choices for pregnancy and for building healthy babies.  Fourteen families participated during 
the reporting year.  We offer support to families attending pre/postnatal sessions and provide each 
family with a Car Seat, Gift Bag, baby supplies, and Monthly nutrition gift cards.  The program also 
offers up to date information about healthy pregnancy, newborn care and safety, breastfeeding, 
postpartum changes, parenting in the first six weeks, and more. The program has a demonstrated 
success rate and we are always interested in hearing from the community about any expectant 
mothers so that we can offer this valuable service.

Children’s Oral Health Initiative (COHI)

Our CHR, Claudette Leon, and Dental Therapist, Brenda Isaac, provide the COHI Program for 
children ages birth to seven.  To reduce the need for clinical intervention due to poor dental 
hygiene, the team delivers the following services:

• Screening, sealants, varnishing and temporary fillings 
• Educational sessions for parent(s)
• Educational contests with the school to promote good snacks, read labels and track sugar count 

and dental “gift bags” 

HEALTH

Healthy Living (Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention)

Diabetes Program

Our team of Diabetes experts provide this effective program for community members living with 
this chronic, but manageable disease.  Quality of life for is achieved by reaching and maintaining 
good control of blood sugar levels.  Educational sessions promote the prevention, care and 
treatment of Diabetes and/or complications associated with the condition and learning how to 
manage through Lifestyle guides.  This service includes information sharing about Nutrition, Natural 
Medicines, Healthy Living, and Prevention.  We also offer footcare/massage, Diabetes screening, 
and other supports.

Health Protection

Communicable Disease Control:  Tuberculosis (TB) services are delivered to the community 
every two years.  All Sts’ailes Staff are required to be screened.  We also provide testing at Sts’ailes 
Community School at the opening of the new school year, and to clients entering addictions 
treatment services. 

Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI) and Blood Borne Diseases (BBD)

Vaccine Preventable Disease: Immunization Services:

• The primary focus for immunization is infants, toddlers, preschoolers and school aged children.  
• Gift bags are given to babies receiving immunization.
• Community wide vaccination services are delivered across all age groups, seasonally and in 

response to outbreak within/near our community.  

Primary Health Care

First Nations and Inuit Home and Community Care/Phase 3 (FNIHCC/PH3): Sts’ailes Health 
delivers home and community care services to residents of all ages affected by acute or chronic 
illnesses, physical or emotional challenges and care and support to Elders. 

Home Care services provided to clients living on reserve are coordinated with other health services 
within the community and with those of off reserve service providers, namely physicians, hospitals, 
clinics, specialists, biomedical labs, pharmacy, physiotherapy, intermediate and long term care 
facilities, home health supplies and equipment businesses and services of the Red Cross Loan 
Cupboard.

Assessments and reassessments by Jasmine Frye, our Home Care Nurse (HCN) are required to 
determine client needs. Two full-time and one part-time Home Support Attendants are assigned to 
provide services according to the assessments made by the HCN. 

A Home Care Service Manual was created and delivered to those receiving the Home Support 
Attendants services.

HEALTH



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT76 77HEALTH

Hours of Service to an Average of Fifteen Clients

Assisted Living:     975.75 hours
Personal Care:     1,055.50 hours
Nursing Services:    280.25 hours
Case Management:    10.75 hours
Total Hours of Services:    2,322 hours 
 
Elders Program 

We deliver a diversity of programs and services to the Elders of Sts’ailes, which includes  
the following:

• Monthly Luncheon/meeting – Average 15 attended
• Vial of Life Program (partnership with BC Ambulance Service)
• Respite Care Day – Once a week
• Pamper Day (formerly known as Adult Day Program) – 4 times per year. 
• Foot Care – 19 clinics were held
• Harvesting outings (cedar, medicines, berries, etc)
• Honoring Elders and Welcoming Newcomers – 140 attended
• Annual Elders Conference
• Outings to Elders events in other communities
• Annual Christmas Celebration
• Plus other supports to Elders as needed 

Health Benefits

Non-Insured Health Benefits (NIHB): Medical Transportation, Special Transportation and Special 
Needs Medical Equipment is provided to clients based on need.  We offer gas vouchers for 
attending medical appointments, support for travelling to special appointments, and on occasion, 
rides to appointments for clients who do not have access to transportation.  We also support our 
clients in obtaining special medical needs and equipment through NIHB.

Environmental Health Services

Sts’ailes Health services and Environmental Health services partner together to monitor 
environmental risks and supports activities such as:

• Food Safety Certificate 
• Facilities and Health Inspections
• Housing inspection and corrective recommendations
• Transportation of Dangerous Goods
• Sts’ailes Emergency Preparedness Plan (EPP)
• Drinking Water Safety and sewage - sampling is conducted weekly with 87 samples taken this 

year by our CHR and supported by Capital and Public Works

(Note: Data 

entry low over 

Oct-Dec 2016 

as CHR was 

away)

HEALTH

PROGRAM LEAD  

Claudette Leon 

Xen nun te mot

There are three main Elder events coordinated by the Health Department and led by Claudette 
Leon, Community Health Representative (CHR) and the team. The community elders are invited 
to several cultural events and other community celebrations as we aim to improve the quality of life 
for our precious Elders and to offer them fun and informative programs.

Elder’s Honoring and Welcoming New Comers

Sts’ailes cares for Elders and New Babies every year in a cultural ceremony where we cover them 
with love, honor and strength.  In 2016 we were blessed to honor the following individuals:

ELDERS PROGRAM

ELDERS 
Lloyd Charlie
Dwayne Commodore
Alexander Paul – Wika
Vera Goldsworthy Point   

Sister Kitty (Retirement honoring)

BABIES
Skyler Paul (Tyler & Holly)
Aleck Louis (JJ & Amanda)
Sebastian Point (Justin Point)
Mabel Point 

Elder’s Gathering July 2016

This year the Elder’s Conference was held in Williams Lake with 18 people covered under the 
Elders Gathering Health Program and Health department Elders fundraising.  We are able to offer 
this service, fully funded by our First Nations Health Authority funding arrangement.

Attendance:  Elders – Virginia Peters, Patricia & William Charlie, Karen & Larry Shaw, Harvey & 
Barb Paul, Beverly George, Rose Charlie, Deanna Johnson, Paulette Phillips and Hoss Phillips, 
Drummers & Helpers - Troy Charlie, Boyd & Alysia Peters, JJ & Amanda, Ron Modeste Jr. and 
Leilani Francis.  Other community members also attended on their own.
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A special Thank You to Ronald Modeste for his volunteerism in joining the group as an additional 
drummer for Sts’ailes grand entry.  

Transportation and Meals:  Five private vehicles plus the Health van were used for this trip with 
four receiving a fuel allowance.  Eighteen received a meal allowance to cover meals on the way up 
and on the return trip back home.  Considerations for health needs were made in granting the use 
of personal vehicles.  

Two separate trips took place during this week.  The Elders Harvest/Trade Trip left on Tuesday, July 
12 for Kamloops.  On July 13, a small group from the Elder’s Conference trip joined up with the 
second group in Kelowna to leave the next morning picking up fruit in Keremeos on the way home.  
See Report on Elders Harvest/Trade Trip by Claudette Leon, CHR.

Highlights of Program:  The Elders enjoyed a wild-west rodeo the first night at the Elders 
conference.  On the following day Elders joined in for the Grand Entry of First Nations.   
Thank you to Claudette for sewing/repairing the Sts’ailes banner.  Wednesday evening our Elders 
put on their cowboy hats to have fun at a western country dance!  Next year the gathering will be 
held in Campbell River, BC.

Elder’s Christmas Luncheon 2016

The Sts’ailes Elders Christmas Luncheon was a fabulous success!  The food, company, 
entertainment, and help was awesome!  We set up for 150 people and every seat was taken by our 
Sts’ailes elders plus  elders from Scowlitz, Seabird, Squiala, Coqualeetza, Chawathil, Katzie, etc. 
The reviews and feedback were heart warming.

HEALTH

A special thanks to:

• Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem – the cooks for preparing a delicious turkey dinner and to Dwayne 
and Vi for always being such great helpers.

• Sts’ailes Community School – Miss Joseph and the older students who were very mindful and 
respectful helping with set up, hosting, serving elders, registration, and raffles.

• Councilor Tim Felix – for always doing his best to make himself available to pick up and drive 
our elder’s home. Plus he is always willing to MC at a moment’s notice. A gifted speaker.

• Snowoyelh Ladies Group – for making over 75 snow men for giveaways. They were so cute!

• Mikhail Crispin – Who set up the photo booth and took many group pictures of our beautiful 
elders so they had a keep sake to remember the special day.

• Sts’ailes Culture Class – Vange and her students for their short skit and Christmas Caroling. It’s 
great to see and hear our younger generations learning the language and our traditional songs.

• Social Development – for purchasing gifts for our Sts’ailes elders.  It’s so nice to give a little bit 
back to them.

• Adam Balfour - for always lugging the heavy P.A. equipment so people can hear our MC.

• Health – for sponsoring this event every year for our dear elders.

• Those who donated door prizes so many lucky winners go home happy campers.

These events take a lot of team work and I am so grateful to those who come forward to help when 
it is really needed. You help make these events a big success. 

O siyam!!

Other Elder Programs Include:

• Monthly meetings are held where guests can come and share health information
• Rice World in Vancouver field trip
• Neighboring communities field trips
• Harvesting at least once per month in season
• Fruit for canning with some being canned for program meals
• Elders are using money from fundraising to purchase fruit 
• A trip was planned to trade materials that Sts’ailes area grows for materials that grow up country 

(Kamloops and Kelowna round trip)
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PROGRAM LEAD  

Margaret Charlie 

K'ema

After School Program 

This is a dynamic program run by Margaret Charlie and Michael Daly, our Sport and Recreation 
Leader.  Afterschool care is provided daily for children aged 5-12 between the hours of 2:45pm and 
4:30 pm at the Community Wellness Centre.  We have a regular attendance of around 20 children 
daily.  We also open the program for when there is school closures.

We had 38 children registered for the Spring Break Program!  Activities included, Crochet Lessons, 
Cedar bark Weaving, Swimming, Tubing at Hemlock, Drum Making/ Slahal, and Yoga.

Summer Recreation Program 

Through SASET funding and collaboration with our May:t Department, we offer Summer 
employment to high school students.  In 2016 we enjoyed having 11 students to help support the 
Summer Recreation Program.  For some of the students this was their first summer job and didn’t 
know what to expect.  We also hired Michael Daly as an assistant to the Community Wellness 
Centre Coordinator. The Staff planned a 7 week program for the 2016 Summer Program and 45 
children registered to attend. The following were some of the events and outings throughout the 7 
weeks:

• Family Trees with Shirley Leon
• Stolo Childrens Festival
• Beach Days - Kilbys, Harrison Lake, Hicks Lake
• Magician - Great Gordini
• Playland
• Science World
• Chilliwack Wave Pool
• Bridal Falls Water Park
• Extreme Air Park 
• Fish Canning

COMMUNITY WELLNESS

HEALTH

Spring Break (March 20-31 2017)

We hosted the Spring Break program and for 16-29 children who joined us for the two weeks of 
activities.  This was a fun program of swimming, meat preservation, tubing, movies, hiking, Get 
Air Abbotsford, plus crafts and activities at the Community Wellness Center.  The group also 
participated in some valuable cultural teaching moments at Stelmexw Stl’awatwx ceremony, the 
Swearing in of Chief and Council and the meat preservation program.

Evening Programs

During the week the Community Wellness Centre is open from 8:30am-9:00pm and we host a 
number of different programs on each evening such as:

• Adult Drop in Hockey
• Youth Drop in Hockey
• Youth Drop in Indoor Soccer
• Family Nights
• Movie Nights 
• 21 day Fix Work Out Program 

Community Programs

Aboriginal Run Walk Jog Program

On April 8, 2016 we hosted a 10k celebration walk and lunch to celebrate the 13 week Aboriginal 
Run, Walk, Jog Program that is cohosted with the Aboriginal Sport Med BC.  This year we had over 
30 people from Sts’ailes sign up and we had 27 of them complete the 13 week program. 

Community Events 

UN-Halloween Bash

Nov 30, 2016 we hosted a Un- Halloween Bash!   200 community member attended and enjoyed 
this festive even including a costume parade, prizes, fireworks, food, candy, and lots of happy 
families.

Honoring Sts’ailes Athletes 

It is important that we recognize the achievements of our Sts’ailes athletes who compete in a wide 
range of activities such as Soccer, Canoeing, Hockey, Dance, Martial Arts, Snowboarding, etc.  
These activities are vital to prevention of health problems.  

On March 1, 2017 we hosted the Honoring Sts’ailes Athletes at the Community Wellness Centre 
and approximately 70 people attended the dinner and presentation.  Our very own Snowboarding 
Team presented information about their team and accomplishments.  Andy Phillips Jr. also spoke 
to the youth about his journey through school and playing soccer.  
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Family Fun Day 2016

The goal of Family Fun Day is strictly fun!  This year attracted about 300 members who enjoyed all 
the free family fun.  We have about 40 volunteers who come together to make this event possible 
for the families of Sts’ailes.  Attractions included: Popcorn, Cotton Candy, Snow Cones, Hot Dogs, 
Chips, 7 large Bouncy Castles, Dunk Tank, and the Elders Bingo/ Tea Time in the Community 
Wellness Centre. 

Sts’ailes Youth Soccer Tournament 2016

Our 16th Annual Sts’ailes Youth Soccer Tournament was a successful event once again this year.  
We hosted a total of 28 teams from the following communities:  Musqueam, Seabird, Squamish, 
Sechelt, Sto:lo , Lil’wat, Scowlitz and Fraser Valley Selects. This event is one of the largest events 
we host and it takes the whole organization to help chip in and volunteer their time to ensure that 
this event is successful for all people who travel here to bring the spirit of soccer here to Sts’ailes. 

Teamwork makes the Dream Work!

Honoring Athletes Speakers (L-R) Andy Phillips Jr & Jan CharlieSts'ailes Youth Tournament

Sts'ailes Youth Tournament

Summer Recreation ProgramSummer Recreation Program Summer Recreation Program

Summer Recreation Program

Summer Recreation Program

HEALTH

DEPT. MANAGER  

Grace Cunningham 

Kuyawilhot

Telmexw Awtexw is a name given to us from our respected elders which means “Medicine House 
for more than one person”.  This Healing Centre is located in Sts’ailes and funded through First 
Nations Health Authority. It has been governed by the Sts’ailes Health department; and has 
recently been transferred under Snowoyelh.  This Centre provides much assistance to both on 
reserve and off reserve individuals who are seeking support with day treatment initiatives and 
programs.  Our curriculum will assist clients in understanding how to deal with trauma. 

The center currently operates a day treatment program for those suffering with addictions, mental 
health issues, grief and loss, as well as any issue that may cause anxiety, depression, or may be in 
need of someone to share with. This program includes transportation to and from our beautiful, 
serene and healing location.

We have 3 Community Wellness Workers that assist in the orientation of clients, follow up and 
support of clinical decisions and interventions. The Support Workers provide cultural healing 
workshops on a weekly basis.  The support varies from individual to individual and is determined by 
client centered goals.  We offer counselling services for substance use and addiction issues, as well 
as mental health wellness.  All support focuses on the root causes, not symptoms. 

Day Treatment Program

 We currently run a 12-week Day Treatment program that is open to all men and women. We 
have an application process that determines client needs, and assessment that begins the healing 
practices.  We provide transportation and meals.  Our program is designed to take a client on a 
journey from ‘health to understanding’ and incorporate holistic, cultural teachings.   One on one 
support is available weekdays by appointment.  Aspects of Day Treatment include the following:

• Relapse Prevention
• Self-Care Planning and Life Skills
• Traditional and Cultural sharing (drumming and singing
• Stress Management
• Conflict Resolution
• Boundaries and Communication  
• Medicine Wheel teachings 
• Meditation and Mindfulness techniques
• Smudging, sharing circles, spiritual cleansing and sweat lodge
  
Grief and Loss Programs for families

This weekly program is intended for Sts’ailes community participants who have experienced a 
significant loss of someone or something. This four to eight weekly program is for those who have 
unresolved Grief that is impacting their life, which can lead to the following symptoms:

• Anger, depression, sadness, despair, isolation, guilt, absentmindedness, shame, exhaustion, 
mood swings

TELMEXW AWTEXW
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• Numbness, tightness in throat, heaviness in chest
• Difficulty sleeping, restlessness 
• Loss of appetite, stress eating
• Social media venting
 
Men’s program 

The Men’s Group is open to all Sts’ailes men as well as neighboring First Nation Communities.  The purpose of 
the Men’s Group is to promote wellness within our communities.  12 men took part in this program. Some issues 
addressed in the men’s group are:  substance misuse, addiction, health, self-esteem, grief & loss.  This program has 
grown significantly since its origin. We will continue to support the men on their journey and provide opportunities 
for growth and health. 

Kwikwexwelhp program

This program honours the partnership we share with the Kwikwexwelhp healing village and Corrections Services 
Canada.  Telmexw staff provided two 12-week recovery programs on site for the men.  The Clients were able to focus 
on holistic cultural healing practices.  Through incorporating cultural healing practices, and western counselling 
practices the men are able to broaden their recovery process.  We look forward to continuing this partnership in the 
upcoming year. 

Events

Attending and hosting annual events is a great way to bring community together and share our culture with clients.  
Participants have an opportunity to see firsthand how culture is cherished here in Sts’ailes.  Clients participated in 
the following activities:

• Gathered sage and Grandfather rocks
• Open House on site in April 2016
• Soccer Tournament April 2016
• Cedar Harvesting May 2016
• Break the Silence Forum June 2016
• Sts’ailes Days June 2016
• Puberty Camp July 2016

• Rites of Passage Ceremony July 2016
• Hosted Canoe Journey participants July 2016
• Family Fun day September 2016
• National Aboriginal Addiction Awareness Week 
• Community Christmas events December 2016
• Unity Prayer  

Training

Staff have had some wonderful training opportunities over the last year.  Providing access to enhanced learning 
allows staff to better support clients and solid development of cultural, and healing programs. 

• Grief and Loss training, Chilliwack Hospice
• Lateral Violence webinar
• Hope, Help and Healing sessions in Seabird 
• Ida John, Traditional medicines
• Gathering our Wisdom conference 

• Roots of Trauma training 
• Motivational Interviewing 
• Emergency preparedness
• ASIST Training 
 

HEALTH

HEALTH INITIATIVES 

Emergency Preparedness Plan (EPP)

The EPP is a comprehensive procedural plan for use in the unfortunate event of an emergency the affects our 
Community.  Chief Harvey Paul was the Emergency Coordinator with Daryl Francis as his back-up for 2016 - 
2017.  Thanks to Susan Balfour, Proposal Writer, we received some funding to revise the EPP manual and train the 
volunteers.

Training completed:  

• EM100 – Intro to Emergency Management in Canada
• ICS100 – Intro to Incident Command
• EOC110 – Intro to Emergency Operation s Centres (EOC)
• Table top exercise (Mock emergency)
• Twelve people received the training 

For more information about Emergency 
Preparedness please see the links below:

• Public Safety Canada’s website on 
emergency preparedness: www.
GetPrepared.ca

• www.shakeoutbc.ca 

Hope, Help and Healing protocol (HHH) 

The Sts’ailes Suicide/Sudden Death Protocol Strategies committee has been working on developing a cultural 
protocol. The committee has met four times and will continue to address the protocol initiative throughout 
the upcoming year.  It has been developed by the Hope, Help and Healing (HHH) Committee of Sts’ailes, in 
collaboration with other community partners.

The response team and protocol hopes to address both suicide and sudden death (crisis) within the Sts’ailes 
community.  This committee will continue to work on this protocol as a means to best support our community.

Cultural / Spiritual / Other

Culture Committee is made up of representatives from each of the 10 departments and is administered through 
Health.  Monthly Culture Committee meetings take place to plan events, ceremonies, celebrations.  Below are some 
of the events that take place during the year.

2016

Spiritual Brushing of Administration Office by Elder Wika, Alex Paul 
First Salmon Ceremony
East Sector Opening @ HHS 
Sts’ailes Aboriginal Day Celebration @ Palexal (Chehalis River Canyon)
Sasquatch Days @ HHS
Pulling Together Canoe Journey
Trio Bremner Ground Blessing
Fisheries Title Case Celebration @ main beach
Elder’s Luncheon & Sam Noizidan, CHN Farewell

Apr 7  
Apr 19 
Jun 17 
Jun 21 
Jun 25 & 26 
Jul 7 to 11 
Aug 5 
Aug 24 
Sep 2 
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Elder Gravediggers Honored - Doug Commodore, Terry 
Felix, Jerry Joe (Pa), Mervin Felix and Jason Felix

Up-coming Gravediggers - Michael Peters, Steven Charlie, 
Terrence Antone, James Antone and Joshua Francis-Henry

Ginny Peters Honoring 40+ years of service.

Sep 22
Oct 13  
Oct 17
Nov 29 

2017

Feb 6 
Feb 17 
Feb 24
Mar 13 
Mar 29 
Mar 30 

Gravediggers Honoring  

Land Tour w/Sonny McHalsie & Health Staff
Fall Burning @ End of Sachem 
 Stelmexw Stl axwtxw @ Charlie Longhouse
Gravediggers Honoring

Halq’emeylem Language Level One Program 
Stronger Together – Cultural Day (drum & sing)
Lha:lt Harrison - Chehalis Wildlife Management Area Signing Ceremony @ Lhawathet
Cultural Protocols Forum, 1-4 @ Charlie Longhouse
Spring Burning @ Sachem Rd
Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw Celebration of Achievements & Virginia Peters retirement
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HOUSING

DEPT. MANAGER  

Sherry Point 

Chemaylem Taunaut

I am pleased to report and provide detail of some pretty exciting initiatives that occurred in the last 
fiscal year in Housing; this is probably the biggest funded year that Housing has seen since God 
knows when!

Our Sts’ailes Housing Crew and our local contractor, Dale Wenman, have been extremely busy with 
the completion of 38 major renovation units (listed below with costs). Four new homes have also 
been constructed through the CMHC process (detail provided below).

Units were allocated to: Mike & Dawn Leon, Larry & Tracey Peters, Corey & Kandice Charlie and 
Stephanie Phair & Family.  (Please note, these individuals were either good tenants in standing with 
Sts’ailes Housing or have no receivables owing to Sts’ailes.)  Nations Construction & Contracting 
has done another amazing job this last year with the completion of the 4 new homes.

Congratulations to those mentioned, along with, Thelma & Dale Wenman who recently bought out 
their former band rental unit!

DEPARTMENT HIGHLIGHTS

• Micro Housing for Singles - Housing will also be looking into micro housing for singles  
(10 units this fiscal year)

• Sale of existing Band rental units in the last 10 years – 8 homes 

• CMHC Section 95 (Social Housing/Project #7 – 5807 Sachem Rd/Unit (s) 1,2,3 &4 : As of  
May 2017, this mortgage has  been paid in full; these units will now revert into Band rental units, 
which rentals rates are set, rather than the  rates being based on household income.

• Elders Emergency Budget - Council approved $.01 per liter revenue (store gas markup) 
(capped at $15K/year) to be allocated to our Elders who meet the criteria for housing 
emergency repairs.

Welcome Aboard! The New Housing/CPW Committee consists of the following individuals:   
 
Portfolio Holder  
Chad Paul

Committee Members  
Mikhail Crispin 
Janice George 
Jewel Francis

HOUSING HOUSING

• Housing is and has been operating within budget for years!

• First Nation Market Housing – Housing is nearing the final approval stages of 
our application to First Nation Market Housing: this is another lending source 
for Community members who are interested in either new construction or 
renovations/repairs at a lower interest rate and is an open loan process.

• Housing waiting list for rental units – Did you know that the Housing waiting 
list is based on a ‘Priority rating for Tenants (Score system). Individuals on our 
housing waiting list are required to submit annual requests; this will ensure 
that they are still requiring or seeking a rental unit.

• Health Canada Fact - Did you know that rats need water to survive?  If not, 
please ensure you check your outside taps for leaks and that there are no 
dog/pet dishes of water left out for them to feed off of or not to leave dog 
or cat food in the open; Not to mention, not to leave garbage that is not 
enclosed.

• Intersting fact: Tea bags can be used throughout your home for the 
prevention of spiders from the forming webs.(crazy but, true) 

If you’re interested in new construction (whether it be individually owned or 
CMHC social housing, or if you have anything you’d like to know about Housing, 
feel free to either pop by the office, call or email Housing.

• Housing has constructed 29 new homes in 

the last 10 years. 

• Housing has applied for an additional 32 

homes to be renovated for the upcoming 

year (2017/2018) 

• Housing will be applying for an additional 

4 units in the upcoming fiscal year (CMHC 

Section 95 / Social Housing)

On-Reserve Housing Statistics

Band 
Rental 
Units

68

Indiviually 
Owned

106

Social 
Housing

7

Total 
Community 

Homes

181
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FUNDED PROJECTS & COSTS ALLOCATED TO UNITS

Stay tuned for more updates as they arise. Until next time, take care of yourselves and your families.

Utmost Respect, 
Sherry Point  |  Housing Manager  

Nations Construction & Contracting has done another amazing job this last year with the completion of the 4 new homes.

INAC (Mold Renovations) – 8 Units $167,658

INAC (Non Mold/Regular renovations) -  8 Units $66,800

INAC (Additional 2 units) regular renovations) $24,470

CMHC - RRAP Renovations – 6 Units Approved (less house fire loss- ($15,940) $91,867.60

INAC Federal Funding (Special Initiative) 8 Units $196,065

CMHC – Federal Budget – Retro fit Initiative (4 units) $59,200.67

CMHC/INAC (Section 95-Social Housing Subsidy) $97,  INAC subsidies - 4 New Homes  
TOTAL FUNDING ALLOCATED

$691,339.67

CMHC SECTION 95 SOCIAL HOUSING/ANTCO LOAN $676,979

TOTAL PROJECT COST $774,255

TOTAL HOUSING PROJECTS, INCLUDING FUNDING $1,465 594.67

HOUSING
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
MA:YT DIRECTOR

It is with pleasure that I present our 2016-2017 Ma:yt department annual report. The Ma:yt 

department is comprised of the Human Resource (HR), Administration, Employment Assistance 

Services (EAS) and Social Development (SD). The annual report is a reflection of our key 

activities and successes for the 2016 – 2017 fiscal year.  

I am so excited to introduce our new department name “Ma:yt” which means to help, defend, 

protect and aid. All of employee’s under the Ma’yt department are frontline workers that provide 

supports services to all Sts’ailes community members and all Sts’ailes employees. 

One of the most fundamental, yet foundational changes for our department is the way we view 

our client base and service delivery model. This commitment is reflected in our new “Vision and 

Mission statement”, which will always remind us of who we are here to serve. The creation of our 

Vision and Mission statement continues to guide us as we enhance our delivery service models.

The employees of the Ma:yt department are as follows:

VISION STATEMENT
“To lead frontline services to empower; educate, support and guide our people 

to self-sufficiency for a holistic successful future”

MISSION STATEMENT

“We are committed to enhance the foundation of Sts’ailes by promoting  
communication, innovation, accountability and partnerships.”

IT Network Administrator 
Adam Balfour

IT Assist/Web & Multimedia 
Mikhail Crispin

EAS Supervisor 
Shelley Felix

Career Dev. Practitioner 
Verna Leon

Career Dev. Practitioner 
Robin Chapman

Department Director 
Linda Pettis

Admin/Receptionist/I.R.A. 
Carla Charlie

SD Administrator 
Joanna Charlie

SD Assistant 
Holly Francis

IT Department Officer 
Mark Balfour

EAS Admin Support 
Stephanie Phair

E.A.S. Receptionist 
Lillie Joe 
Annabelle Williams
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The Human Resource department continues to develop systems and processes that addresses 

the strategic needs of the Sts’ailes organization.  The role of the Human Resource department 

is to support the goals and visions of Sts’ailes Chief and Council. HR is committed to provide 

professional, respectful services to our Directors/Managers/Officer of the Sts’ailes organization. 

HR continues to embark on new opportunities that will provide employment and training 

opportunities for Sts’ailes community members.

H.R. was successful in securing funding for employment and training initiatives through Sto:lo 

Aboriginal Skills Employment Training (SASET) and Service Canada.  The EAS employment 

priorities in 2016-2017 was building Sts’ailes community member’s employability skills in order for 

them to engage into the labour market.  

Three years ago it was agreed to connect the Social Development (SD) program with the EAS 

program.  This change has been extremely successful.  The connectivity of both programs 

created a support system that provided Social Development clients the resources and tools 

to do skill enhancement training in order to engage into employment opportunities that were 

arising on and off reserve.  Below is a graph that indicates the success of connecting the Social 

Development department with the EAS program:

I am so proud of the accomplishments the Social Development and EAS staff have been able 

to achieve over the years.  The success of connecting both programs has been acknowledged 

by Indian Northern Affairs Canada, Service Canada and Sto:lo Aboriginal Skills Employment 

Training. 

Success of connecting the Social Development Program with the EAS Program in 2014

2012

80

284

59

2013

89

285

46

2014

135

357

81

2015

197

396

56

2016

221

418

80

Employed Returned to School EAS Client Case Files

Innovative and collaborative practices are now explicitly embedded in the EAS and SD planning 

and operational activities. The EAS and SD staff are committed to creating a wide range of 

strategies to improve employment results and opportunities for Sts’ailes community members. 

Looking forward, we are proud of our commitment to continuing to build our already strong 

organizational capability and our culture of working collaboratively and innovatively to meet the 

employment and training needs for Sts’ailes community members.  

Human Resource department continues to ensure that the HR processes and systems support 

the Directors/Managers/Officers of the Sts’ailes organization.  This includes the annual updates 

of the Sts’ailes Personnel Policy and Procedures Manual and Salary Administration Policy/

Grid.  All Operating Policies of the Sts’ailes organization fall  in line with Federal and Provincial 

employment Legislation.  

Annual Review of the Human Resource Policy and Salary Administration Policy and Grid 

& 

Legal Aspects and Labour Market

Human Resource department to continue to provide professional supports services  

to the Sts’ailes organization and community.

Human Resource Strategy, planning and measures of effectiveness

Ma:yt department continues to work closely with nine departments within the Sts’ailes 

organization. Ma:yt Director supports all departments by seeking financial resources to support 

employment and training initiatives for all Sts’ailes employees.  Ma:yt Director  was successful in 

securing professional development dollars for eight Sts’ailes employees to enhance their skills.  

Design of core HR Processes such as:

• Strategic Workforce Planning

• Job Creation/Development

• Recruitment

• Employee Performance

• A standardize HR forms and processes

• Professional Development

• Negotiations of Extended Health 
Benefits

• File Management of HR 
Employee Personnel Files

• Job Descriptions
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The growth chart noted above includes the Sts’ailes Development Corporation (SDC). 

Ma:yt Director, EAS Supervisor continues to work closely with the CEO of SDC and Chief 

Administrative Officer (CAO) on employment opportunities that arise within the Sts’ailes 

traditional territory. 

The Social Development Administrator and the Ma:yt Director have been working closely 

to develop a brochure that will inform Sts’ailes families of the requirements and process for 

requesting funeral financial supports during the loss of a loved one on reserve or off reserve. 

In the new fiscal year the brochure will be available at the Social Development office and band 

office. 

 
I would like to acknowledge our portfolio holder Carla Charlie for her dedication and 
commitment in working with our team. Her knowledge and expertise has been vital in our 
department in achieving our goals and visions for this past fiscal year 2016-2017.   

Thank you Carla!

LINDA PETTIS 
Ma:yt Director

Sts'ailes Organization Employment Growth

Human Resource department continues to manage in access of 260+ employee personnel files. 

The employment growth within the Sts’ailes organization continues to grow. Below is a chart that 

will indicate the employment growth within the Sts’ailes organization:

2012 
Employees

2013 
Employees

2014 
Employees

2015 
Employees

2016 
Employees

301

327

316

306

320
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HUMAN RESOURCES I.T.ADMINISTRATION SOCIAL DEVELOPMENTEMPLOYMENT ASSISTANCE SERVICES

DEPT. SUPERVISOR  

Shelley Felix

Montah

MA:YT

MA:YT

The Sts’ailes Employment Assistance Services (EAS) is an employment based program; funded 
by Sts’ailes, Sto:lo Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy (ASETS) and Federal 
Government and Service Canada. This program is a strategically designed program that enables 
the CDP’s to assist in enhancing employability skills and training opportunities for Aboriginal people 
living in the catchment area.  

Sts’ailes EAS consists of 4 Certified Career Development Practitioners (CDP) and one receptionist 
to assistant the needs of client’s with skills development through educational or employment 
opportunities. Our goal is to assist each client in meeting and/or exceeding their career or 
educational path.

Programs available:   

• Employer focused programs
• Target Wage Subsidy 
• Work Based Training  
 
 
Services Offered:

• Computer and internet access 
• Education & Trades Training Information 
• Work Experience
• Photocopying and faxing 
• Life Skills Training Information 
• Job Placement
• Job post board 

• Student Career Placement
• Project Based Training
• Youth Initiative

• Career Planning 
• Environment
• Employment readiness 
• Labor Market Information  
• Resource Library
• Employment and Career Counselling 
• Job Search Strategies 

EMPLOYMENT ASSISTANCE SERVICES (EAS)

Sts’ailes Employment Assistance Services Staff

Blade Runners General Labourers

Sto:Lo Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training ,Sts’ailes Employment Assistance 
Services and Services Canada negotiated a partnership funding agreement to 
host a 3 week Blade Runners General Labourer Skills Enhancement Program 
to the Sts’ailes, Leqamel and Scowlitz community clients that are unemployed/
underemployed to enhance their employability skills and assist them in reenaging 
in the workforce.

The program included:

Certificates Recieved

• WHMIS Fall Protection
• Occupational First Aid Level I
• Traffic Control 
• Power and Hand Tool/Confined Spaces
• Counterbalance and Forklift & Power Pallet Jack 

Employability Skills Enhancedment

• True Colors & Change 
• Employability Skills and Employer Expectation 
• Resume Writing
• Coverletters

MA:YT
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13 Participants in the Program
 
Richard Paul  
Jay Charlie 
Maria Seymour
Tiffany Thomas 
Wesley Francis-Chapman 

Elizabeth Leon
Jasmine Paul 
Jacqueline Fairclough 
Sharon Parenteau
Amanda Seymour 

Cathy James 
Jonathon Louis 
Russell Point

Each student fully participated and enthusiasm was at its highest. The certificates that were obtained covers a wide range of 
employment opportunities from traffic control right through to a construction general laborer. 6 out of the 13 secured employment 
right after the program was complete. The other students are continually seeking meaningful employment and with the weather 
conditions improving there is a very high chance of securing employment with the contractors that work within the Sts’ailes traditional 
territory. 

MA:YT

AESS Students Spring Break Training

Sto:Lo Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training ,Sts’ailes 
Employment Assistance Services and Services Canada 
negotiated a partnership funding agreement to host 5 day 
Spring Break Training to assist students from the ages 15 and up 
in Skills Ehancement techniques to assist them with securing 
employment opportunities. 

The program included:

Certificates Recieved

• Food Safe 
• Occupational First Aid Level I
• Traffic Control 
• Power and Hand Tool/Confined Spaces
• Counterbalance and Forklift & Power Pallet Jack 

Employability Skills Enhancedment

• True Colors & Change 
• Employability Skills and Employer Expectation 
• Resume Writing
• Coverletters

Students in the Program

Carmen Paul 
Connor James 
Tyreese Leon
Eva Solomon 
Melinda Felix 
Brenden Leon
Hallie Wenman 
Mandy Felix 

Tyra Peters
Paige Leon 
Triston Williams 
Lucas Hunter
Jordyn Victor 
Mikayla James 
Anastacia Modeste
Telisa Greene 

Each student fully participated and enthusiasm was at its 
highest. The certificates that were obtained covers a wide range 
of employment opportunities from traffic control right through 
to a First Aid. Best of luck to each student in applying for part 
time employment or summer time employment!!!! 

18 participants signed up and 16 attended 
everyday.

MA:YT
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Bremner Trio Camp in Sts’ailes Traditional Territory

A ground blessing ceremony was held here on Friday, August 12, 2016.  This was led by Chief Negotiator Willy Charlie, carried out by 
Ginny Peters and Vange Point and witnessed by some of our elders & staff and contractors of the camp.  Willy explained that this was 
to ensure the safety of the workers once construction begins. This camp is at about the 44 km mark and takes 1 ½ hours to get there 
on our Sts’ailes Forestry Road along the Harrison Lake, past 20 Mile Bay.

The purpose of this Land Sea camp is to house & feed construction workers who will be building 2 water generating stations that will 
deliver electric energy to BC Hydro.  This Run of the River Project is hoping to begin construction in October.  Sts’ailes EAS will be 
the contact for employees for some of the local contractors, including:

• General labourers & Security
• Rock truck drivers
• Equipment Operators
• First Aid Level 3 

Sts’ailes is an investor / partner, and minority owner in this project and the developer is Bremner Trio Hydro Corporation – Terry 
Sonderhoff. 

• Excavators & Carpenters
• Maintenance & Cement Masons
• Welders, and mechanics

MA:YT

Swift Water Training with Sts’ailes Fisheries

Funded by Sto:lo Aboriginal Skills and Training (SASET)  took place at Sts’ailes 
Training Center& Cannon  from October 05 – October 07, 2016.

The Swift Water Rescue - Technician (SRT 1) course was 3 days long. The 
Instructor and Students required 9 hours each day (8 hours of teaching time and 
one hour for lunch). This comprehensive swiftwater course prepares personnel to 
enter moving water to perform "go" rescues. It emphasizes identifying risks, self 
rescue, and the various options for rescuing others, as well as the decision-making 
process required to chose the most appropriate rescue approach.

The Classroom

Day 1:   Participants were in a classroom setting.

Day 2:  Participants were out in the field. 

Day 3: 

  
The Equipment 

Each participant in this course requires PPE (personal protective equipment): 
Drysuit, helmet, and PFD

Participants were in the in both classroom and outside 
in the field doing their exam.

Sts’ailes Fisheries Crew

Alvin Charlie 
Fred Paul SR
Floyd Point
Dana Charlie

Fred Paul JR
Travis Phair
Wayne Peters
Francis Peters

Kade Charlie
Jesse Hall
Joseph Mercredi 

MA:YT
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Customer Service Training

This 5 day full time training opportunity funded by Sto:lo 
Aboriginal Skills and Training (SASET) took place at Leq’a:mel 
from March 13 – March 17, 2017.

The program included:

• Customer service training Level 1 & 2
• Effective Communication & Work Place Ethics 
• WCB Awareness

Certification Recieved

• WHMIS
• Food Safe 
• Occupational First Aid Level 1

Customer service Profile

A customer service representative is typically good at listening, 
and has great communication and interpersonal skills. They fill 
a wide range of duties for the business that they represent. This 
may include providing information about a product, dealing with 
concerns and questions, reviewing customer accounts, or taking 
customer orders. Customer contact may be over the phone, in 
person, and through email. A customer service representative 
must have the willingness to work a variety of hours since many 
call-centers are open around the clock. Further, most positions 
involve full-time employment, although part-time work is often 
available.

Sts’ailes 

Sharon Parenteau
Darla Parker

Leq’a:mel 

Travis Seymour 
Jordan Campbell
Chris Brown 
Samuel Kelly
Elizabeth Sywolos
Taylor Blois
Joel Still
Jonathon Patterson
Nadine Tereposky
Annette Joseph
Lisa Palmer 
Summer Paul

Scowlitz 

Christa Gutierrez
Thomasina Williams 
Francis Charlie
Lucille Hall
Yvonne Hall

MA:YT MA:YT

I.T. OFFICER  

Mark Balfour

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (I.T.)

The Sts’ailes IT Department currently continues to design and deploy important improvements 
to our infrastructure and has started many new initiatives.  We are currently focusing on network 
infrastructure and reliability, replacing any remaining outdated equipment, as well as moving 
to streamline our protocols and procedures to increase efficiency to provide time for further 
engagement with GIS and populating the new digital repository.

IT Infrastructure Improvements and Additions

1. Power infrastructure improvements: A new 170 kilowatt generator has been approved for the 
Band Office that will provide dependable backup power to enable Sts’ailes to continue full 
function in the event of both long and short power outages.  Obtaining a generator for the 
Band Office has been an important priority due to the frequency and length of the outages we 
face each year, and the risks and damage to our IT systems that have significant money and 
man-hours to address.  These improvements were obtained through Susan Balfour’s efforts 
and were generously funded by INAC.  The generator should be operational in the fall of 2017.  

2. The Sts’ailes IT Department has purchased and deployed more than $135,000 worth of 
hardware and software during the 2016-2017 fiscal year.  This included the replacement of 
many outdated computer workstations.

3. A $10,000 surveillance system was installed by the IT Department in the Bandoffice 
to enhance security.  The cameras provide coverage of the entrances, hallways, and 
surrounding exterior of the building.  Again, funding was generously provided by INAC for this 
improvement through the CCP Quickstart initiative.
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LOCATION AMOUNT FUNDING # OF PHONES DEPLOYMENT

Sts'ailes School $21,000 Self 33 February 2017

Band office $45,000 INAC 80 June 2017

EAS $9,500 Public Works 10 Fall 2017

Snowoyelh $13,000 Public Works 18 Fall 2017

Lhawathet Lalem $7,500 Self 3 Deferred

Completion of Previous Projects and Issues: 

1. Systems running Windows XP have been replaced  
or upgraded.

2. Publication of the CCP and Land Use Planning Report  
and 2015-2016 Annual Report was successfully completed.

Sts’ailes IT Department’s Current Status:

• We remain at our regularly low staffing level  
(total IT FTE = 2.5)

• The IT Department continued in the GIS (Geographic 
Information System) role for Sts’ailes.  IT staff have engaged 
with GIS training throughout the year and are helping to 
deploy a new web-based mapping service (Lightship) that will 
enable Management, Chief and Council, and Sts’ailes staff 
convenient access to maps for planning and decision-making.  
IT is working to provide limited first-phase production GIS 
services to the Aboriginal Rights and Title and Forestry 
departments. 

• We have deployed a new server to store and provide secure, 
searchable access to digitized documents, pictures, audio, 
and video for Sts’ailes.  We have begun to to digitize the 
many analog (non-digital) resources that are important to 
Sts’ailes to safeguard its history and provide timely access 
to resources for management and future negotiations.  This 
server, dubbed Sasquadora, is open-sourced and Linux-
based and has no licensing costs.  Provisioning of this 
server continues, and it is expected that this server will be 
ready for users to access by the end of the 2017-2018 fiscal 
year.  A permission form has also been developed to allow 
membership to bring their pictures, audio, and video to us 
for digitization and preservation (or for us to go to them), 
while respecting their wishes around use of and access to the 
materials.

• After 10 years of suffering with 6Mbs Telus ADSL, funding 
has been allocated to get a 150+Mbs Internet connection 
at Lhawathet that will enable the facility to attract large 
groups requiring Internet access.  The IT Department will 
be working with Shaw Cable to get this connection in place 
before the end of 2017.

1. The Phone System was replaced in the Sts’ailes Community School and will be replaced in the Bandoffice in June 2017 as a result 
of Telus’ discontinuation of support for our old Nortel equipment.  The replacement of the Phone systems in Snowoyelh and EAS 
have also been lined up for the 2017-2018 fiscal year.

MA:YT

The IT Department, Sts’ailes Community School, and Sts’ailes Projects Manager have collaborated in applying to the Connect 
to Innovate Program offered by Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada to fund new fiber optic backbone 
infrastructure to connect the Sts’ailes Community School, Bandoffice, Daycare, and Community Hall.  This $170,000 project would 
enable Sts’ailes to connect to a new fiber optic Internet connection based in the school, providing a high degree of quality, speed, 
and expandability that is currently beyond our reach. Also, the school’s fiber Internet connection continues working during a long 
power failure, unlike the current Shaw connection in the Bandoffice.  If the proposal is successful, this project could be completed 
during the 2017-2018 fiscal year.

Existing Conduit to Daycare and Generator
Conduit School - Administration Building

Hall - EAS - Fire Hall - Fisheries (Future Proposal)
Conduit Generator - Hall

Proposed Fiber Network

ADMINISTRATION  
BUILDING

COMMUNITY  
HALL

SCHOOL

EAS FIRE HALL FISHERIES

DAYCARE
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Work has begun on the improvement of Sts’ailes’ online 
presence.  IT currently manages 4 websites, 3 social media 
accounts and an online newsletter that disseminates a wide 
range of information to a very broad audience on and off 
reserve.  With the high work volume within the department,  
one of the main improvements being looked at is finding 
services that could streamline how the information is presented 
and improve the timeliness of getting the information out to the 
people while maintaining a professional image. 

The need for a new platform for our websites is being looked at 
as well.  In the 5+ years that we have been maintaining them, 
their intended use and the information we are providing on 
them has changed drastically as we have grown so much and 
continue to evolve in this fast paced digital world we live in.  
So every aspect of our websites is being reviewed and will be 
updated.

The newsletter has been in constant change in terms of ways to 
improve it’s design and production time. It has slowly evolved 
into the newsletter that is currently being produced with 
the goal of providing material that is visually easy to read (to 
accommodate our elders) and be consistent with the Sts’ailes 
brand.  Periodical surveys is in the works to get input from the 
readership.

Among the many printed materials facilitated by IT in-house, the 
Annual Report has also been a main priority.  The Annual Report 
is an important document that goes out to the community and 
many other organizational proponents that showcases a lot 
of what Sts’ailes has done within it’s organization and work on 
streamlining submissions and the creative process has improved 
so that we can meet the Financial Administration Law (FAL) 
deadline that is required. 

Current design (2017).

Older design (2014).

MA:YT
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RIGHTS & TITLE
Sts’ailes has an inherent right to self-govern itself and all Sts’ailes people. The AR&T department 
follows the laws of our land according to traditional laws (snowoyelh) and insures that others 
respect the title and rights of Sts’ailes and our ways of governing ourselves for the protection and 
assertion of our sacred land (Xa’xa temexw) and to determine future uses of our traditional territory. 

We are the land. We have lived in balance with all things since time immemorial therefore we have 
an ongoing responsibility to respect our Xa’xa temexw. 

We believe our strength is achieved by maintaining our connection to the land, our stories, our 
culture and spirituality. By maintaining our solidarity, we will continue to grow and flourish as a 
strong, independent Sts’ailes Nation.

DEPT. MANAGER  

Boyd Peters 

Xoyet Thet
AR&T STAFF

Sts’ailes Chief and Council as the governing body of Sts’ailes are responsible for the management, 
assertion and protection of Sts’ailes Rights and Title. To assist in this endeavour the AR&T 
Committee and Governance Committee were formed.  AR&T staff work closely with these and 
other committees, departments, legal counsel as well as various consultants.

Full-time Staff AR&T Manager 
Boyd Peters

Research Technician 
Tim Felix (secondment)

Senior Research Assistant 
Fran Douglas

Contract Staff Chief Negotiator  
Willie Charlie

Heritage Research 
Archaeologist 
Morgan Ritchie

Kwi’kwe’xwelhp Community 
Engagement Coordinator 
Terry Felix

Professionals and University 
graduate students

On-Call Staff Field Technician 
Burt Charlie 
Michael Peters 
Blain Sonnenberg Jr.

RIGHTS & TITLE

(Archaeological & Environmental 

Impact Assessment)

Our Goals

• Stewardship of our traditional territory and protection 
practices to reinforce the traditional use of our territory for 
future generations.

• To have Sts’ailes members, leadership and staff understand 
the issues and the community’s approach related to rights 
and title.

• Reclaim unceded territory (ie. Chehalis River Fish Hatchery, 
Weaver Creek, recreation sites).

Our Objectives

• Implement the necessary plans for land management, 
land use, land code, community development, physical 
development, inclusive of all public facilities/locations.

• Develop our land use plan with diligent consultation with 
members.  Apply best practices and traditional knowledge.

• Educate and inspire our Sts’ailes youth regarding their rights 
and title (ie. Incorporate into the Sts’ailes Community School 
Curriculum, start an education campaign for our members)

• Encourage and promote the need for Sts’ailes youth to seek 
a degree in archaeology and related fields. 

• Install signage throughout our traditional territory to educate 
the public about Sts’ailes and our traditional territory.  Have 
maps made available for visitors at the store for example.

• Further develop and share the Strength of Claim at various 
community functions.

• Develop a Research Policy to protect our information and 
history.

• Seek compensation for loss of land (ie. Morris Valley Road 
trespass, alienated riparian land due to diking).

• Enforce buffer zones around Sts’ailes.

• Revenue sharing with the government.

• Co-management of our waterways.  (ie. keep power boats 
on the south side of the river to help prevent erosion of the 
river banks, protect our canoers, fishers and fish)

• Negotiate Government Action Regulation (GAR) Orders for 
our sacred sites.

• Seek more resources to properly staff the AR&T 
Department.

 

RIGHTS & TITLE

AR&T Committee 
(2015-2017 term)

Chairperson
Chief Harvey Paul

Governance 
Committee 
(2015-2017 term)

Committee Chair
Councillor Boyd Peters

Councillor Kelsey Charlie
Councillor Ralph Leon

Community On-Reserve 
Representative
Carla Charlie

Community Off-Reserve 
Representative
Gordon Phillips

Community Elders 
Representative
Bradley Charlie

Technical Support
Pierre Joe (Membership)

Technical Support
Fran Douglas

Councillor Boyd Peters
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GOVERNANCE

According to Council’s vision to achieve sovereignty and self-governance, the AR&T Department is mandated to 
assert our jurisdiction, develop the constitution, create codes and laws, and reclaim ownership rights in our territory.  
This includes and is not limited to justice, the environment and our natural resources.  The development of our 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan will aide in this endeavour.

Our Goals

• Continue to be governed by dedicated competent leaders to ensure our community’s interests 
and needs are honored.

• Improve communication between leadership and the Sts’ailes membership.

• Ensure programs and services are carried out to support efficient service delivery.

• Ensure fairness and transparency of Sts’ailes government to our membership by developing 
proper policies, procedures, and constitutions.

 
Our Strengths

• Our youth and elders being active participants on various committees.

• Our Chief and Councillors visiting the school for cross-learning.

• Engaging the community for their feedback on various plans, codes, and developments.

• Having active council members by appointing portfolios and committees.

• Having a growing influence over surrounding municipal, provincial and federal governments.

 
Our Challenges

• Politics that interfere with inter-family connections

• Community dependency on leadership for some things that are not leadership responsibilities.

• Some government policies that remain unchanged.

RIGHTS & TITLE

MATRIMONIAL REAL 
PROPERTY LAW

ELECTIONS
LANDS & NATURAL 

RESOURCE 
MANAGEMENT

MEMBERSHIP

NOW

Family homes on-reserve 
are governed by the 
Indian Act who sets rules 
for possession of the 
home and division of 
those interests.

Indian Act rules 
apply

Indian Act rules apply Indian Act rules 
apply

IN THE 
FUTURE

Sts’ailes Spousal Property 
Law (SSPL) rules 
determine possession 
of the on-reserve home 
and division of on-
reserve interests

Sts’ailes Custom 
Election Code 
(SCEC) rules apply.  
Very Limited Indian 
Act or Minister 
involvement.

Sts’ailes Land Code rules 
apply.  No Indian Act 
rules apply regarding 
reserve lands

Sts’ailes Membership 
Code rules will 
apply.

PROCESS 
FOR 

CHANGE

Referendum Vote by 
Sts’ailes members.  
Notice to Canada and 
BC

INAC gives 
provisional approval 
of the draft code.  
Referendum Vote by 
Sts’ailes members to 
approve the code.

Lands Board gives 
provisional approval of 
the draft.  A referendum 
vote by Sts’ailes members 
is held to approve the 
code.

Sts’ailes Custom Election Code (SCEC)

There was a final Community Consultation session held May 
17th, 2016 regarding the SCEC.

The Governance Committee incorporated suggestions from this 
final Community Consultation into the final draft of the code 
that was sent to Ottawa on June 13th, 2016 for review. 

Ottawa sent their required, recommended and suggested 
changes July 19th, 2016 with the aim of strengthening the code 
and to ensure it adheres to the Canadian Charter of Rights and 
Freedoms.  

The Governance Committee made their final edits then re-
sent the code to INAC National.  We received notification on 
October 7th, 2016 from INAC National that the final review of 
the SCEC was complete.

The Community Ratification Vote was held March 17th, 2017 
during the General Band Election.  The referendum required 

that 429 eligible members voted with 216 of those voters voting 
‘YES’.  We had 364 eligible members vote with 294 voting 
‘YES’.  Even though we did not get the 429 voters out to vote, 
we did exceed the required amount of ‘YES’ votes.  The 294 
‘YES’ votes are 80.77% of voters which exceeds the 50% plus 1 
needed for the code to be passed.

Fred Schiffner, Electoral Officer for the referendum suggested 
we contact our Governance Officer at INAC and request that 
our SCEC be accepted as we exceeded the number of ‘YES’ 
votes to accept the code. 

Mr. Schiffner submitted our results to INAC on Monday, March 
20th, 2017.  We are awaiting a decision on whether or not INAC 
will accept our referendum results to pass the SCEC.

Once the SCEC is accepted by INAC, we are required to 
comply with INAC National’s repeal process of waiting at least 
six months after the community ratified the code before it 
comes into force and effect.  It may be in effect for the 2019 
Council Election.

Sts’ailes Governance Code Development Overview
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Sts’ailes Spousal Property Law (SSPL)

Court case decisions over the past few years have resulted in 
the need to develop laws to address the issues that arise in the 
division of real property (family homes) on-reserve that result 
from marital breakups.  These laws also need to be in place to 
go along with the development of our Land Code.

The rules of the Family Homes on Reserves and Matrimonial 
Interests or Rights Act (FHRMIRA) currently apply to Sts’ailes. 

The Governance Committee was appointed the task of 
developing a Spousal Property Law for our membership’s 
consideration to replace the federal rules of FHRMIRA.

Sts’ailes does not wish to be bound by the default provisions 
of the federal FHRMIRA and is enacting this Law in order to 
have Sts’ailes jurisdiction recognized under that Act.  Sts’ailes is 
further enacting this Law in exercise of its inherent right of self-
government.

Spouses should be enabled to make agreements to deal with 
their rights and obligations upon separation, divorce or death 
and to resolve their disputes amicably.

Sts’ailes believes that our children are our most precious 
resource and the best interests and welfare of the children 
should be paramount when determining the rights and interests 
of spouses and that family homes should be a place of safety 
and comfort for children.

We are guided by Snowoyelh Te Emi’:Melh Te Sts’ailes 
(Snowoyelh Principles) in developing this Law. 

Sts’ailes desires to provide a law appropriate to its culture 
and traditions respecting the use, enjoyment and occupation 
of family homes on its reserve lands and the division of real 
property rights or interests held by spouses on reserve lands.

The Governance Committee completed up to Draft #6 of 
the SSPL.  We applied and received $25,000 to the end of 
March 2017 from the Center of Excellence for Matrimonial Real 
Property Law (COEMRP) for our continued work on the SSPL.

With the funding we received we have retained the services 
of Arbutus Law.  A Community Consultation session was held 
at Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem February 21st to 23rd, 2017.  On 
February 22nd Micha Menczer from Arbutus Law facilitated a 
power point presentation with a question and answer session.  
From the feedback of the consultation session Micha Menczer 
has recently completed draft #9 of the SSPL.

It is anticipated that the SSPL will be presented to the Sts’ailes 
membership for ratification in a referendum vote in the fall of 
2017.  We have applied for further funding for the 2017/2018 
fiscal year in the amount of $25,000 to cover the costs for this 
code’s development and finalization.
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JUSTICE

Chief and Council recognize and acknowledge that Justice 
is a growing concern in our community and there is a lack 
of resources for this program.  Council drafted a Justice 
Framework Strategy to recognize that “Justice is Everyone’s 
Business”.  A Justice Steering Group of Council further refined 
this framework. 

Community safety is the means by which all people are 
given the opportunity to develop their spiritual, emotional, 
mental, and physical abilities to the fullest extent. The holistic 
development of a strong sense of family and spirituality will in 
turn allow each person to participate fully in the social, political, 
and economic lifestyle of their choice.

The Community Safety and Justice Strategy will work within 
the guidelines established by council and the community with a 
focus on the cultural, historical, and traditional teachings of the 
Sts’ailes people.

The goal is to have a community that is safe for all community 
members especially the most vulnerable such as the elders, 
children, women and the disabled.

Key Elements of the Justice Strategy

• Set up partnerships and protocols. Establish and maintain 
relationships with First Nation Police

• Re-frame to “Justice is everyone’s business”

• Customize a made in Sts’ailes approach to justice

• Focus on the family not the self

• Focus on parenting skills, life-skills, and the effects of 
residential school

• Develop programs for lateral violence and domestic violence

• Implement a prevention strategy

The Sts’ailes Justice Strategy will be further developed.  A 
community forum will be held to seek the community’s input on 
priorities.
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Our Goals

• Develop and implement our own community safety plan and 
restorative justice system to include traditional laws, elders, 
family, healthy leaders and members who live a healthy 
lifestyle.

• Establish our own tribal policing unit

• Develop just and transparent laws with the authority to 
enforce them and impose penalties.

Our Objectives

• Develop partnership agreements with various agencies 
regarding justice (ie. RCMP Tripartite Agreement)

• Share legal process information with the community

• Engage the youth 

• Emergency Safe House

• Enforce the Dog Bylaw

• Fishing and Hunting Education Programs

• Implement security systems in all community buildings

• Post more signage (ie. speed limits, trespassing, illegal 
dumping, littering)

• Implement a confidential hotline for on-reserve community 
members

• Train and retain a Justice Worker

• Re-establish a Drug Task Force

• Develop a reintegration program for members after 
evictions/banishments
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• Ensure culture and snowoyelh is included in the justice 
strategy

• Traditional Aboriginal methods of justice are promoted and 
utilized.

• Ensure justice work is carried out in a restorative way to 
prevent or resolve problems that affect the community’s 
safety and quality of life.

• Identify policing priorities that are listed in the Letter of 
Expectations.

The Council has granted authority to the Community 
Consultative Group (CCG) on justice to obtain advice and 
guidance from community members and justice partners such 
as the Health Department to make recommendations to council 
on all matters related to justice, community safety issues and 
goals.

The CCG and the Sts’ailes Health Department are pleased to 
announce collaboration on the efforts to promote and enforce 
an anti-drug strategy for our community.  It is well known that 
there are hard drugs in Sts’ailes and it is well known from whom 

Our Strengths

• Good working relationships with the RCMP and community 
members

• RCMP attend our Justice Meetings.

• Snowoyelh is involved with our community members’ court 
proceedings.

• Addressing our poaching issues

• Justice strategy development

The Challenges

• Lack of community security.  An enforcement officer is 
needed to maintain and enforce our policies.

• Drug and alcohol issues

• Lack of information about the legal process

• The present Criminal Justice System focuses on the 
individual and not the family.

• Lack of resources and processes in justice.

The Community Consultative Group (CCG)

The Sts’ailes Community Consultative Group (CCG) for justice, 
Áliy xwlam te Sts’ailes Í:west lets’ó:lmexw sq’ep are mandated to 
meet with the RCMP Upper Fraser Valley First Nations Policing 
Unit Detachment once every two months. 

• The group reviews the monthly First Nations Police Reports 
for crime trends.

• They share information about special events, community 
issues/concerns.

• Report on RCMP members transferring in and out of the 
community.

• Develop and maintain a justice strategy
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A smokey haze overcoming Sts'ailes from BC's forest fires.

and where these drugs can be obtained.  We want to invest 
in our children’s safety, and freedom from assault from these 
known drug pushers.  We want to invest in a drug and alcohol 
free community.  We want to invest in a community where 
its citizens can live without intimidation and without having to 
witness the results of a drug sub-culture within our community.

When drugs are being “pushed” in our community, we will 
witness exploitation, gangs, violence, sex trade, mental health 
issues, intimidation, poverty, property crime, self-harm and elder 
abuse.  We strongly feel that implementation of a drug strategy 
is all part of wellness and a healthy environment.

Our long term strategy will involve the continued education 
of our youth, not only on the effects of drugs, but an 
understanding of the drug sub-culture and what it entails. 
This will involve tough talks about the law, prison, and those in 
poverty because of drug use.  It isn’t as pretty or glamorous as 
some would have you think. (You only have to view the lifestyles 
of the ones that you know are involved to see that).  It will 
involve maintaining records on those we believe to be involved 
in the drug trade in this community.  An anonymous reporting 
procedure will be developed.

Legal Outreach Pilot Project

There were two legal outreach clinics held during the 2016-2017 
fiscal year with Frances Rosner. One on June 24th, 2016 and the 
other was held April 27th, 2017.

Frances Rosner, now an independent lawyer has been working 
to bring legal information and assist Sts’ailes members at the 
grass roots level of what to do and where to go when they 
find themselves having to go to court.  She started the project 
with Sts’ailes in April of 2015 as an articling law student.  The 
following is what she would like to accomplish with this 
endeavour:

• Inform people of their rights Ie. Gladue

• Teach people on how to navigate the justice/court process.

• Present information on legal matters

• Gather information as to what people want and need

• How to access Legal Aide.  Their office is right next to the 
court house.

RIGHTS & TITLE
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• Build rapport with the people

• A text messaging system was suggested

• Increase access to justice (lawyers, advocates, etc.)

• If people like these sessions, how would they like the session 
conducted and how often.

• She wants the session kept informal.

• Suggests inviting council members from other First Nations 
ie. Sq’éwlets, Leq’a: mel, Seabird Island

Lets’emo:t Conference

Sts’ailes co-hosted a Lets’emo:t Conference with BC 
Corrections October 25th to the 27th, 2016.  The conference 
was held at our ancient village of Qwó:lts in Harrison Hot 
Springs.

This conference was a true indication of how justice partners 
can work together with one heart and one mind to create a 
meaningful understanding and appreciation for the role of 
culture and spirituality as it relates to healing.

The Steering Committee included Sts’ailes in the planning and 
coordination of the conference as well as the deliberation of it.  
Three respected elders were included in the program to offer 
support with prayers, words of wisdom and guidance throughout 
the event.  A cedar cleansing ceremony was also provided by 
the elders for a particularly difficult portion of the program.

The dance performance by our young Sasquatch Dance Group 
was a colorful addition and demonstration of our cultural pride.

Over one hundred leaders from all levels of provincial 
corrections came together for two and a half days to gain 
a deeper understanding of the factors that contribute to 
the problem of over-representation of our people in the 
correctional system.  They came together to learn about 
culture-based solutions within their reach.

The main objectives of the conference were:

• to have participants learn about the difficult and ugly truth of 
the government’s attempt at cultural genocide;

• to understand the unique needs of Aboriginal people they 
work with;

• to be inspired to work together with Aboriginal people to 
eliminate over-representation;

• and to spread the teachings they received at the conference 
when they returned to their communities and places of work.

• The conference began with a discussion of topics such as:

• racism and inequity;

• the impacts of colonization;

• vicarious trauma and trauma-informed practice.
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The second half of the conference included:

• discussions on the role of culture and spirituality in healing 
trauma;

• the importance of working in partnership with Aboriginal 
communities and the work of First Nations Courts.

Participants were asked to complete evaluation forms at the 
end of the conference identifying their key learnings, next steps 
to improve outcomes for Aboriginal clients, and suggestions to 
improve the conference for next year.

Over 70 evaluations were received.  Key learnings were 
identified by members of the organizing committee to 
determine possible next steps for continuing the work to 
improve outcomes for Aboriginal clients. Recommendations for 
consideration have been organized under the following themes:

• Understanding Trauma and Healing Spirit
• Awareness and Understanding of the Truth
• Aboriginal Partnerships
• Staff Well-Being
• Reconciliation Requires Action
• Future Conference Planning
• Implementation
 
Overall, participants strongly endorsed the quality of the 
conference and judged it a remarkably successful event.  They 
commented that:

• it was a unique and emotionally powerful event

• one of the best they had ever attended

• how it had brought people together

• the sense of unity they experienced

• how inspired they felt to return to their workplaces with this 
knowledge

• the quality of the speakers who were not only well-informed, 
but captivating and inspiring

• the depth and value of the information they received

• the need to share this learning with others.

They appreciated the cultural teachings and traditions that 
were woven into the two and half days and the opportunity 
to learn from the Elders, the Sts‘ailes people, and the other 
Aboriginal partners that were there to support the learning.  
Many suggested the conference needed to be repeated and 
stressed the importance of spreading this learning to all staff in 
the Branch.

The conference concluded with an examination of the 
Commission’s calls and our individual responsibility to take 
action for reconciliation.

The event was so successful that the initial plan was for it to 
be nominated for this year’s Premier’s Award.  So many new 
initiatives have been started across the Branch as a result of 
the learning that took place at this conference.  After further 
consideration, it was decided that an even stronger nomination 
could be put forward in 2017/18 based on tangible outcomes.  
It would be a stronger nomination when some of those new 
projects have been completed.  This would show more concrete 
results that came out as a result of the conference.

RIGHTS & TITLE
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RCMP STATISTICS IN STS'AILES

Assault

Criminal Code

Community Liason

Drug & Alcohol Related

School Visits

Youth Related Offenses

Youth Events

14

4

5

5

46

1

1

Theft / Break & Enter

Traffic Related

Corrections Related

Failure to Comply

Chief & Council

False Alarm

Threats

Crime Prevention Program

Mental Health Related

Community Presentations

10

4

1

5

22

9

2

1

5

20

OFFENSES REPORTED IN STS'AILES

PREVENTION & POLICE RELATED EVENTS IN STS'AILES

CALLS FOR POLICE 

102
HOURS

SPENT IN  
STS'AILES

POLICE  
ASSISTANCE

General Public Assistance

MCFD Related Assistance

BC Ambulance Assistance

Subpoena

Reported Offenses

Prevention

KWI’KWE’XWELHP (KWI)

Sts’ailes possesses a strong working relationship with 
Correctional Services Canada (CSC) in regard to 
Kwi’kwe’xwelhp (Healing Village).  The relationship has steadily 
grown and developed since 1998.  Some of the highlights from 
the past year are as follows:

• Peter M. German, Regional Deputy Commissioner (RDC) 
retired as of April 4th, 2016.  The new RDC Anuradha 
(Anu) Marisetti was introduced at the June 17th welcome 
ceremony at Kwi.  She was previously the RDC in the Atlantic 
region.

• The portable mill is set up at the old fire hall compound.  
It may be moved to another more suitable location in the 
future.  A training plan for the mill’s operation is being 
developed by our Employment Assistance Services (EAS).  
Future plans involve building a kiln to dry the lumber 
produced by the mill.

• Terry Felix and a few others received training on the mill’s 
operation.

• Terry continued to arrange passes for the Kwikwteálex 
on a regular basis to help out with various projects in the 
community.

• The Senate recommended an increase of the Kwi population 
that presently sits at 50.  

• After much negotiation we finally received an increase in the 
Community Engagement Contract for 2016-17 to $60k/year. 
The previous years were set at $48k/year. 

• The Sts’ailes Community Garden is now producing thanks to 
the help of some of the Kwikwteálex. 

• A new Cultural Services Contract was signed for $16,500.  
The elders went up to Kwi every other week to assist with 
various Aboriginal based programs. 

• Five Kwikwteálexs participated in the day treatment program 
offered at Telmexw Awtexw.

• Six Kwikwteálexs participated in the carving program offered 
by Telmexw Awtexw.

• A business plan is being developed to explore best practices 
and most effective ways to operate the woodlot project that 
provides wood to all the institutions in the region.

• Kwi received approval to have raised garden beds for all the 
houses.  The elders will work with the Kwikwteálex to help 
them with canning and/or freezing their produce.

• The CAC action plans for 2016-17 were completed.

• Sq’éwlets Chief Colin Pennier joined the Senate Advisory 
Committee. 

• Wenona Victor, UFV Professor filled the final seat on the 
Senate.

• Kelsey Charlie started employment at Kwi as an Aboriginal 
Liaison Officer (ALO) on May 9th, 2016.

RIGHTS & TITLE
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NEGOTIATIONS

The AR&T Department leads a number of negotiations for 
Sts’ailes for the protection of our traditional territory and 
governing rights.  The following is an update on some of these 
important files:

Morris Valley Road Trespass (MVR)

The negotiations for the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) 
regarding MVR are essentially complete.  This was done in 
conjunction with legal counsel.  There were a few matters that 
stalled the progress on this file.

• The environmental contamination at Camp Cove and Ten 
Mile Bay slowed the process.

• The widening of the road to accommodate the walking 
path between the Chehalis Store and the Chehalis River 
Recreation Site is complete.  The walking path will be further 
enhanced with pedestrian markings.

• The original plan was for two underpasses.  After further 
assessment and consultation with the community, it was 
thought that one underpass would be adequate with the 
possibility of negotiating for equal compensation for the 
value of the second underpass.

• The concerns with Fleetwood FSR have been addressed.

• Back in June of 2015, the replacement of Garth Stewart 
with Jodi Newnham as Senior Manager, Aboriginal Relations, 
Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) also 
slowed our progress.

• We had provided INAC with our draft MOA which they 
assigned to the Department of Justice for their review. Their 
main concern was the land surrender of 1.5 hectares of 
IR#5 on MVR and the Additions to Reserve (ATR) of equal 
size at Camp Cove. This also included a legal description of 
the replacement lands, the Environmental Assessment on 
those lands and the appraisals referred to for the lands to be 
transferred and the past use value.  We had hoped that this 
would have enabled Canada to move faster.  It did not.

• The Province requested that Sts’ailes create a business 
entity into which they could transfer Crown Lands currently 
being negotiated out of the MVR negotiations.  We have 
assigned an LLP for the Camp Cove land.  Council approved 
the title Sts’ailes Land Development (Lexw’a:yi:les) Limited 
Partnership.

After much consideration and review of the results of 
environmental assessments at both sites, plus the various other 
hold ups and concerns, Sts’ailes has since decided to retain 10 
Mile Bay.

Sasquatch Mountain Resort (formerly Hemlock 
Resort) Economic Community Development 
Agreement (ECDA)

The Province made a decision back in October of 2015 to 
approve the Hemlock Resort Expansion Master Development 
Plan (60-year plan).  The Master Development Agreement 
(MDA) was approved in April 2016.  The Provincial 
Government’s Major Resorts Branch (MRB) has been working 
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towards fulfilling its commitment to enter into an Economic 
and Community Development Agreement (ECDA) with Sts’ailes 
regarding this file.  Sts’ailes signed an Impact Benefit Agreement 
with Hemlock in 2012 and continue to receive benefits from it.

In 2015 the Provincial mandate for revenue sharing with First 
Nations for ski resorts was set at 20% of the Incremental 
Revenue (IR) the province receives annually from the resorts.  
Through negotiations with the Province, Treasury Board 
increased the IR sharing from 20% to 37.5%.  This increase 
is reflected in Sts’ailes’ draft ECDA.  The annual payments to 
Sts’ailes will increase as the resort develops and visitors to the 
resort increase over time. 

The ECDA was limited to revenue sharing but through ongoing 
negotiations with the Province additional interests were 
identified that would benefit the Sts’ailes community.  These 
points of interest will be included in a Letter of Commitment 
(LOC).  Some of those interests include but are not limited to 
the following:

• Develop a Cooperative Management Strategy between BC 
Timber Sales (BCTS) and Sts’ailes for forest tenure lands 
within Sts’ailes traditional territory.

• Plan for the renewal of the current Partnership Agreement 
between Recreational Sites and Trails BC (RSTBC) and 
Sts’ailes. 

• Explore the potential use of Sts’ailes’ wood supply, 
equipment and labor to manufacture recreation site 
infrastructure. (ie. picnic tables)

• Provide a curriculum outline to Sts’ailes for Compliance and 
Enforcement (C&E) Natural Resource Academy training to 
investigate potential C&E training here at Sts’ailes facilities. 

• Develop an improved communications protocol between BC 
Wildfire Service (BCWS) and Sts’ailes before the start of the 
2017 fire season. 

• Identify potential training and employment opportunities for 
Sts’ailes members by BCWS. 

• Provide an Archaeology Branch training session to explain 
the archaeological referral process.

• Explore potential resources to support heritage sites.  Ie. 
Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge

The LOC is a means to provide Sts’ailes with short term 
opportunities while more detailed work and planning can go into 
negotiations for a broader Reconciliation Agreement.

 A workplan was developed for the completion of the ECDA 
that included capacity funding:

• $10,000 for approval of the workplan
• $10,000 for community consultation and legal review
• $5,000 once the ECDA is signed off  

Reconciliation Agreement (RA) 

The RA is a follow-up to the Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) we negotiated with the province back in 2011 involving a 
number of files we were working on.  We are seeking a mandate 
for a RA or an Enhanced MOU.  The proposed agreement (RA) 
will help facilitate further advancing the files we are presently 
negotiating with the province.

East Sector Lands, Village of Harrison Hot 
Springs (HHS)

On June 17th we had the grand opening and unveiling of the 
signage.  This was a VIP event.  The Fraser Valley Regional 
District (FVRD), Ministry of Forests Lands & Natural Resource 
Operations (MFLNRO), and Harrison Hot Springs (HHS) have 
approval to establish a Regional Park and Operational Plan for 
an area known as the East Sector Lands located within the 
municipal boundary of HHS.  The FVRD will now operate this 
site as a regional park.  

Sts’ailes helped to provide interpretive signage.  We provided 
translations, historical data, information, and pictures for the 
kiosk. Sts’ailes lead the planning for the cultural celebration 
which included a blessing of the trail, drumming, lunch and a 
tour of the trail. 
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Sample of the text provided to Harrison Hot Springs is as follows:
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The Harrison Hot Springs area has been a deeply important place for local First Nations for 

millennia because of the natural hot springs (Qwó:ls) with known healing properties, plants used 

for food, medicines, and tools, and as a node on important travel routes.  Sts’ailes people lived 

near the confluence of Miami Slough and Harrison Lake in a village known as Qwó:ls. According 

to late Sts’ailes elder Chehalis Phillip, people lived in two traditional plank houses and a semi-

subterranean pithouse at Qwó:ls. After the Sts’ailes people were required to leave this village, 

Sts’ailes families continued to use the land, water, and resources, including for potato farming for 

a short time. This did not last due to increased competition for land from settlers, but resulted in 

the Sts‘ailes officially appealing to the Crown in 1879 to be granted five acres of land immediately 

south of the hot springs. After this request was denied, Sts’ailes people continued to frequent their 

traditional village area for plant resources, medicinal use of the hot springs, and to travel along 

Miami Slough to the Fraser River. 

Sts’ailes people relied on a wide range of plant foods to supplement their salmon and meat diet, 

including wild potatoes, wild artichoke (potato-like vegetable), wild onions, wild carrots, ferns 

(including liquorice fern), shoots, lilies, wild mushrooms and stinging nettle (or Indian spinach).  

The main types of young shoots eaten were those of the thimbleberry and salmon berry. Sts’ailes 

people also ate a range of berries and fruits, including crabapple, wild rhubarb, wild plum, wild 

strawberry, salmon berry, thimbleberry, blackberry, saskatoons, wild cranberry, wild blueberry, wild 

Oregon grapes, soapberry, huckleberry and salal berry. 

The Chehalis also ate the sweet cambium and commonly drank Labrador tea. The area around 

Harrison Hotsprings offered many of these natural and culturally introduced plant species. It 

was also known as an important place for gathering long grasses (mats’el or th’a:xey) needed for 

fish nets. Evidence of this ongoing use by Sts’ailes and other First Nations is evident in the many 

harvested cedar trees along the trails in the Park. 

 LS8 Property- Sts'ailes Sasq'ets 
A:eylexwtawtexw

The plans are to continue with the land transfer of the LS8 
property, which is between the Chehalis store and Chehalis 
River Bridge.  This property is the targeted site to build an 
Assisted Living Unit for elder care:

• There was a delay in getting the survey done due to technical 
issues which have since been resolved as well as the harsh 
weather we experienced this past winter.

• We are trying to ensure that the value of land is equal to the 
targeted amount of $450,000. which is equal to the value of 
recreational lots sold on Harrison Lake. 

• Council specified the shape of the land so that it had more 
road frontage.  This request was forwarded to the Surveyor 
General.

• The survey and land transfer agreement is being processed. 

• The Land Holding company was submitted as “Sts’ailes Land 
Development (Sts'ailes Sasq'ets A:eylexwtawtexw) Limited 
Partnership.”

• The Province has forwarded the latest version of the sketch 
for LS8 property to the surveyor.

• The survey will include a road dedication of 12.5 meters 
from the centerline on both sides of Morris Valley Road.  
This is a requirement from Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure.

• The Province is in the process of removing some tenured 
conflicts over the parcel.  These include an Investigative 
Licence for waterpower, a recreational use area and deletion 
from the Provincial Forest.

• The process to attain the legal survey has taken far longer 
than expected.  Allan Tunbridge, Surveying Engineer will 
conduct the survey.  He will apply for instructions to the 
Surveyor General of BC.  The legal survey should take 60-70 
days to complete.  The survey cost estimate is $23,000.

Community Health Care Facility at LS1

A long-term lease is now being sought for the LS1 property 
(at 4-way stop) in Harrison Mills to build the Community 
Healthcare Center (CHCC) with a Palliative Care unit.

There has been a long time delay on moving this file forward.  
Crown was hesitant to move forward with transferring the 
property to Sts’ailes due to Sq’éwlets’ disapproval.  We had 
previously put a reserve on this property as a critical heritage 
site.  It is thought that Sq’éwlets may be more receptive to the 
CHCC Plan if we move to a lease arrangement as opposed to 
ownership of the LS1 property. 

Referrals

AR&T receives a large number of referrals for renewal of various 
licenses and permit applications submitted to the province from 
both industry and the private sector.  AR&T staff review and 
respond to all referrals in the best interest of Sts’ailes.  Some of 
the referrals received over the past year are:

• Renewal of municipal water leases from surrounding 
municipalities. (ie. Abbotsford, Village of Harrison Hot 
Springs)

• Renewal of private moorage leases around Harrison Lake and 
along the Harrison River

• Various forestry activities in the territory (cutting permits, 
road building/maintenance)

• Ongoing activities related to the Independent Power Projects 
(IPPs) in the territory

• BC Hydro activities in and around the territory.

• Consultation from the proposed pipelines to cross BC.

• Applications for mining operations in the territory  
(ie. gravel, gold)

• Sasquatch Mountain Resort (formerly Hemlock Resort) 
development activities

RIGHTS & TITLE
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Compensation avenues are negotiated and incorporated 
with some referrals when appropriate.  The research aspect 
of doing our due diligence involves gathering of cultural, 
spiritual, and historical information as per our Heritage Policy 
and Environment Policy.  This gives us important research 
information as well as educates the government and the public 
about us and our territory.

Brand Committee 

Due to increased reports of brand usage infringements we 
recognize the need to release a general letter to re-inform the 
public and First Nations that the Sts’ailes logo is trade-marked. 

Draft Land Use Plan

AR&T prepared a draft land use plan with BCCI funding.  This 
document comprises the following sections and topics:

Chapter One - Background and Context:
• Introduction and Purpose 
• Sts’ailes Territory and People
• Geographic Scope and Management Areas
• Community Profile, Governance, and Cultural Grounding
• Looking forward
• Related Planning Documents
• Plan Scope and Jurisdictional Context
 
Chapter Two - Vision and Guiding Principles:
• Environmental Objectives
• Cultural Objectives
• Economic Objectives
• Governance Objectives
 
Chapter Three - Land Use Designations and Traditional Values:
• Sts’ailes Land Use Analysis
• Cultural values 
• Biophysical values
• Economic Values
• Sts’ailes Land Use Allocations Definitions
 
Chapter Four - Land Use Plan Management Areas:
• Protected Sacred Networks
• Value-based Stewardship Areas
• Economic Development Focus Areas

• Community Use Areas
• Culturally Sensitive Areas
• Controlled Navigation Areas
• Controlled Development Areas
 
Chapter Five - Implementation:
• Plan review, Amendment, and Updating
• Implementation indicators
• Implementation Agreements
• Implementation Priorities and Schedules
 
Fisheries Title Case

The Fisheries Title Case stems from the Regina versus Charlie 
and Charlie Case.  The Department of Fisheries and Ocean 
(DFO) charged former Chief Willie Charlie and Sts’ailes 
Fisheries Manager Kim Charlie with fishing infractions from 
2012.  Council and legal counsel had decided, at the time, on  
a three phase approach to this case:

Phase 1: Criminal Charges (case dismissed August 29th, 2016 
due to lack of evidence)  
 
Phase 2: Aboriginal Right & Title (A Notice of Civil Claim for  
a Title Case was filed on June 21st, 2016.)
 
Phase 3: If in infringement, Justifying with Aboriginal Right  
& Title 

In 2016 we moved to Phase 2 of our legal strategy.  The 
information gathering stage was started.  Our overall goals from 
the court case were:

1. To have a say on what happens in our territory
2. Co-management of fisheries with DFO
3. Co-management of the waterways with the Province of BC.  
 
A ceremony announcing the launch of our title case was held 
August 24th, 2016 at the Sts’ailes Main Beach. Support was 
received from a number of the surrounding First Nations.  As 
per legal counsel we will also need to inform the Village of 
Harrison Hot Springs and Sandpiper Golf Course of our case. 
In our announcement we emphasized our historic and ongoing 
goal of sustainability for the land, fisheries and water. 

RIGHTS & TITLE

The work plan requires further discussion including:

• a GAP analysis

• Capacity considerations in order to gather the information 
required for this case.

• Historical Research including our story of how Sts’ailes 
governed the territory before 1846 and how, to this day, we 
still manage the whole claim area.

• Our traditional protocols and laws that have been passed 
down through generations

• Ethnographic Reports

• Expert Witnesses:  We need to identify who these people 
are.  We presently have a list of potential expert witnesses.  
These witnesses include community members, elders, 
knowledge keepers and fishermen.  The largest expense will 
be with the expert witnesses.

RIGHTS & TITLE

• On May 6th we participated in a Premier’s video shoot for Paul Carey of the Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and 
Reconciliation (MARR) who was nominated for the Emerging Leader Award.  Paul was very helpful and instrumental in  
our negotiations with the province.

• May 18th Elders Meeting on land use planning, traditional medicines, and view of artifacts

• APTN Indians and Aliens TV series – They are doing a segment on the Sasquatch.  APTN did an interview with Boyd  
and Kelsey.

• Canoe Journey - AR&T participated in welcomes, feast and entertainment.  The crew that paddled the Sesila canoe on 
Saturday, July 9th from Harrison Hot Springs to our main beach were: Harvey, Carla, Collin, Boyd, Alyssia, Aaron and Tim.  
Willie told stories at Xwey Xwey and Muksel.

• May 19th Salmon Ceremony

• May 30th Tim represented Sts’ailes at a meeting in Vancouver on Fraser River Flood Management Strategy (Fraser  
Basin Council)

• June 15th Intertribal Soccer Tournament

• June 21st - Aboriginal Day Picnic in the Park at Páléxel.  A great day up at our Chehalis River Recreation site with a lot of 
great pictures of staff and community members enjoying each other’s company and playing games.

• June 23rd - INAC Comprehensive Community Plan (CCP) presentation in Vancouver.  

• June 25th - 26th, Sasquatch Days - Boyd and Sherylynn did Interview with Observer.  APTN did a documentary shoot of the 
Sacred Drum Dance Group for the Sasquatch Story segment.

• July 7th -  Tretheway Creek Hydro Project Celebration

• Silver River Hydro Project Tour, July 19th- Sts’ailes participants were Harvey, Tim, Boyd, Carla, Sherylynn, Al and Willie.   
We will be asking INNERGEX to do a presentation on the project at the TMX community presentation (Date TBD).

Other Notable Events and Meetings
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CULTURAL HERITAGE RESEARCH

AR&T staff strive to manage and protect Sts’ailes cultural 
and heritage sites throughout the territory. Underpinning 
these efforts is the need for an accurate and comprehensive 
inventory of archaeological sites and culturally and spiritually 
important places. Accordingly, AR&T staff build on existing 
datasets through a range of ongoing studies that range from 
TUS interviews, genealogical studies, place name studies, 
and archaeological fieldwork and analysis. Information is also 
incorporated by monitoring and reviewing all projects in the 
territory that take place in and around important cultural and 
heritage sites. 

Recent examples of engaging with archaeological research and 
heritage conservation efforts include:

1. For profit archaeological services 

2. Strength of Claim Research 

3. Preventing unregulated destruction of on-reserve 
archaeological sites.  

 

For Profit Archaeological Services

Sts’ailes Heritage Consultants were active in the territory on 
several projects:

1. Archaeological monitoring of Harrison River Shear Booms 
($9000)

2. Archaeological assessment of Jimmy Charlie Slough Habitat 
Enhancement ($20,000)

3. 10 Mile Bay and Camp Cove AIA ($ 30,000)

These projects contribute to our understanding of Sts’ailes 
history and heritage.

Strength of Claim Archaeological Research

Research designed to help demonstrate key legal considerations 
of continuity of occupation, sufficiency of occupation, and 
exclusivity is ongoing. 

RIGHTS & TITLE

Key projects include:  

• Settlement studies showing density of occupation and 
continuity through time.  Also demonstrate defensibility of 
territory and resources.

• Plant management study showing intensive management, 
harvesting, and processing.  Also possible tribute. 

• Biface study demonstrating lithic acquisition from local and 
non-local places, sufficiency, and possible tribute. 

• Research into settlements on Islands, showing ability to 
control resources and territory

• Research into pre-contact social organization and identity. 

• Research into salmon procurement and selective fisheries 
practices at Chocolate Bar.

Managing and Protecting Archaeological Sites

Cultural heritage sites, places, and objects are direct links 
between individuals and the Sts’ailes community and their 
ancestors. They also reinforce ancient connections to the 
land, water, and resources, and reflect historical processes and 
trajectories that shaped individual and collective identities. The 
Sts’ailes people have a complex relationship with cultural sites 
informed by relationships, stewardship obligations, reciprocity, 
respect, identity, and aboriginal rights. Cultural heritage sites 
are cherished places imbued with deep cultural significance 

and power, and are unique and irreplaceable. These sites also 
offer insights into Sts’ailes history of occupation in an area, and 
are powerful lines of evidence for our aboriginal rights and title 
initiatives. 

AR&T staff strive to protect and manage archaeological sites 
throughout the territory to ensure that these important 
connections to the past and ancestors are preserved. Although 
the Provincial Heritage Conservation Act doesn’t apply on-
reserve, Sts’ailes leadership has determined that archaeological 
and cultural sites warrant protection, and have taken a firm 
position on the recent destruction and theft from archaeological 
sites. Sts’ailes has a rich history of being a healthy and safe 
place to live.  We place a high value in our sacred beliefs and 
traditional laws known as Snowoyelh. 

Individuals allegedly involved with the destruction and theft of 
archaeological sites have been warned, and continued actions of 
this type of offence against the community and our traditional 
laws are punishable by banishment. 

AR&T along with Chief and Council have been working diligently 
to address these unsettling circumstances and are seeking 
support from all concerned community members in addressing 
these activities. 

The AR&T Department continues with and remains committed 
to this most rewarding work on behalf of the Sts’ailes people.  
Though severely understaffed we are determined to carry on 
with the honorable task of protecting our traditional territory 
and asserting our inherent rights to the land.  We are the land.

RIGHTS & TITLE
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
SNOWOYELH DIRECTOR

Snowoyelh is a high status word amongst our first nation’s people. 

 

 

Utilizing our traditional language our Child & Family Service Program was given the name Te 

Emi:melh – meaning our children, all our children, 7 generations before and 7 generations after. 

Our Specialized Resources Home was given the name Te Lalem – straight translation is the 

home or house, when such as special occasions or family meetings everyone goes to the family 

home to meet.

The simplicity of our culture and tradition is the main success of our programs. Our 

collaborative working relationship with the Ministry of Children and Family Development is 

an unique approach, which supports goals of safety and wellbeing of Sts’ailes children, adults, 

elders, families, community members and others who are guided to us. The wellbeing of our 

people includes all aspects of the circle of life: physical, mental, spiritual, and emotional

Snowoyelh continues to ensure that culture is incorporated into the work with Sts’ailes Families. 

Which follow the teachings and culture and the blending of them with government regulations 

and legislation to ensure Sts’ailes members can grow strong with positive changes in their family 

systems. 

Over these past few years, it has been my pleasure to be a part of growth of Sts’ailes Snowoyelh 

programs Te Emi:melh and Te Lalem.

O’Siyam,

NANCY PATRICIA CHARLIE  |  Sel Ya:al 
Snowoyelh Director

    “A natural law provided by the Creator, the Law of Everything, the law 
of our people that guides us to be healthy and in harmony with the land”
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SNOWOYELH
TE EMI:MELH TE LALEM

DEPT. MANAGER  

Anna Charlie

Thelesiya

TE EMI:MELH

Snowoyelh House office was once a home in the community and was transformed into an 
office in 2009 for the Snowoyelh program, which creates a safe and welcoming environment for 
community members, clients, caregivers, family members who access services. Te Emi:melh’s 
main goal is to provide culturally appropriate approach that keeps children with their family system 
while working with extended family system.

MCFD is also collocated at Snowoyelh house with 3.5 staff members which includes: 

• 2 social workers 
• 1 Team Leader 
• 0.5 Administrative Support Worker 

 
Te Emi:melh has 8.5 staff members which includes: 

• 1 Snowoyelh Director 
• 1 Te Emi:melh Manager / Child & Family Advocate 
• 1 Child & Family Advocate 
• 1.5 Youth Advocates 
• 2 Cultural Counselors 
• 1 Executive Assistant 
• 1 Receptionist / Hostess  

These staff members provide a full service culturally appropriate child and family service program.

SNOWOYELH

OUR HISTORY

Snowoyelh Department was formed in February 2009. The program built on an existing model of practice consisting 

of a collaborative relationship between Sts’ailes Health Department and Ministry of Children and Family Development 

(MCFD). The Health Department and Aboriginal Rights and Titles Department created a proposal based on Sts’ailes 

culture with a key goal of assuming full responsibility for Sts’ailes Children and Families based in the community. In July 

2009 the Snowoyelh House was acquired and became the center of operations. 

Snowoyelh Management and staff worked together to create a traditional work plan to fit with Sts’ailes cultural circle throughout the 
year and the seasons of the year. Spring is the season of new life and new beginnings, Summer is the time of harvest, Fall is the time 
for preparation, and Winter is the time for reflection. Programs are aligned with these seasons to take advantage of the resources 
during these seasons. 

FIRST SALMON CEREMONY ELDERS CONFERENCE

SPRING BURNING ABORIGINAL DAY

FALL BURNING

YOUTH SOCCER SASQUATCH DAYS
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SPRING
TIME OF NEW LIFE
March / April / May June / July / August

TIME TO HARVEST

December / January / February September / October / November

TIME OF REFLECTION TIME FOR PREPERATION

SUMMER

FALLWINTER

Memel (Men’s Program) - 8 wk. Healing & Wellness Gathering

Cultural Gathering of Traditional MaterialsCultural Gathering of Traditional Materials

Cultural Wellness - 12 wk. program Puberty Camp

Memel (Men’s Program) - 8 wk. 5-7 yr. old Summer Program

Healing & Wellness Gathering Healing & Wellness Gathering

Cultural Gathering of Traditional Materials Cultural Gathering of Traditional Materials

Tatel (Grandma Program) - 9 wk.

Traditional Homemakers Group - 8 wk.

Tatel (Grandma Program) - 9 wk. program

Traditional Homemakers Group - 8 wk.

Traditional Work Plan Calendar
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Puberty Camp

Puberty Camp or Natural Changes and Warrior Camp is the 
point when a child becomes a young adult. During these camps 
participants are taught traditional roles of men and women in 
the family system and are asked to take on more responsibilities 
in their families, not only for themselves but within the 
household. 

In Warrior Camp the teachings are to be physically fit for 
hunting, fish, gathering wood, to be able to help in the 
community for funerals and community gatherings, and so on, 
they also learned the traditional teachings of making a hand 
drum and the teachings that goes along with them, how to sing 
songs and to go out on a canoe. 

The young women that participated in Natural Changes Camp 
learned the traditional teachings for young ladies, elders. 
Teachings that were handing down to them such as a medicine 
walk, cedar weaving, painting paddles, singing, jam making, 
bread making, baking and cooking. 

A highlight for all participants is the last night, when the 
traditional game of Slahal is played boys against girls and share a 
meal – BBQ treat night  

Traditional knowledge transference is an important part of these 
camps Our Elders hold the knowledge of our past to hand down 
to our future generations. 

5-7 Summer Program 

The main focus of the 5-7 summer programs is culture – 
“who you are and where you come from.” Children learn the 
traditional game of Slahal, preserving fish and canning peaches, 

how to introduce themselves to elders, what your name is, 
who your family is, traditional stories of Sts’ailes and attended 
the cultural sites where the stories came from. To wrap up the 
program a BBQ on Sts’ailes Traditional land took place.

Family Canning Camp – Fish & Peaches 
(Healing & Wellness Gathering) 

The purpose is to teach and assist families with learning how to 
preserve traditional foods, transference of traditional knowledge 
from our elders to younger generations.  Relationship building 
is very important part of these events for our clients, building 
relationships with other clients/community members and staff. 

During the camp participants learned the process of canning 
fish from start to finish. Elders also shared stories about different 
methods for preserving fish, such as: smoking and salting. 
Participants also learned how to can peaches, staff shared where 
they purchased them from and all the steps for canning them. 
The elders are also happy to see everyone working together like 
it used to happen, ensuring that nothing is lost and having fun 
times together.

Family Canning Camp – Tomatoes & Pears 

The purpose is to utilize our elders to provide traditional 
knowledge transference to the younger generations by teaching 
and assisting families with learning how to preserve for when 
needed. 

Both Family camps had a traditional invite to get our community 
members/clients,. A community elder went door to door to 
invite identified clients and community members. 

Families who attended the camp(s) were given the opportunity 
to gather, learn and practice Sts’ailes Traditional teachings about 
canning and family structure. Also awareness to family violence 
strengthening relationships, create a support network/system 
within the community.

These programs support one of our main objectives for 
the Snowoyelh program – sharing teachings about “healthy 
families through providing culturally appropriate services” to 
our community members and clients, demonstrating Sts’ailes 
traditions. Participants were grateful for what these camps 
provided.  

 
 

NEED MORE INFO? 
 

Natural Changes Camp: Matilda Charlie 604-796-1282 or email Matilda.charlie@stsailes.com 
 
Warrior Camp: Kelsey Charlie at 604-796-1282 or email Kelsey.charlie@stsailes.com  
 

Registration Forms available from Kristine Leon at Snowoyelh house  
604-796-1282 or email her at Kristine.leon@stsailes.com  

 

Natural Changes   
And  

Warrior Camp 
 

July 15-18th, 2014 
Where › Boys – Camp Cove 
    Girls – Charlie Longhouse 
Sign-up July 4, 2014 9:00am – 3:00pm 
@Snowoyelh House 

Living strong and healthy for our children while honoring our Elders!!! 
 
 

 
 

                              

Culture, Fun, Games, 
Teachings, Singing 

and Drumming 
 
 
 

Nutritious Snacks,  
Meals provided  
 
 
 

Events and Ceremony 
to take place  

 

Boys meet at 
Snowoyelh House at 

8:30 am 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Limited Spots 
Available  

Some feedback from participants: 

“Very appreciative”

“Appreciate time taken to teach and share”

“Enjoy everyone’s company and having fun with everyone” 

“Preserving own, you know what your getting, never be stuck 
always have your preservation”

“Thank elders for teaching us, appreciate your elder’s presence”

“Good to hear stories”

Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw 

Stelmexw purpose is to celebrate our culture and Snowoyelh 
strengths, as well as community strengths, in the spirit of being 
Letse’mot – “Of One Mind and One Heart” as an organization 
and community 

By following and believing in Sts’ailes cultural these Ceremonies 
are held in the longhouse(s) which are explained by elders that 
the circle is to allow our people who come from a rich culture 
that is meant for all generations and all people.  

The purpose of the gathering is to bring in the Spirit of our 
Ancestors through songs and dances which is a prayer to help 
the people through whatever hardship and challenges. 

Grief and/or sorrow, negative impacts of alcohol and/or drugs 
which results in family violence, family break up and destructive 
thinking are highlighted.   

Through collaboration of Sts’ailes an honoring ceremony for 
Elder Virginia Peters was held in celebrating her life’s dedication 
and accomplishments to the Sts’ailes people and organization of 
45 years of services for our people.  

We were also able to bring in Song and Dance from other 
nations which have connection to our Sts’ailes people, these 
visitors Mike Peters from Mt. Currie and Thomas Terry from 
Bridge River shared songs and dances tied to Sts’ailes.

The highlight to Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw is for the Sts’ailes 
children’s songs and dances, their innocence’s showed our 
older generations their true belief and strength in following the 
teachings that are being passed down to them, they showed 
their believe in their dance and they take pride in what they do. 

These strengths demonstrate the cultural knowledge 
transference from elders to our future generations. 

SNOWOYELH



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT136 137SNOWOYELH

Children & Youth Groups 

For high risk youth ages 8-16 years, an identified gap in service 
within our community. Youth participate with the cultural 
counselor to determine activities, events and/or outings. 

Utilizing strengths of Snowoyelh and our land to support youth 
is a strength of the program. To highlight activities that took 
place Up-cycling clothes, painting, building a foundation and 
walking in Sts’ailes Traditional Territory. Activities encouraged 
youth start talking and work through a wide range of issues, 
while feeling safe and supported. 

Healthy Relationships 

A traditional approach, Snowoyelh staff were able to support a 
safe program for couples, to address concerns, behaviors that 
put children and/or youth at risk. 

The main goal of the program is to self-empower participants 
to build healthy relationships that bring awareness to abuse and 
better communicate in relationships. 

The program includes building healthy model in a relationship, 
intimacy in relationships, good qualities of man/woman, values, 
boundaries, power and control, equality, stopping violence and 
abuse, identifying feelings, stress, anger, forgiving ourselves 
and others, acting with honor and grace and ending with a 
ceremony. 

In following our tradition elders that have long relationships 
attended the weekend program to share and support the young 
couples that attend. 

Highlight of the program couples along with elders and staff 
were able to go on a boat trip of Sts’ailes traditional territory, to 
hear traditional stories of the land.

Cultural Wellness 

The cultural wellness program in collaboration with Sts’ailes 
Health Department, the target adult clients, reducing risk of 
children and/or youth in the family systems, participants are able 
to develop a safe network system, leading to individual sessions. 
The cultural ways assists clients to identify safety concerns and 
recognize their personal strengths and challenges. 

Targeted programing offered is traditional self-care, traditional 
sweat lodge ceremonies, traditional parenting, parent teen 
conflict, lateral violence, household management and more. 

Snowoyelh’s partnership with Sts’ailes Health Department clients 
are able to begin and to make a self-referral for addictions 
counseling. This program is focused on addressing identified 
safety concerns for our adult clients to parent their children in a 
safe and proper manner.  

Through this program we are also able to support our clientele 
with traditional food preserving. Also staying within our Sts’ailes 
approach of the hands on therapeutic approach, clients were 
able to preserve/can deer and moose meat. Traditional teachings 
were shared from elders that were able to attend. 

A few comments from those that attended were: 

"Good learning experience; would attend more like today; had 
a good time" 

"Lots of work but it was great learning experience and had lots 
of fun doing it" 

"Loved working all together to get it all done" 

"Liked the place and people helping enjoyed the lunch" 

"Enjoyed doing the work; never stopped working" 

"Lots of help provided by all there" 

"Kids are cute helping and good they’re learning young, 
because when we were young (4 or 5) we had to learn to help 
do everything in the kitchen and house including packing wood" 

"Everyone stayed busy from the youngest to the oldest"

"I liked learning how to can moose meat, washing jars, 
first, cutting meat and vegetables, adding salt or seasoning 
(whatever you wanted)" 

"Very interesting to learn and so much fun and laughter that 
makes it done with happiness" 

"Liked all the help as I was learning from our elders, who told us 
what to do and how" 

"Everyone is willing to help each other" 

"Enjoyed the whole time here and didn’t feel like it was working" 

Tatel – Personal Empowerment Program 

The main focus of the program was to support families thought 
the moms, stepmoms, aunts and grandmothers by giving them 
tools and or supports to reduce risks to children and/or youth 
within the family systems. 

Through the traditional teachings of the Seven Laws of life 
– Health, Happiness, Humility, Generations, Generosity, 
Understanding and Forgiveness, Traditional knowledge 
transference from elders and participants, and therapeutic 
hands on approach through traditional arts and crafts.

20 that registered there were 17 attended the program Aged 
between 19 and 65.

Highlight of the program: showing generosity women shared 
their traditional teachings to make gifts and giveaways for 
Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw. 

The women also got to do traditional work with cedar and make 
either a headband or a cedar hat for themselves or a family 
member. 

SNOWOYELH
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Memel 

The Men’s Group is to promote wellness and supports within 
our families and community to keep children and/or youth 
safety and wellbeing. 

In total of 12 men take part in this program.  A number of 
the men in the Men’s Group are patients dealing with mental 
health issues – mainly depression and anxiety.  Other issues in  
group Grief & loss, Health issues, self- esteem and traditional 
parenting. Also as this program is in partnership with Sts’ailes 
Health we are able to bridge gaps, and create a starting point for 
clients to access support for substance misuse and addiction.  

Methods to address awareness/prevention are Healing Circle’s 
– spiritual cleansing with smudging or cedar brushing, Sweats – 
one sweat per month, workshops, carving, wood cutting and/or 
outings.  

12 men participate in this program is an accomplishment for our 
community the support for families to dads, stepdads, uncles 
and grandfathers. Results are seen by participants being more 

Letse’mot Awtexw: located behind Snowoyelh House, along with a traditional sweat; these are used for Cultural Programs such as Traditional Circles, Cultural 
Ceremonies, Cultural Teachings, Celebrations, Elders Teachings and Sharing Groups and Cultural Knowledge Transference. 

visible within the community at events and/or activities better 
interaction with the children and youth within the families at 
these community events. 

Expressive Art/Play Therapy Centre for 
Children 

The Expressive Art/Play Therapy Center for children is located 
upstairs at Snowoyelh #2. An identified need in the community 
for children, youth and the success of the program with many 
referrals for Dr. F. Paris is in high demand Snowoyelh and Health 
have assigned 2 to work with F. Paris to learn how to offer Art/
Play Sessions with a few of the children/youth, the program has 
been moving forward as planned and children/youth continue to 
attend. 

Letse’mot Awtexw: located behind Snowoyelh House, along with 
a traditional sweat; these are used for Cultural Programs such 
as Traditional Circles, Cultural Ceremonies, Cultural Teachings, 
Celebrations, Elders Teachings and Sharing Groups and Cultural 
Knowledge Transference. 

SNOWOYELH

DEPT. MANAGER  

Jolie Lawrence

Sel Ya:al

TE LALEM

Te Lalem a Sts’ailes Specialized Residential Resource program since April 2008. Through a 
collaborative partnership between Sts’ailes and MCFD to keep families together while parents 
learn to safely care for their children. Parents and children are accepted into the program through 
a social worker referral. Length of stay is based on each family’s unique plan. 

Since 2008 Te Lalem has worked with 25 parents and 43 children as of June 2017.  This 24-hour a 
day 7 day a week program with the help of 5 program support staff.  

Residents learn traditional parenting and basic life skills from staff with Sts’ailes Cultural Teachings.

In the past year Te Lalem worked with 2 single moms and 3 children. Each family plan determines 
the length of stay, 1 mom with her 2 children successfully completed the program and met all 
goals outlined in her care plan, moving on to have her children returned to her care and living 
in her home community with the children. A Cultural ceremony was held for her at Letse’mot 
Awtexw after completion of the program.

Te Lalem had 2 different nations visit the program to gather information to possibly start a 
program of their own. MCFD has also planned visits to view the program. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
CEO

On behalf of the Sts’ailes Development Corporation (SDC) I am pleased to bring you the 

Annual Report for the 2016-2017 fiscal year. The report provides highlights and achievements 

throughout all of our business sectors.

As a senior member of the Executive Team since the inception of SDC in 2008 and responsible 

for the day-to-day leadership and management of the corporation, I am accountable to the 

community through the SDC Board of Directors appointed by your Chief and Council. I am 

extremely proud and privileged to work with a strong core of dedicated staff and elected and 

appointed leadership who support our common goals and objectives with commitment and hard 

work - leading to successive years of progress for the Sts’ailes People in building community.

Not only do we continue to generate revenues and create jobs but we also contribute to 

sustainable development which is integral to the Sts’ailes responsibility of looking after Xa’xa  

Téméxw and its land, water and other natural resources as we do business. As stewards of the 

land your Fisheries sector continues to lead in restoring critical salmon eco system waterways 

back to productive habitat for salmon. A plan is underway to increase our participation in 

this important work. Central to this is working to reducing our own footprint such as through 

establishing a defined area for boat launching. Funding was obtained to build a boat launch and 

wharf over the next year. New added-value salmon products derived from the harvests of our 

fishers add to our growing fisheries enterprise.

The Chehalis Store is also proud of several accomplishments this year including partnering with 

Fisheries who took the lead in securing federal funding to build a walk-in freezer that enables 

the store to serve as a salmon sales distribution center. Additional funding was also secured to 

supply and install a propane generator that now eliminates the all too familiar issues around 

power outages. We also rebranded to Fas Gas with new promotions, new pumps, equipment 

and signage. We were happy to celebrate this accomplishment with the community at an Open 

House this summer.

In the Tourism Sector, the Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge continues to shine in the hospitality 

industry receiving a “2017 Recognition of Excellence” for an overall guest rating of 9.7 amongst 

on line accommodation booking sites. Bookings continue to increase. Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem 

had a banner year enjoying record returns for this important tourism accommodation business. 

Camp Cove too enjoyed good returns as did our partnership with the Province in management 

of 7 rec sites in Sts’ailes territory.
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Forestry continues to develop this important sector including concluding a contract to manage 

a portion of BC Timber Sales within the proposed Sts’ailes Woodland area based license, also 

under negotiations with the province.

We were extremely active in the Clean Energy Sector working to conclude the lending of 

$5 million in addition, Sts'ailes invested $3.2 million to purchase shares in the project to the 

Bremner Trio Hydro project which began construction on the Trio project last year. SDC was 

charged with negotiations, with support from the Chief Negotiator, and leading all due diligence 

and risk assessment required in the borrowing of over $9.2 million financed through the First 

Nations Finance Authority of which Sts’ailes is an approved borrowing member. Sts’ailes will own 

10% of the 2 projects which will cost over $200 million to build. SDC and Sts’ailes also worked 

together to assist the developer in overcoming roadblocks in obtaining approvals including those 

necessary to create a Development Plan as required by the BC government.

We continued through the development stages of feasibility, site selection and completing 

preliminary models required to determine viability of a new hydro project on Lookout Lake, 

adjacent Stepsum (20 Mile Bay). We entered a confidentiality agreement with a US hydro utility 

company that is interested in purchasing power directly from our partnership with Innergex on 

the proposed Th’awel Hydro project.

The role of Business Development is to find new strategic opportunities for Sts’ailes, determine 

feasibility of prospective businesses and expansion of existing enterprises, start new companies 

on the path to viability, and stimulate the Sts’ailes economy, including job creation. In that 

regard, various feasibility studies and proposals were generated. In particular, we obtained 

a $300,000 provincial grant to determine the feasibility of establishing a kiln and a cross-

laminated timber manufacturing facility at the sortyard. The plan will determine next steps once 

concluded by March, 2018.

SDC Finance reports a net profit of $498,501 for 2016-17. We engaged MNP LLP, Chartered 

Professional Accountants to compile the statements of the financial position of each of SDC’s 

business operations as well as the statement of operations and accumulated surplus. We 

also engaged an independent accounting firm with financial designation to provide advice 

and financial oversight. The audit for the year ended March 31, 2017 will be available to the 

community for viewing in the Summer of 2017.

SDC is proud to serve and meet its Council mandate in the creation of a vibrant economy for 

Sts’ailes. We look forward to continued success. 

ROBERT LAGASSÉ  |  Xéylsqóyeplexw 
CEO 
Sts’ailes Development Corporation
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DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION

ADMINISTRATION

SDC BOARD OF DIRECTORS

President 
Kelsey Charlie 

Tixweltel

Director 
Brad Charlie 
Hoyet thet

Director 
Chief Clarence Louie 

Ki’lowna

Director 
Al Stobbart

Finance & Operations 
Manager 

Sadie Leon 
T'ámiyalhót

Business Dev. Manager 
Dave Allen 

Siyam Sequets

CEO 
Robert Lagassé 
Xéylsqóyeplexw

Executive Secretary 
Toni Carter 

Mém’xa

Following the election of a new Sts’ailes Chief and Council in March, one of Chief Ralph Leon’s first responsibilities was to assign 
portfolios. Councillor Kelsey Charlie has returned as the SDC, Fisheries & Wildlife Portfolio. In turn, the portfolio takes on the role 
of President of SDC. In addition, changes to the Chehalis Economic Development Trust were made with the appointment of 2 new 
trustees - Councillor Sherylynn Crispin who took on the role of Finance Portfolio,  and Councillor Boyd Peters who took on the role 
of Snowoyelh Portfolio. Continuing Trustees include Norm Daley and Karen Blomquist.

SDC obtains contracted services from Bruce Hupet, a Chartered Professional Accountant who provides financial oversight and 
support to Sadie Leon, the new Finance and Operations Manager. Laura Wright was the successful candidate for the advertised 
position manager of Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem and Toni-Dawn Carter took on the Acting Executive Secretary position upon Sherylynn 
Crispin taking on new, more senior responsibilities as Land Use Planning Coordinator for Sts’ailes. Jeremy Boyd, Sasquatch Forest 
Products Operations Forester returned to his community near Anaheim Lake in the Fall. SDC will be contracting out the services 
formerly provided by Jeremy.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

SASQUATCH CROSSING ECO LODGE

Facility Operator 
Denny Stobbart 

Xaselmétiya 

Supervisor 
Laura Wright 

STS’AILES LHAWATHET LALEM

Custodian  
Violet Blain 
Tl'alqtele

Maintenance Worker 
Dwayne Commodore 
Siyametael

On-Call Staff

Maintenance 
Contractor 
Al Stobbart

Admin. Assistant 
Shauneen Charlie 
Setiwalemot

Senior Forester 
Dave Allen 

Siyam Sequets

General Manager 
Dave Moore 
Swi:welelet

Operations Manager 
Kim Charlie 
Pó:kwelwet

Store Manager 
Vanessa Jules 

L'eyeslhot

SASQUATCH FOREST PRODUCTS 

FISHERIESCHEHALIS STORE & GAS BAR

Supervisor 
Lois Neufeldt 
Séquota  

Store Clerk 
Domanic Charlie-
Francis

Store Clerk 
Will Adams

Store Clerk 
Willette Combes

On-Call Staff

CAMPGROUND ENTERPRISES

Rec Sites Contractor  
Bruce Ledingham

Camp Cove 
Store Manager Vanessa Jules 
L'eyeslhot

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Seasonal staff
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The role of business development is to find new strategic 
opportunities for SDC, determine feasibility of prospective 
businesses, start new companies on the path to viability and 
stimulate the Sts’ailes economy, including job creation.

Projects in Pre-Feasibility Stage

• Bottled water plant
• Health Care Centre & Assisted-Living Facility
• Lakefront Resort Development at Harrison Lake
• Cross laminated timber manufacturing facility
 
Projects in Business Plan Stage

• Hydro Project at Lookout Lake
• Fisheries added value products
 
Joint Ventures & Other Businesses

• Commercial/Residential Construction 
• Land Clearing Construction
• Remote Camp Services JV
• Commercial Ice Production
• Clean Energy Production
• Real Estate Development (on/off-reserve)

Area-Based First Nations Woodland Licence 
(FNWL)

The Forest Tenure Opportunities Agreement (FTOA-C), which 
is the document that facilitates the award of the FNWL, is now 
being drafted by the province.  Once this Agreement is signed 
by Sts’ailes and the province, the license will be offered to 
Sts’ailes.

SDC-BC Timber Sales “Partnership” 

The final draft of the commercial arrangement, whereby SDC 
manages BCTS’ reserve volume within Sts’ailes’ FNWL, is in the 
hands of BCTS for signing.  As a result SDC was given the first 
engineering contract by BCTS to manage 15,000 m3 to a timber 
sale referral state. 

Rebranding of Fuel Services at Chehalis Store 
& Gas Bar

Fuel services rebranding was completed in March converting 
from United Petroleum brand fuel to Fas Gas Plus.  This was a 
joint effort between SDC and Parkland Fuel Corporation.  SDC 
is projecting a 30% increase in total store sales as a result of this 
rebranding. 

Lumber Drying and Cross Laminated Timber 
Project

SDC, on behalf of Sts’ailes, applied to the Rural Dividend 
Program to secure funds, with the help of FPInnovations, a 
forest research institute, to research the potential investment 
in manufacturing hemlock lamina stock for eventual use by the 
Japanese in cross laminated timber production.  Sts’ailes was 
awarded $300,000 under the Program.

SDC has also involved FPInnovations, under the same award, to 
help with the feasibility study regarding setting up dry kilns on 
IR5 to dry the lamina stock and dimensional cedar lumber for 
Teal Forest Products.  FPInnovations is donating $150,000 to 
the project.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Land Development 

Sts’ailes and the Province are nearing the conclusion of 
negotiations of two parcels of Crown land within Sts’ailes 
Traditional Territory. The negotiations are taking place as an 
accommodation for the sale of recreation lots in the Harrison 
Lake area, and the trespass of portions of Morris Valley Road 
onto reserve lands. 

SDC currently awaits conclusion of negotiations between the 
Sts’ailes Aboriginal Rights & Title Dept. and the Province on the 
transfer of the Crown land properties. More information about 
the progress of the negotiations can be found in the Aboriginal 
Rights & Title section of this Community Report.

So how does this relate to SDC? 

The Province requires the lands to be transferred to a business 
entity. The land will be held for Sts’ailes under a partnership 
of the Chehalis Economic Development Trust which will serve 
as the Limited Partner (LP), and SDC will serve as the General 
Partner (GP). The partnership that will be referred to as 
Sts’ailes Land Development (SLD). SLD will hold and develop 
the properties on behalf of Sts’ailes, much like how Sts’ailes 
is developing in the clean energy sector (SEED - Sts’ailes Eco 
Energy Development). 

The lands under negotiations are being earmarked for specific 
uses, one being a Primary Health Care Centre which is being 
referred to as SLD Sts’ailes Sasq’ets a:eylexwt awtexw LP, and the 
second property for future development.   

The land transfer is a significant milestone for Sts’ailes and SDC 
in that the transfer of lands exemplifies Sts’ailes’ commitment 
and assertion of increasing our presence on the land, continuing 
to protect our lands, and developing our socio-economic 
efficiencies. 

Forest, Lands & Natural Resource Operations, 
Chilliwack, Industry Investment Award

The province, through Forest, Lands and Natural Resource 
Operations, Chilliwack (FLNRO), awarded Sts’ailes $500,000 to 
further Sts’ailes’ investment in the forest sector.  This award was 
a result of Sts’ailes and SDC’s presentation to the province and 
the Fraser TSA licensees regarding the unacceptable low timber 

volume awarded to Sts’ailes under its forest licenses.  SDC is 
now working toward investing the funds in a forest sector related 
business. 

Th’awel: A Clean Energy Project 

Last year we reported that SDC is developing an Economic 
Development Agreement (EDA) for a Clean Energy Project 
with Innergex. SDC has obtained the water rights and land use 
certificates for this proposed project.

Key provisions of the agreement include:

• The opportunity to buy into a significant equity position on a 
major hydro project;

• Escalating royalties that are based on annual net sales;

• Upfront various payments;

• Direct award contracting opportunities;

• Opportunity to participate on competitive bids with a price 
adder;

• Employment and training commitments.

Separate from the EDA, an Electricity Purchase Agreement 
(EPA) is being negotiated by the AR&T department as part of a 
Reconciliation Agreement with the Province.  BC Hydro issues 
EPA’s based on project feasibility, the likelihood of completion 
and on the need for the electricity. EPA’s can have a term of up 
to 40 years.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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Legal Structure for SLD (Lands) & SEED (Hydro)

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Five-Year Evergreen Contract 

New this year, SDC and Maharg Contracting/Senica Logging 
(MS) are negotiating a five-year renewable logging contract 
whereby MS will have a guaranteed volume of timber to log 
over the next five years. The volume will be 70% of the five-year 
allowable cut or 104, 000 m3. Logging rates will be negotiated 
to industry competitive rates. The target completion of the 
contract is within the second quarter of the next fiscal year 
(August / September 2016).  

Purchase of Washington 78A 40 Grapple Yarder 

Also new this year, a yarder was purchased to facilitate the 
timely logging of the cable ground associated with our forest 
licenses. Much of our volume is located on the mountain slopes 
which require a yarder. It is projected that our logging company, 
Sasquatch Forest Products (SFP), can save approximately $5.00/
m3 by doing our own cable logging. The yarder started work in 
March 2015. A projected volume to be logged annually is 7,500 
m3 with a capacity to log 25,000 m3 annually. Contracting the 
machine out is a possibility. 

COUNCILCHEHALIS 

ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT 

TRUST

MEMBERSHIP

SEED: Sts'ailes Eco Energy Development 

(A partnership of Chehalis Economic 
Development Trust and Sts'ailes Development 
Corporation)

The trust, as limited partner, has 
liability protection as long as it is 
a passive investor that does not 
participate in management.

The Chief holds the shares in SDC  
in trust for membership.  Chief and 

Council appoint directors of SDC but 
do not participate in management.

SDC, as general partner, is responsible for 
managing the various limited partnerships.

SEED 
Sakwi 

LP

SEED 
Bremner Trio 

LP

SEED 
New Energy Project 

LP

SLD 
Camp Cove 
LP

SLD 
Health Centre 
LP

SLD 
New Land 
LP

ENERGY GROUP LAND GROUP

Li
m

ite

d Partner

General Partner

Owner - In trust for Sts'ailes m
em

bership

Benef ciaries Elect

SLD: Sts'ailes Land Development 

(A partnership of Chehalis Economic 
Development Trust and Sts'ailes Development 
Corporation)

Sts'ailes Fisheries.
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Sasquatch Forest Products LP

Our forestry operations are located in the Fraser Timber  
Supply Area. 

Timber Profile 

SDC manages three forest licences for Sts’ailes: 

• 20-year, 10-year renewable Woodlot License #89 (Annual 
Cut: 2,732 m3) 

• 5-year, non-replaceable Forest License A80584 (Annual Cut: 
27,728 m3)

 ü This license will be converted to an Area-Based Woodland 
License within the next few months. 

• 3-year, non-replaceable Forest License A91110 (Annual Cut: 
23,107 m3)

 ü This license volume was sold to a third party who is 
responsible for all operations including the reforestation 
obligations to free growing.  

 
Sasquatch Forest Products (SFP) works closely with Sts’ailes’ 
Aboriginal Rights and Title Department to ensure that Sts’ailes’ 
traditional and cultural values are considered in the planning 
stages of harvesting and those values are protected as the actual 
harvesting operations unfold. The following is a summary of 
logging, road construction and reforestation for the period April 
1, 2016 through March 31, 2017:

Logging (under the supervision of SFP) 

• Forestry License A80584: 10,342 m3  logged by Senica 
Logging Ltd.

• Forestry License A80584: 15,320 m3 logged by Tamihi 
Logging Ltd.

FORESTRY SECTOR

95% saw log 
5% pulp log 
50% Douglas Fir 
43% Hemlock & Balsam 
7% Cedar

• Forestry License A91110: 55,542 m3 logged by Western 
Canadian Timber Products (Tamihi).

• IR 5:  16,900 m3 logged by Senica Logging Ltd.

• Woodlot License W0089: 5,600 m3 logged by Senica 
Logging Ltd.

Investments in Logging

In December, 2016, SDC purchased a grapple yarder to log on 
the steeper ground.  This initial investment in logging equipment 
is anticipated to reduce our logging costs on 30% of our annual 
cut by approximately $5-7 per cubic meter.

Road Construction

• 4.3 km constructed.
 
Reforestation

• Planted:  45,000 seedlings;
• Brushed:  28 hectares.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

FISHERIES SECTOR

Harrison Fisheries Authority (HFA) - A Sts’ailes and Scowlitz Co-management Partnership

New Highlights 

• The AFS funding agreement ($250k) is in place for the third year. The funding 
is dedicated to annual stock assessment work, monitoring and the Fisheries 
Manager position.  

• Fishers were invited to three fishers forums to plan Economic Fisheries for the 
season. 

• Lower Fraser Fisheries Alliance (LFFA):

 ü The Fisheries Manager is on the Executive Committee of the LFFA. 

 ü This group is becoming an effective organizing force in the lower Fraser 
River.  

• See data sections for more info. 

How HFA Works Allocations are negotiated between DFO and the HFA represented by Council designates from Sts’ailes 
and Scowlitz. General fishing plans are agreed to in advance of the season, while actual allocations are 
generally announced within 24 hours of the fishery. Access, timing and space sharing is coordinated 
with the rest of the lower Fraser First Nations through pre-fishery meetings hosted by the Lower Fraser 
Fisheries Alliance (LFFA). 

The Sasquatch and the salmon have a long 

and rich history in Sts’ailes and Scowlitz, 

for both residents and visitors. The heart 

of their traditional territory is the bountiful 

Harrison and Chehalis Lakes region. For 

Sts’ailes (formerly Chehalis Indian Band) and 

Scowlitz the Sasquatch is an important aspect 

of cultural identity and spiritual beliefs. The 

Sasquatch is so integral to this First Nation 

that their adopted logo is a stylized image 

of the Sasquatch, as is the Sts’ailes national 

flag – and naturally, their fishing enterprise 

embraces the salmon logo of their neighbours 

in Scowlitz.
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Harrison Salmon Producers LP (HSP)

About HSP The Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership is a business forum for the shared fishery. Access to 
Economic Opportunity (EO) fisheries is provided via contract set out by the HFA represented by Sts’ailes and 
Scowlitz and is then assigned to designated fishers. 

New Highlights 

• In 2016 HSP refreshed a business plan for 2015-2020 and it 
is built upon our existing strong core of fishing capacity by 
independent designated fishers from Sts’ailes and Scowlitz 
who fish wild salmon from Total Allowable Catch transferred 
by DFO into this terminal fishing area from voluntary license 
relinquishment. 

• The business is starting to profit from the emerging logistic 
services in the fishery, and is expanding from commodity 
markets to value-added markets across BC and as far east 
as Toronto. Market hubs like Chehalis Store are selling our 
products locally and in the Okanagan, Williams Lake and 
Vancouver. 

• HSP is expanding local salmon products targeting consumer-
direct sales and restaurants. 

 ü The Chehalis Store (aka Harrison Market Hub) reported 
sales of $14,000 since the fall of 2015, and a total of 
$40,000 in sales to restaurants from Vancouver to 
Toronto.    

 ü We also installed a back-up generator to support the 
walk-in freezer at the Chehalis Store ($80k value). 

• HSP expanded the fisheries compound in 2016 to 10,000 sq 
ft of paved parking lot with expanded security cameras and 
lights, and added new equipment to its fleet including a 6 ton 
telehandler and a 16 ton flatbed truck with a knuckle boom.

• The joint business plans to internalize all local logistics and 
brokerage services are starting in 2017 with an investment in 
more than $1 million for equipment and training in readiness. 
HSP expects to turn 2 part-time positions into full time 
positions in 2017.

Harrison Salmon Stronghold (HSS)

About HSS

The only Stronghold initiative in Canada, HSS advocates local leadership and encourages 
partnership building among managers, landowners and users of the resource through habitat and 
fisheries stewardship. The return of salmon fishing to the Harrison River allows the harvesters to 
select the most productive stocks to protect biodiversity. This move to terminal fishing improves 
opportunities for Aboriginal subsistence as well as commercial and sport fisheries.

The HSS works to:

• Promote stewardship of our watershed’s salmon eco system to conserve a nationally 
significant salmon stronghold

• Advocate for the sound management of wild salmon and their habitats
• Encourage selective and sustainable fishing practices, and 
• Generate funding and partnerships for stewardship. 

New Highlights

• The HSS is in its 6th year of operations. The forum, represented by a formal Board of Directors 
called the Harrison Salmon Stronghold Council is administered by the SDC and chaired by 
Sts’ailes.  

• SDC secured $189,000 this year to undertake habitat assessments, prioritize habitats at risk, 
and develop a habitat strategy for the Harrison River. The program is slated for completion 
in 2018 and will include interactive mapping and shovel-ready projects for corporate or 
government sponsorship.  This year’s work plan also included restoration of another 600 m of 
Jimmy Charlie Slough that had been lost to siltation, invasive species, and low flows. 

• The Harrison Salmon Festival continued to build on a partnership with the Bald Eagle Festival to 
create a tourist season of “the salmon and eagles”. 

Harrison Salmon Festival 2015

On October 12 and 13 approximately 150 children from both Sts’ailes and Abbotsford elementary 
schools attended 2 days of beach seining and a hosted lunch, songs and dancing at the Charlie 
Longhouse. The annual festival is aimed at educating the public about the importance of the 
Harrison River fishery.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

To view news footage on this event go to http://globalnews.ca/video/2999792/kids-help-scientist-
study-salmon-on-the-harrison-river 



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT156 157

River Select Fisheries Cooperative (RSFC)

About River Select

The RSFC was created in June 2014 and the Harrison Salmon Producers LP 
(HSP) was appointed as the administrator / manager of the shared cooperative 
business. The RSFC creates efficiencies in the production of the local 
commercial harvest of salmon that the HSP can now brand while using the 
combined marketing and distribution services to make the local fishery profitable 
and sustainable.  

Our knowledge of salmon is embedded in our communities’ histories, arts, and 
cultures. By combining our traditional knowledge with conservation science, 
and sharing this with others linked via QR coding on all packaging, we are 
celebrating the abundance and diversity of river life through our value-added 
salmon products. 

New Highlights

• The cooperative has successfully 
implemented a supply chain program 
through market hubs under development 
at the Chehalis Store, Okanagan, and the 
Upper Fraser River, as well as a new hub in 
Vancouver which will also deal with export 
plans starting in 2017

• Sales of value-added salmon products 
through the Cooperative for this fiscal year 
are over $150k. 

• Harrison Salmon Producers (HSP) acted 
as host for the cooperative since 2014 
and has been repaid $50,000 to help 
cash-flow the cooperative by Vancity while 
generating another $135,000 in value-
added production business. The goal is to 
make the co-op profitable by 2018 and to 
improve profits for operations to the SDC. 

• The co-op is a vehicle for HSP to transition 
from commodity to value-added markets 
and replace our dependency on large fish 
companies by 2018.

Check out our Wild Salmon Recipes and 
newest products:  
 
https://www.facebook.com/riverselect/ 
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Economic Fisheries Harvest Results
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First Nation Fisheries Authority  
Sts’ailes and Scowlitz (Harrison Fisheries Authority or HFA)

Fishery 
Economic Opportunity – Harrison-Lower Fraser River  
Chum Salmon 

Fishing Enterprise 
Harrison Salmon Producers LLP (HSP) 

Fishery Duration  
Oct. 24 & 25; Nov. 3 & 8

Gear type 
Beach Seine  

Designated Fishers 
46 

Monitors and Landing crew employed/earnings 
12 temporary workers earned $9,602

Effort/Crews  
5 (average 9.2 fishers per crew)

Business Statistics

• HSP Chum Fishery net profit/loss: $34,128 ($31,472 commodity markets; $2,655 projected from experimental value-adding) 

 ü HSP recovered costs: $9,602 (HSP Monitoring/handling); $6,195 (Scowlitz Landing Fees)
 ü Markets: 68% to primary commodity market/ 5.8% to value-added products (6 x the 2015 investment)

1 
 Also includes experimental contract with one crew for “high quality” handling that paid double for males $2,715 ($4 / male for 730 males)

Harvest  
24,993 chum; 56% females

CPUE  
69 sets / 142.5 hours; catch of 175.4 chum /hr (362.2 chum/set); 
catch of 543.3 chum per fisher

Procurement cost/fishers income  
$66,230 ($2/male & $8/female)

Average earnings per crew member after deductions  
$1,439 ($480/day)

HSP Economic Opportunities Harvest Summary 
Harrison confluence / adjacent Lower Fraser Chum Salmon Fishery

Community Fisheries 
Sts’ailes and Scowlitz members only 

Harvest Area 
Harrison River confluence with Fraser River, and in the Fraser 
River from the upstream point at the Agassiz-Rosedale Highway 
Bridge downstream to the Sumas River Mouth
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Chehalis River Hatchery 

Weaver Spawning Channel 
 

There was no 2016 ESSR Harvest due to 
insufficient returns.

Food/Social/Ceremonial (FSC) Fisheries Harvest Results 
FSC Harvest summary 2016

HSP Lower Fraser-Harrison Confluence Chum EO Fishery 2016

Sockeye 3757 Male 9,721

Eulachon 110 lbs.

2 ReleasedSteelhead

Chinook* 602

Sturgeon 60 Released

Coho* 78

Chum 1309 Female 7,110

Pink 0

Total 16,821

* Wild & Hatchery

Male

Male

Male

Male

4899

1531

2684

1874

Female

Female

Female

Female

5069

2043

4417

2476

Total

Total

Total

Total

9968

3574

7101

4350

OCTOBER 24

OCTOBER 25

NOVEMBER 3

NOVEMBER 3

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

TOURISM SECTOR

Campgrounds

SDC holds a 5 year management agreement with the BC 
Province’s Ministry of Forest, Lands and Natural Resources 
Operations to manage Recreation Sites and Trails at the 
following sites: Chehalis River; Weaver Lake (2); Grace Lake; 
Wolf Lake; Wood Lake; Stepsum (20 Mile Bay); Skwellipel 
(Chehalis Lake); Denham Trail.  Management oversight is 
provided by a contracted Operator who hires Camp Hosts to 
provide stability and good order for enjoyable, family focused 
camping experiences. 

SDC also operates Camp Cove as a group-only campground, 
managed by the Store.

Highlights: 

• Provincial Recreation Sites

 ü The annual Management and Operating Plan was 
submitted in the 3rd quarter (December 2015) as per the 
Partnership Agreement with the Province. This report 
covers 7 campgrounds and provides extensive details on 
improvements and standard operations. 

 ü A proposed development plan was submitted for 
potential expansion of the Chehalis River Rec Site by 
adding up to 65 sites or more. 

 ü The Swellipel site is closed due to various hazards, 
especially poor road conditions. The Wood Lake site was 
closed due to site improvements needed to rectify forest 
fire issues from last year. It may reopen in the Summer of 
2016. 

• Camp Cove 

 ü Road upgrades were undertaken including expansion of 
the lower area allowing better access. (approx.$20k cost). 

 ü SDC continues to run the camp as a group site.  
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Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge

Highlights: 

• New, higher rate structure appears to be well accepted by 
guests and stays are still seen as good value for dollars spent 
with ever increasing European and American travellers.

• SCEL continues its 100% excellent rating on Trip Advisor, 
holds an extremely high 9.4 rating on Booking.com.  

• SCEL was awarded a “2017 Recognition of Excellence” 
from Hotels Combined (a large, Australia-based booking 
aggregator) for an overall guest rating of 9.7/10 based upon 
HC’s search of all available online ratings. This rating is in the 
top 1% in the country and will move us higher in appearance 
in HC’s and other accommodation booking sites. 

• Renewed memberships with Agassiz-Harrison Chamber of 
Commerce, Tourism Harrison Hot Springs and Destination 
BC. 

• The SCEL Manager’s alumni partnering with UFV is ongoing. 
SCEL receives editorial space and sponsor status in the UFV 
Alumni publication (circ. of ~30,000) and floor space at the 
annual student grad fair.

• SCEL has maintained our Green Tourism Canada Silver 
Certification for our high standards in environmental and 
cultural sustainability! This “green” stamp of approval (which 
appears on our website and promotional materials) ensures 
we can compete worldwide with tourism businesses that 
appeal to travelers who make choices which protect and 
benefit the planet and local communities.

• SCEL joined the Sto:lo Business Association in an effort 
to become better known locally and further develop 
relationships with our FN and other government neighbors. 

• Enrolled in the 2017 BC Government Accommodation Guide 
(includes BC, Alberta and Washington State employees). This 
~15-20% rate reduction is also available for bookings by all 
Sts’ailes Community members!  

2011
$3,470.10

$31,404.20

2011 240

2014
$879.10

$61,121.20

2014 405

2013
$2,265.70

$53,851.10

2013 332

2016
$1,458.8

$63,978.40

2016 418

2010
$31,449.40

2010 174

$5,232.20

2012
$43,739

2012 327

$11,259.40

2015
$55,476.80

2015 403

$1,043

SCEL Annual Income

SCEL Annual Room Nights Sold

Income

Promo

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Sts’ailes has owned and operated Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem (SLL) since November 2001. We are located on 34 acres of pristine 
provincial Crown land. Ideally suited for hosting business meetings, conferences, seminars, community or family gatherings, this 
facility has full catering services. Includes industrial kitchen, climbing wall, meeting facilities, covered gym, 16 bedrooms, and can 
accommodate 150 guests.

SLL operations paid off the debt taken to purchase the facilities. SLL continues to operate at a profit. 

Highlights 

• Fusion Dance group (picture shown) has been coming to SLL for 10+ years for their annual Dance Camp which takes place over 7 
days every August. This group has been one of the many pleasures of SLL and they, over time, have become part of the SLL family. 
Fusion does their annual camp fire night and has taken great joy in asking any and all community members to take part in their 
night of songs and laughter both brought by the group and Sts’ailes community members.    
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Rebranding of Chehalis Store Fuel Supplier

The Business Development Manager is coordinating the 
rebranding of the store. Seven fuel providers were contacted 
to seek their interest, and two responded with a proposal. A 
preliminary report with a comparative analysis was submitted 
to the CEO and SDC Board for review and selection of a 
successful candidate. On-site upgrades are expected to start 
within the 2nd or 3rd quarter of the next fiscal year. 

Highlights: 

• Walk-in freezer was constructed in the 4th quarter (March 
2016) to serve as the “hub” location for Harrison Salmon 
Producers LP to conduct salmon sales. 

• We began selling (and continue to sell) salmon fillets and 
candied salmon.

• Received a new ATM machine in the 1st quarter.

• Two Summer Workers for Summer 2015 received training. 

RETAIL SECTOR

1st Qrt.

FUEL

2nd Qrt.

3rd Qrt.

4th Qrt.

$206,131.42

$200,356.33

$220,205.86

$211,700.48

1st Qrt.

LOTTERY

2nd Qrt.

3rd Qrt.

4th Qrt.

$14,884.00

$12,019.00

$13,995.00

$14,003.00

1st Qrt.

GENERAL MERCHANDISE

2nd Qrt.

3rd Qrt.

4th Qrt.

$6,219.74

$5,980.89

$5,059.24

$4,950.82

1st Qrt.

CIGARETTES

2nd Qrt.

3rd Qrt.

4th Qrt.

$73,150.68

$63,731.45

$71,376.01

$87,940.42

1st Qrt.

NON-TAXABLE GROCERY

2nd Qrt.

3rd Qrt.

4th Qrt.

$12,099.82

$11,233.96

$11,351.56

$10,739.86

1st Qrt.

SNACKS

2nd Qrt.

3rd Qrt.

4th Qrt.

$39,889.35

$43,564.92

$34,485.69

$39,052.63

Store Sales - Quarterly Comparison
April 1, 2016 - March 31, 2017 Fiscal Year

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

CLEAN ENERGY SECTOR

Big Silver Creek Hydro

This project is a run-of-river hydroelectric power generating 
facility with an installed capacity of 40.6 MW, enough to power 
more than 12,700 households. It is located approximately 
40 km north of Harrison Hot Springs on the east side of the 
lake. Construction began in June 2014 and was completed in 
July 2016. The project is 100% owned by Innergex. Sts’ailes 
negotiated an agreement with Innergex that provides royalties 
and opportunities for contracts. As a result, SDC negotiated the 
provision of camp services over a 2 ½ year period along with its 
partner LandSea Camps which also provided several jobs during 
the term of the project. SDC’s Sasquatch Forest Products 
also landed contracts for site clearing, logging right of ways 
and marketing of logs. SDC acted as Sts’ailes Representative 
throughout the construction phase.

Sakwi Creek Hydro

This project is a run-of-river hydroelectric development with 
an installed capacity of 5.4MW that was commissioned in early 
2016. It is located in the vicinity of Weaver Lake. Sts’ailes owns 
30% held by Sts’ailes Eco Energy Development (SEED) Sakwi 
LP. The summer of 2016 was unseasonably dry which seriously 
affected production over several months. Thus the project’s 
operating performance fell short of projected output.

Bremner Trio Hydro

This project will include a hydro facility at each of the two 
creeks, both at 25 MW capacities. This project kept us 
particularly active working to conclude the lending of $5 million 
and the purchase of $3.2 million in shares held by Sts’ailes 
Eco Energy Development (SEED) Bremner Trio LP. SDC was 
charged with finance negotiations, with support from the Chief 
Negotiator, and leading all due diligence and risk assessment 
required in the borrowing of over $9.2 million financed through 
the First Nations Finance Authority of which Sts’ailes is an 
approved borrowing member. Sts’ailes will own 10% of the 2 
projects which are estimated to cost $206 million to build. 
Following several months of camp facility mobilization through 
2015 the Trio project began construction in the late winter 
of 2016. SDC and Sts’ailes also worked together to assist the 
developer in overcoming roadblocks in obtaining approvals 

including those necessary to create the Trio Development 
Plan, as required by the BC government. Development plans 
include needed land tenures and water licenses which are 
also required to finance and construct these types of projects. 
However, the Bremner Development Plan is facing serious 
delays in being able to start construction due to lack of timely 
response from the government which sites lack of resources as 
the cause for delay(s), which are very excessive. Other delays 
include conclusion of shareholder agreements and senior lender 
financing.

Tha’wel Power Corp LP

Over 2016 we continued through the development stages of 
feasibility, site selection and completing preliminary models 
required to determine viability of a new hydro project on 
Lookout Lake, adjacent Stepsum (20 Mile Bay). All other Sts’ailes 
clean energy projects are run-of-river while Tha’wel would 
run under a Pumped Storage (PS) model. In a PS project, the 
turbines use lower-priced electricity from the grid, typically 
during light load hours, to pump water from a lower-elevation 
reservoir (Harrison Lake) to an upper-elevation reservoir 
(Lookout Lake). The water is then released during higher-priced 
peak demand hours to generate electricity. Reversible turbine/
generator assemblies or separate pumps and turbines are used 
in PS facilities. SDC, Sts’ailes and its partner Innergex entered a 
confidentiality agreement with a US hydro utility company that 
is interested in purchasing power directly from Th’awel Power 
Corp. The planned capacity is in the range of up to 300MW, 
enough to power approximately 90,000 homes. Development 
phases for hydro projects can typically take up to 5 years before 
decisions to proceed can be made; in this case probably not 
until year 2020.
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CONSTRUCTION SECTOR

SDC and Nations Construction continue to discuss entering a joint venture to build residential and commercial facilities.

Fisheries habitat enhancement construction continued through 2016 at the Jimmy Charlie Slough which was financed by Innergex’s 
Big Silver Hydro project as an offset. Construction was completed in the late Fall. A project feasibility study and proposal were 
prepared by Port Metro Vancouver (PMV) to focus on Chinook habitat restoration in the Harrison River near the community. This 
may involve a long term plan and a contribution(s) by PMV towards habitat restoration.

The Sts’ailes sortyard was rented to Innergex following the completion of the Big Silver Hydro project construction. A portion of the 
sortyard was used for the temporary storage of 12 trailers used for accommodation at the camp.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONCommon area with Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge.
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FINANCES

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017

1,705,053 

2,157,098 

2,752,723

(595,625)

2,157,098

(987,161) 

1,989,853 

637,982 

906,132
122,903
676,018

171,180
388,052

78,750

97,406 
13,278

225,595
110,958

4,808

1,550,062
122,748
441,931

2016

1,520,374 

1,989,853

2,977,014 

616,398 

824,094
118,349
577,931

322,426 
293,972

-

121,758 
13,278

195,564
138,879

-

1,686,969 
210,013

463,634

Assets
Current
Trade and other receivables 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses and deposits

Liabilities
Current
Bank indebtedness 
Trade and other payables 
Deferred revenue

Property, plant and equipment 
Investment in Seablrd-Sts'ailes-Cheam ILM Joint Venture 
Due from Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Ltd. 
Due from SEED (Sakwi) LP 
Due from SEED (Bremner Trio) LP 

Due to Sts'ailes 
Due to Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership 
Reforestation obligation 

Partners' Capital

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Earnings 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

5,989,999

4,187,479

1,802,520

50,000
2,682

24,352
46,867

944
8,553
1,978

167
-

19,258
22,291
3,610

-
49,409
17,091

80,981
824,103
130,613
43,036
16,462
18,166

48,995
1,426

1,410,984

391,536

30.1%

5,700,892

3,521,948 

2,178,944

50,000
960

15,065
- 

981
6,736
2,078

837
56,255
17,570

29,644
6,987

371
34,949
16,142

26,092
794,520

19,338
31,562
18,554
17,778

47,095
3,845

1,197,359

981,585

38.2%

2017 2016

Revenue

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Net Earnings

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Gross margin as a percentage of revenue 

Administration 
Advertising and promotion 
Amortization 
Bad debts 
Delivery, freight and express 
Directors' fees 
Dues, licenses and fees 
Food and beverage 
Fuel rebate fees 
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office 
Permits and licenses 
Professional fees 
Program expense 
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Sub-contracts 
Supplies 
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel 
Utilities 
Vehicle expenses 



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT168 169DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Partners' Capital 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

(987,240)
391,497

79
39

(595,743)

118

(595,625)

(1,968,727)
981,487

(19)
98

(987,240) 

79

(987,161)

Chehalis Indian Bank Economic Development Trust
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

Sts'ailes Development Corporation
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
SCHEDULE 1 - Store & Gas Station 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

5,989,999

4,187,479

1,802,520

1,060
2,213
944

-
3,629
9,023

478
22,145

167,560
(3,967)
3,845

488
15,864

663

223,945

36,840

5,700,892

3,521,948 

2,178,944

101
2,766

981
56,255
3,456

-
1,640

(46,188)
149,464

1,634
4,717
200

19,471
700

195,197

(16,522)

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Operating income (loss)

Advertising and promotion 
Amortization
Delivery, freight and express 
Fuel rebate fees
Insurance
Interest and bank charges 
Office
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies
Telephone, fax and internet
Travel 
Utilities
Vehicle expenses
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STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
SCHEDULE 2 - Forestry 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

3,045,580

2,410,900

634,680

250
22,139
46,867

9,162
630
565
709

148,347
70

207
783

2,832
-

232,559

402,121

3,185,686

1,830,056

1,355,630

-
12,299

-
26,014
1,462
1,110

-
158,833
24,595

-
1,093
2,869
3,098

231,374

1,124,256

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Operating income

Advertising and promotion 
Amortization
Bad debts
Interest and bank charges 
Office
Professional fees 
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies
Sub-contracts
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel
Vehicle expenses

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
SCHEDULE 3 - Fisheries 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

260,102

106,074

154,028

-
88

-
50,039

5,528
-

(133)
58

55,580

98,448

53,100

-

53,100

1,747
88
23

58,292
-

2,000
1,319

48

63,518

(10,418)

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Operating income (loss)

Insurance
Interest and bank charges
Office
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies
Sub-contracts 
Travel
Vehicle expenses
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STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
SCHEDULE 4 - Lhawathet Lalem 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

386,547

51,354

335,193

375
9,167

1,840
341

25,726
161,035

4,315
6,641

50
33,132

662

243,283

91,910

311,152

46,056

265,096

371
7,311

1,372
234

39,860
148,400

1,988
8,201

717
27,624

-

236,077

29,019

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Operating income

Dues, licenses and fees 
Insurance
Interest and bank charges 
Office
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel
Utilities
Vehicle expenses

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
SCHEDULE 5 - Business Development Services 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

458,369

40,535

417,834

50,000
1,372
8,553
1,603

167
6,462
2,179
2,161

48,844
17,091

32,401
297,121
37,090

130,406
5,194

14,929
43

655,616

(237,782)

477,200

150,757

326,443

50,000
859

6,736
2,078

837
5,056
2,170
3,628

33,839
16,142

32,420
279,531

3,346
17,338
4,543
12,673

-

471,195

(144,752)

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Operating loss

Administration  
Advertising and promotion 
Directors' fees
Dues, licenses and fees 
Food and beverage 
Insurance
Interest and bank charges 
Office
Professional fees 
Program expense 
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies
Sub-contracts
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel
Vehicle expenses
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HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

342,857

1,283,118

962,937

1,283,118

658,473

1,082,268

320,181

210,022
132,835

-
-

252,564
21,966
45,651

817,513
122,748

319,539

1,082,268

423,795

268,141
36,600

3,349
11,449

357,603
20,541
45,651

552,716
210,013

Assets
Current
Cash
Trade and other receivables
Goods and Services Tax receivable
Inventory

Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables
Advances from Sts'alles
Advances from Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Ltd.

Property and equipment 
Advances to Sts'ailes Development Limited Partnership

Partners' Capital

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Earnings 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

1,139,075
205,102

712

1,344,889

14,095
496,260

493

510,848

Revenue
Sales
Other
Co-op Investment Premium

21,295
107,921

1,085
105,417

-
-

27,664
8,637

588
895

299,806
6,421

144,294
7,892
7,247

46,809
235,796

7,087
6,334
5,237

1,040,425

304,464

11,732
75,311

902
550

1,250
265

17,323
6,734

626
2,397

10,726
13,355

36,420
-

2,867
62,117

76,032
5,536

685
7,181

332,009

178,839

Expenses

Net Earnings

Advertising and promotion 
Amortization
Automotive 
Commissions 
Dues and licenses 
Equipment rental 
Freight
Insurance
Interest and bank charges 
Office
Processing 
Professional fees 
Purchases 
Rental
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Sub-contracts
Supplies 
Travel 
Utilities
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329,919
152,217

329,918
152,217

(1,364)
30

482,136

482,135

(1,334)

962,937

240,508
89,411

240,508
89,410

(1,382)
18

329,919

329,918

(1,364)

658,473

Sts'ailes
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

Scowlitz First Nation
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

Harrison Salmon Producers GP Inc.
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

Beach seining on the Harrison River next to Sts'ailes.



2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2017  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT178 179

RIVER SELECT CO-OPERATIVE 
Statement of Financial Postion 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

495,658

3

364,594

364,597

495,658

3

186,022

186,025

296,600

131,061

329,163
66,317

1,741
98,437

131,061

-

296,600

110,575

121,266
175,334

-
-

60,575

50,000

Assets
Current
Cash
Trade and other receivables
Goods and Services Tax receivable
Inventory

Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables

Deferred revenue

Net Assets
Share capital

Surplus

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

RIVER SELECT CO-OPERATIVE 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

413,669

45,981
11,882

57,863

355,806

7,886
2,055
3,100

254
883

45,882
109,538

1,231
-

6,405

177,234

178,572

186,022

364,594

394,877

139,881
20,395

160,276

160,276

7,905
-
-

303
-

1,929
136,151
4,954

75
14,755

166,072

68,529

117,493

186,022

Revenue

Cost of Sales
Diret costs
Transportation and cartage

Gross Margin

Expenses

Annual surplus

Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year

Accumulated Surplus, end of year

Advertising and promotion
Equipment rental 
Insurance
Interest and bank charges 
Postage
Professional fees 
Sub-contracts 
Supplies
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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SASQUATCH CROSSING ECO LODGE LTD. 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

2,850,073

100

(955,515)

(955,415)

2,850,073

100

(897,163)

(897,063)

2,866,627

3,805,488

12,437

45,651

2,791,985

5,781

3,574,112

225,595

2,866,627

3,763,690

476

45,651

2,820,500

5,014

3,563,112

195,564

Assets
Current
Cash

Due from Harrison Salmon Produceers Limited Partnership 
 
Property, plant and equipment

Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables

Due to Sts'ailes

Due to Sts'ailes Development Limited Partnership

Shareholder's Deficit
Share capital

Deficit

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

SASQUATCH CROSSING ECO LODGE LTD. 
Statement of Loss and Deficit 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2017

2017 2016

48,101
8,206

56,307

44,273
5,421

49,694

Revenue
Bed and breakfast
Other

2,162
594

3,928
2,354
11,269
2,100
7,844
12,117

26,594
7,239
4,071

-
5,872

86,144

(29,837)

28,515

(58,352)

(897,163)

(955,515)

3,563
160

3,928
1,997

10,396
2,454
8,425

19,009
25,290

1,146
4,155

117
9,908

90,548

(40,854)

31,233

(72,087)

(825,076)

(897,163)

Expenses
Advertising and promotion
Business taxes and licences 
Insurance
Interest and bank charges 
Office
Professional fees 
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel
Utilities

Net loss

Loss before amortization

Amortization

Deficit, beginning of year

Deficit, end of year

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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STS'AILES ECO ENERGY DEVELOPMENT (BREMNER TRIO) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016

100
(16,554)

(16,454

(2)

(2)

5,000,000

(16,456)

5,016,456

5,000,000

5,000,000

16,456

Assets

Advances to Bremner Trio Hydro Corporation

Liabilities

Advances from Sts'alles

Advances from Sts'ailes Development Corporation

Partners' Capital

Chehalis Economic Development Trust
Balance, beginning of period
Share of loss

Balance, end of period

Sts'ailes Development Corporation
Share of loss

Balance, end of period

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS'AILES ECO ENERGY DEVELOPMENT (BREMNER TRIO) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Loss 

For the year ended DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016

16,556

(16,556)

Expenses
Professional fees

Net loss

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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STS'AILES ECO ENERGY DEVELOPMENT (SAKWI CREEK) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016

48,959

1,182,665

1,231,624

1,443,520

69,339

1,512,859

(2)
(26)

(28)

(17,796)
(263,411)

(281,207)

(281,235)

1,231,624

Assets
Current
Financing fees

Investment in Sakwi Creek Hydro Limited Partnership

Liabilities

Long-term debt

Advances from related parties

Partners' Capital

Sts'ailes Economic Development Corporation
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

Chehalis Economic Development Trust
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

2017

46,239

966,707

1,011,946

1,412,115

79,436

1,491,551

(28)
(20)

(48)

(281,207)
(198,350)

(479,557)

(479,605)

1,011,946

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS'AILES ECO ENERGY DEVELOPMENT (SAKWI CREEK) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Loss 

For the year ended DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016

(149,753)

113,684

(263,437)

Expenses

Revenue

Interest and bank charges

Net loss

Loss from Sakwi Creek Hydro LP

2017

(88,176)

110,194

(198,370)

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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Sts’ailes
4690 Salish Way, Agassiz, BC V0M1A1

t (604) 796.2116  w stsailes.com

This Annual Report is also available on our website: 
www.stsailes.com/annualreport

Sts'ailes & Sts'ailes Development Corporation Organizational Chart

SDC BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CEO

MEMBERS OF Sts’ailes

COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

SDC LANDSEA CAMPS JV

LHAWATHET LALEM LP

Business Development

Sasquatch Forest Products LP

FORESTRY OPERATIONS

SASQUATCH CROSSING ECO LODGE LTD

Camp Cove LP

Primary Health Care Centre LP

New Developments

STS’AILES LAND DEV. TRUST SLDT

Sakwi LP

Trio Bremner LP

New Developments

STS’AILES ECO ENERGY DEV. SEED

Fisheries Operations & Contracts
FISHERIES

CHEHALIS STORE & GAS BAR LP CAMPGROUND ENTERPRISES

Harrison Salmon Producers LP

River Select Fisheries Co-op

HARRISON FISHERIES AUTHORITY

CONTRACTED SERVICES PROJECTED PARTNERSHIPS

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

MA:YT

Administration & Human Resources

Information Technology

Social Development

Employment Assistance Services

FINANCE HOUSING, CAPITAL PROJECTS 
& PUBLIC WORKS

HEALTH & FAMILY SERVICES

Recreation

SNOWOYELH

Te Emi:melh

Telmexw Awtexw

Te Lalem

EDUCATION

Sts’ailes Community School

Early Education Centre

Post Secondary

RIGHTS & TITLE

LANDS & PLANNING

Land Code

Comprehensive Community Planning

ELDERS REP

COMMITTEES

YOUTH REP

EXECUTIVE
ASSISTANT

FINANCE &
OPERATIONS
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